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China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited) was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding company of all the cement and concrete

operations of China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way of
introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
On 3 November 2023, the Company changed its name from China Resources Cement Holdings Limited to China
Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited. As at the date of this report, the total number of issued
shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72%
of the issued shares of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

JI'Youhong (Chairman)
JING Shiging (Chief Executive Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHU Ping

YU Shutian
ZHOU Bo
YANG Changyi

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
NG Kam Wah Webster
YAN Bilan

COMPANY SECRETARY

CHUNG Ming Fai (appointed with effect from 26 April 2024)

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

JI'Youhong (Chairman)
JING Shiging

ZHU Ping

YU Shutian

ZHOU Bo

YANG Changyi

YAN Bilan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

JI' Youhong (Chairman)
ZHU Ping

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
NG Kam Wah Webster

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

SHEK Lai Him Abraham (Chairman)
YU Shutian

IP Shu Kwan Stephen

NG Kam Wah Webster

YAN Bilan

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

NG Kam Wah Webster (Chairman)

YANG Changyi

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
YAN Bilan

RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

IP Shu Kwan Stephen (Chairman)

ZHU Ping
ZHOU Bo
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
NG Kam Wah Webster

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with

the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

(Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road, Central Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Branch

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
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PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman

KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

ERANRTEEXME

BB BT BB 265
FEHAE3001-05%F

T4 ¢ (852) 3118 6800
EH : (852) 3118 6830
B : crcement@crc.com.hk

REBBEXZMERLT
Y AR 40X 3%

1313

ZANNSTE D

www.crcement.com

REEREERS
ERIEEEARAT

EREMNRERERAE

SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3001-05, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 3118 6800

Fax: (852) 3118 6830

E-mail: crcement@crc.com.hk

STOCK CODE ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

1313

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

www.crcement.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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BE
DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the

following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR" Autonomous Region, PRC
"associated has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
corporation” SFO

"

"associate(s) has the meaning ascribed thereto under the

Listing Rules
"Board” board of Directors
"CG Code” code provisions set out in Part 2 of Appendix

C1 of the Listing Rules

“China Resources  CR Holdings, CRI and their respective

Group” subsidiaries

“Chinese Mainland” PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao SAR

“Chongging” Chongging Municipality, China

“Company” China Resources Building Materials
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known

as China Resources Cement Holdings Limited)

“CR Digital Group” China Resources Digital Holdings Limited, its
associates, its joint ventures and associates

without controlling shareholding
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EHEMBRERERLAA
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

“CR Environmental

Protection Group”

“CR Holdings”

“CR Land Group”

"CR Mixc Lifestyle
Group”

"CR Power Group”

“CR|"

“Director(s)”

"ESG”

AING

“Fujian”

China Resources Environmental Protection

Technology Limited and its subsidiaries

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, the Company’s intermediate
holding company

China Resources Land Holdings Company
Limited, its subsidiaries and connected

companies

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services

Limited and its subsidiaries

China Resources Power Holdings Company

Limited and its subsidiaries

China Resources Inc., a company established
in PRC with limited liability, an intermediate
holding company of CR Holdings

director(s) of the Company

environmental, social and governance

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China
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“GDP"

“Greater Bay Area”

"Group”

"Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

“Guizhou”

“"Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Hubei”

"Hunan”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

gross domestic products
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China
Guangxi Zhuang AR

Guizhou Province, China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong SAR

Hubei Province, China

Hunan Province, China

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules
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hEARKME “PRC" or “China”
HEERIT IR "SAR”
FHLEE KA (8% "SFO"

BB 571 %)

HEIPRFE A “Shaanxi”
TS “Shandong”
FEILFES “Shanxi”
ARARAFEGREE  “Share(s)”

0.10& TR A% 19
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“Southern China”

EEMARIMBERA

2
PEERE “Yunnan”
REMIE “Zhejiang”
BT BEETER "HK$”

EHEMBRERERLAA
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

"Stock Exchange”

The People’s Republic of China
Special Administrative Region, PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shaanxi Province, China
Shandong Province, China
Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital
of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian

and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Yunnan Province, China
Zhejiang Province, China

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of

Hong Kong
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"RMB"

”US$"
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”kCal”

“kg”

ukmu

"kwh”
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DEFINITIONS

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China
United States Dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States of America

per cent

kilocalorie

kilogram

kilometer

kilowatt-hour

cubic meter

square meter
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China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited is
a large-scale and competitive cement, clinker and concrete
producer in Southern China. The Group's operations range from
the excavation of limestone to the production, sale and distribution
of cement, clinker and concrete. Products are mainly sold in
Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi and
Hunan through well-established waterway, railway and road
logistics networks. The Group's products are primarily used in the
construction of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways,
subways, bridges, airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power
stations and nuclear power stations, as well as the construction of

high-rise buildings and development of suburban and rural areas.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 101 cement grinding lines
and 49 clinker production lines in operation, with annual production
capacities of 90.2 million tons of cement and 63.3 million tons of
clinker respectively, as well as 63 concrete batching plants with
annual production capacity of 38.4 million m?® of concrete. The
locations of our production facilities and their respective production

capacities are as follows:

K Rt pz
Cement Clinker Concrete
&1/ B8&/ Province/AR/ HEREE BEWE HLEZKEE BEWE BHUHE BEUAK
BRTHRE SAR No. of lines  million tons  No. of lines  million tons No. of plants  million m?
E® Guangdong 32 27.7 12 15.5 20 12.8
i Guangxi 35 348 19 27.9 28 17.6
B Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 1 0.6
BE Hainan 5 44 3 2.9 5 2.7
g Yunnan 7 5.1 4 4.2 1 0.6
M Guizhou 4 4.0 2 2.8 1 0.8
L7 Shanxi 2 2.0 1 1.5 1 0.6
il Hunan 2 2.1 2 15 - -
pipan Zhejiang - - - - 1.1
N Hong Kong - - - - 4 1.6
mEt Total 101 90.2 49 63.3 63 384

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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EBHUE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In addition, through our equity interests of certain associates and
joint ventures, the Group owned a total of 74 cement grinding
lines, 30 clinker production lines and 20 concrete batching plants
with total annual production capacities of 64.7 million tons of
cement, 37.0 million tons of clinker and 8.5 million m? of concrete.
These production capacities are located in Guangdong, Hong
Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia. The respective annual
production capacities attributable to the Group according to our
equity interests of these associates and joint ventures were 22.3
million tons of cement, 12.0 million tons of clinker and 3.9 million

m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social
responsibility and actively promotes production safety, energy
saving, emission reduction and carbon emissions management. The
Group also launches projects of co-processing municipal solid
waste, urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste by use of
cement kilns. All cement production plants of the Group are
equipped with residual heat recovery generators to reduce energy
consumption. Our emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides,
particulate matters and sulphur dioxide are better than the national
standard limits of pollutant emissions. In addition, in order to
promote corporate transformation, innovation and sustainable
development, the Group actively strengthens the research,
development and application of new products, new materials and
new technologies, as well as seizes development opportunities of
new businesses to fully leverage the positive synergies between

different businesses.
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EHEMBRERERLAA
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

DATE

January 2023

February 2023

March 2023

June 2023

June 2023

EVENT

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry in Longma Mountain, Litang
Town, Binyang County, Nanning City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 76.0
million tons and planned annual production

capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for cement in Yajiang Mining
Concession, Suxian District, Chenzhou City,
Hunan, with resource reserve of approximately

36.3 million tons.

The Group officially completed construction and
commenced operation of the aggregates and
concrete project with annual production capacity
of approximately 1.0 million m? of concrete and
planned annual production capacity of
approximately 2.0 million tons of aggregates in
Xixiu District, Anshun City, Guizhou.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for cement in Maoping Mining
Concession, Dongshi Town, Pingyuan County,
Meizhou City, Guangdong, with resource reserve
of approximately 37.0 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 2.5
million tons for limestone for cement, as well as
resource reserve of approximately 12.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of

approximately 1.3 million tons for aggregates.

The Group had commenced operation of the
aggregates project with planned annual
production capacity of approximately 30.0 million
tons of aggregates and manufactured sand in
Dapai Mining Concession, Fengkai County,
Zhaoging City, Guangdong.
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August 2023

September 2023

November 2023

commenced operation of the aggregates project
of granite for construction with resource reserve
of approximately 66.3 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 3.0
million tons of aggregates and manufactured

sand in Jiudingling, Ding’an County, Hainan.

The Group completed the technological upgrade
project of the new dry-process cement and
clinker production lines in Liangtian Town,
Chenzhou City, Hunan. Following the upgrade,
the annual production capacity of clinker
remained unchanged at approximately 1.6 million
tons, while the annual production capacity of
cement increased to approximately 2.1 million

tons.

China Resources Intelligent Building Technology
(Jiangmen) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, completed construction and
commenced operation. The project primarily
constructed a factory with design annual
production capacity of approximately 50,000 m?
of prefabricated construction component and a
cement silo terminal with planned annual capacity

of approximately 0.6 million tons.

The Group completed construction and
commenced operation of the aggregates project
in Longma Mountain, Litang Town, Binyang

County, Nanning City, Guangxi.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

—F=-= —=E- = T
2023 2022 2021
(&£ 5E5)) (FE7))
(Restated) (Restated)
ExE(ARERET) Turnover (RMB million) 25,549.6 29,332.4 36,929.2
AREFE - BIE - E EBITDA (RMB million)
Ko 85 AT 22 A
(AR¥BEET) 4,082.0 4,418.8 10,259.5
FEAN(AREBEETT)  Profit for the year (RMB million) 618.5 1,551.8 6,407.2
PAN/NSIE ¥ DN X =i Profit attributable to owners of the
(AREBEE&ET) Company (RMB million) 643.8 1,612.6 6,442.6
BREXRBN(ARETT) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 0.092 0.231 0.923
R-ZZBZ= =T RZFZ—F
t=A=+—-8 +t-A=+—HB t-—HA=+—H
As at As at As at
31/12/2023 31/12/2022 31/12/2021
(7 =&=7) (#&&E751)
(Restated) (Restated)
EEHAEBE(ARBBEEIT)  Total assets (RMB million) 72,792.2 71,855.9 64,616.0
RARER AEIEHER Equity attributable to owners of
(AREB&ET the Company (RMB million) 44,108.5 43,824.8 44,753.9
R ER Non-controlling interests
(AREBET (RMB million) 1,638.7 1,435.3 642.1
BEE(GET) Gearing ratio (note 1) 36.9% 33.5% 19.0%
BEREEFE —KH Net assets per share — book
(NR¥TT) (512) (RMB) (note 2) 6.32 6.28 6.41
it - notes:
1. EEEDARITERRR A @HS T OEREERIA 1. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings and loans from

RRAEE ANEERETE - related parties by equity attributable to owners of the Company.

2. FREEFE —RADARNRBEER ARGEER 2
BAFERENDETRNDEBE -

Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to

owners of the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.

EHEMBRERERLAA
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB25,549.6 million, representing a decrease of
12.9% over that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB643.8 million, representing a decrease of 60.1%
over that of last year. Basic earnings per share for the year was
RMB0.092.

DIVIDENDS

On Friday, 18 August 2023, the Board declared an interim dividend
of HK$0.041 per Share in cash for 2023 (2022: HK$0.12 per Share)
which was paid on Friday, 27 October 2023. On Friday, 15 March
2024, the Board resolved to recommend the payment of final
dividend of HK$0.006 per Share in cash for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$0.009 per Share). Subject to approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Wednesday, 17 July 2024 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 7 June 2024. The total distribution for the year ended 31
December 2023 will be HK$0.047 per Share (2022: HK$0.129 per
Share).

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
HK$ by default. Shareholders may also elect to receive the final
dividend in RMB. Procedures for electing to receive the final
dividend in RMB are set out in the dividend section of the Report of
the Directors.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2023, the Chinese government has adhered to the general
principle of seeking progress while maintaining stability, fully, and
accurately and thoroughly applied the new development
philosophy on all fronts, accelerated the construction of a new
development paradigm, comprehensively deepened reform and
opening up, intensified macroeconomic control, and strived to
expand domestic demand, optimize structure, boost confidence,
and prevent and resolve risks, steadily improved supply and
demand, actively promoted transformation and upgrade, solidly
advanced high-quality development, and successfully achieved the
main expected goals. In 2023, the GDP of China grew by 5.2% year-
on-year to RMB126.1 trillion, and national FAI (excluding rural
households) increased by 3.0% year-on-year to RMB50.3 trillion.
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According to the statistics published by the respective provincial
bureaux of statistics, in 2023, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi,
Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi, Hunan, Hubei, Shandong,
Chongging and Shaanxi, where the Group has business operations,
reached RMB13.6 trillion, RMB2.7 trillion, RMB5.4 trillion, RMB755.1
billion, RMB3.0 trillion, RMB2.1 trillion, RMB2.6 trillion, RMB5.0
trillion, RMB5.6 trillion, RMB9.2 trillion, RMB3.0 trillion and RMB3.4
trillion respectively, representing year-on-year increases of
approximately 4.8%, 4.1%, 4.5%, 9.2%, 4.4%, 4.9%, 5.0%, 4.6%,
6.0%, 6.0%, 6.1% and 4.3% respectively. In 2023, the year-on-year
changes in FAIl of the aforementioned provinces were
approximately 2.5%, -15.5%, 2.5%, 1.1%, -10.6%, -5.7%, -6.6%,
-3.1%, 5.0%, 5.2%, 4.3% and 0.2% respectively.

In terms of stabilizing investment, fiscal policy played a crucial role.
In 2023, approximately RMB4.7 trillion of new bonds were issued
nationwide, among which, approximately RMB4.0 trillion were new
special bonds. The effectiveness of the special bond policy has
been further leveraged, expanding the scopes of investments of
special bonds, giving priority to support more mature projects
under construction, and assisting the construction of a batch of
major projects with immediate and long-term benefits such as
transportation, water saving and energy. According to the statistics
published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2023, the
national infrastructure investments (excluding the industries for
production and supply of electricity, heat, gas and water) increased
by 5.9% year-on-year. According to the statistics published by the
Ministry of Transport of China and the National Railway
Administration of China, in the first eleven months of 2023, FAI on
highways and waterways in China amounted to approximately
RMB2.8 trillion, representing an increase of 2.4% year-on-year. In
2023, FAI on railways in China amounted to approximately
RMB764.5 billion, representing an increase of 7.5% year-on-year.
New lines of 3,637 km commenced operation, among which, 2,776
km were high-speed railways, and the annual missions for railway

construction had been successfully completed.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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In 2023, it was still a year of profound adjustment for China’s real
estate market. In July 2023, the Central Committee’s Political
Bureau meeting set the tone that “the supply and demand
relationship in the industry had undergone material changes”,
which opened space for subsequent policy loosening. Since then,
various ministries of the Chinese government had specified the
directions for optimizing real estate policies, various local easing
policies had been intensively introduced, and the real estate
industry welcomed the policy support. In December 2023, the
Central Economic Work Conference focused on financing support
to real estate companies, emphasized that the reasonable financing
needs of real estate companies with different ownership systems
should be met equally, and the “three major projects” for
construction of public housing, construction of public infrastructure
for “dual use in normal and emergency situations” and
transformation of urban villages should be accelerated. The
construction of the new model of real estate development should
be accelerated, among which, the “three major projects” will help
stabilize real estate investment, boost domestic demand, and
promote the medium and long-term stable and healthy
development of real estate. According to the statistics published
by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2023, the floor
space of commodity housing sold in China decreased by 8.5% year-
on-year to 1,120 million m? and the sales amount decreased by
6.5% year-on-year to RMB11.7 trillion. Real estate development
investment in China decreased by 9.6% year-on-year to RMB11.1
trillion. Among which, the floor space of houses newly started
construction decreased by 20.4% year-on-year to 950 million m?
while the floor space of houses completed increased by 17.0% to
1,000 million m2. As of the end of 2023, the floor space under
construction by the real estate developers nationwide decreased

by 7.2% year-on-year to 8,380 million m2.
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The Chinese government actively and steadily promoted urban
village renewal and expedited the high-quality development of
urbanization. According to the statistics published by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China, in 2023, 53,700
old communities nationwide newly started renovations, and
benefited 8.97 million households of residents, which exceeded
annual targets with a total completed investment of nearly RMB240
billion. In July 2023, the executive meeting of the State Council of
China considered and approved the “Guiding Opinions on Actively
and Steadily Promoting the Transformation of Urban Villages in
Super-Cities and Mega-Cities”, which proposed to actively and
steadily promote the transformation of urban villages in super-cities
and mega-cities, with a development and operational model
adhering to a market-oriented main theme that simultaneously
promotes multiple business formats. It will build supporting public
infrastructure and protect historical and cultural heritages, and
scientifically prepare renovation planning plans to combine urban
village renovation with affordable housing construction. As of the
end of 2023, China’s urbanization rate of permanent residence was
66.16%, representing an increase of 0.94 percentage points over
the end of 2022.

THE INDUSTRY

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, in 2023, the total cement production in China
amounted to approximately 2,020.0 million tons, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 0.7%. During the year, cement production
in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi
and Hunan were approximately 143.0 million tons, 100.0 million
tons, 80.4 million tons, 15.5 million tons, 96.1 million tons, 58.8
million tons, 46.6 million tons and 82.9 million tons respectively,
representing year-on-year changes of approximately -5.8%, -2.3%,
-4.0%, -4.9%, -0.6%, -6.1%, -4.5% and 1.3% respectively.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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During the year, according to the statistics of the China Cement
Association, there were 17 new clinker production lines nationwide
with new annual clinker production capacity of approximately 24.9
million tons. Among which, in our major operating regions, there
was 1 new clinker production line in Guangdong with new annual
clinker production capacity of approximately 1.6 million tons, 2 new
clinker production lines in Guangxi with new annual clinker
production capacity of approximately 3.3 million tons, 2 new clinker
production lines in Guizhou with new annual clinker production
capacity of approximately 2.5 million tons and 2 new clinker
production lines in Hunan with new annual clinker capacity of

approximately 2.8 million tons.

Regarding policies for the industry, the Chinese government had
issued a series of policies and measures to accelerate the
promotion of green, low-carbon transformation and high-quality
development of the industry, improve efficiency for energy and
resources utilization, improve and strictly enforce capacity
replacement policies, promote regular off-peak production and
advance rationalization of industrial structure to lay the foundation
for achieving the goals of “carbon peaking” and “carbon
neutrality”. In addition, the Chinese government attaches great
importance to production safety and occupational health, and
advances the high-quality and sustainable development of the

building materials industry.

Regarding energy saving and emissions reduction, the Chinese
government actively implemented energy-saving and low-carbon
actions, and promoted the ultra-low emissions transformation of
the cement industry for facilitating the green, low-carbon and high-
quality development of the industry. In January 2024, the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of China, together with the National
Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology, the Ministry of Finance, and the Ministry
of Transport, jointly issued the “Opinions on Promoting the
Implementation of Ultra-low Emissions in the Cement Industry”. It
is targeted by the end of 2025, key regions to strive to complete
transformation of approximately 50% of cement and clinker
production capacity and large state-owned enterprise groups in the
regions to have basically completed organized and unorganized
ultra-low emission transformation. By the end of 2028, cement and
clinker production enterprises in key regions are expected to have
basically completed the transformation, and to strive for
approximately 80% of cement and clinker production capacity in

China to complete ultra-low emission transformation.
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In terms of green development, China adhered to the concept that
“green waters and green mountains are gold mountains and silver
mountains”, unswervingly followed the path of eco-centric and
green development, and promoted the comprehensive green
transformation of economic and social development. In January
2023, the State Council Information Office of China released the
white paper of “China’s Green Development in the New Era”,
which proposed to improve the policies and standard systems for
green and low-carbon development, strengthen the support for
green and low-carbon enterprises, green products and green
technologies, and further improve the resources pricing mechanism
for the costs of environmental pollution in order to enable saving
and efficient utilization of resources. In August 2023, ten
departments including the National Development and Reform
Commission jointly issued the “Implementation Plan for
Demonstration Projects in Advanced Green and Low-Carbon
Technology”, which requires the implementation of demonstration
projects in advanced green and low-carbon technology to deploy a
batch of projects with advanced technology, outstanding effects in
emission reduction, synergies in pollution and carbon reduction
and clear demonstrative effects to accelerate the capture of global
green and low-carbon technology and industry plateau, and
provide strong support for achieving the goal of carbon neutrality
and carbon peaking, and provide green momentum for high-quality
economic and social development. The plan emphasized the need
to fully leverage “research, development, production and
demonstration application of new low-carbon and zero-carbon
building materials such as new cementitious materials, low-carbon

concrete and advanced bio-based building materials”.
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In terms of energy consumption, in April 2023, eleven departments
including the Standardization Administration of China issued the
"Guidelines for the Construction of Standard Systems for Carbon
Peaking and Carbon Neutrality”, which aimed to promote and
achieve the coordination between energy consumption quota
indicators and carbon emission intensity indicators, improve the
construction of dual-carbon standard systems, specify the key
directions of work and provide important support for further
achieving efficient resource utilization, in-depth industrial
restructuring, and green transformation of production and lifestyle.
In July 2023, departments including the National Development and
Reform Commission of China issued the "Benchmark Levels and
Baseline Levels for Energy Efficiency in Key Industrial Fields (2023
Edition)”, which required the integration of product energy
consumption, scale and volume, technological status and
transformation potential of key industrial sectors, further expand
the scope of energy efficiency constraints, and combine energy
consumption quota standards of various industries to scientifically
define the energy efficiency baseline levels for each industry. At the
same time, it proposed to lead the enterprises with existing
projects with energy efficiency levels between benchmark levels
and baseline levels to make all necessary improvements and
upgrades. All regions are required to lead enterprises to transform
and upgrade for beating the baseline levels of energy efficiency
within requisite time limits and to phase out projects that are
unable to achieve these targets on schedule. For 25 key areas
including cement, it is specified that in principle the transformation
work should be completed before the end of 2025. The issuance of
this document will further unleash the leading and restrictive
functions of energy efficiency indicators and provide important
support for achieving the carbon peaking target by 2030 as
scheduled.
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In terms of the work for “dual carbon” targets, the Chinese
government has steadily and orderly promoted the construction of
trading in the national carbon emissions market and gradually
expanded the industry coverage of the national carbon market. In
August 2023, eight departments including the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of China and the National
Development and Reform Commission of China jointly issued the
“Work Plan for Stable Growth of the Building Materials Industry”.
The notice highlighted that it is necessary to promote the
implementation of corporate green energy review and reduction
policies, study and promote the inclusion of the cement industry
into the national carbon emissions trading market. In October 2023,
the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of China issued the
“Notice on Reporting and Verification Greenhouse Gas Emissions
of Enterprises in Certain Key Industries from 2023 to 2025", which
clarified the scope and specific requirements for greenhouse gas
emission reporting and verification of enterprises in key industries
such as building materials, steel and non-ferrous metals from 2023
to 2025, and is aimed at standardizing the management of
greenhouse gas emission data for enterprises in key industries, and
will have a positive impact on the development of the national
carbon market and play a vital role and is of great significant to

achieving the goals of “carbon peaking” and “carbon neutrality”.

In terms of industrial structure, in July 2023, the National
Development and Reform Commission of China initiated public
consultation for the “Guidance Catalogue for Industrial Structure
Adjustment (2023 Edition, Draft for Comments)”, which pointed out
that, among others, industries are the key to economic
development and promotion of industrial structure adjustment is an
important measure for building a modern industrial system,
enhancing industrial core competitiveness and enhancing the
industries to progress towards the medium to high-end of the
global value chain. The “Guidance Catalogue for Industrial
Structural Adjustment (2024 Edition)” has been promulgated in
December 2023, and has been in force since 1 February 2024.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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In terms of production safety, the Chinese government attaches
great importance to production safety. In April 2023, the Work
Safety Committee of State Council of China issued the "2023
Overall Action Plan for Special Investigation and Rectification of
Latent Hazards of Nationwide Major Incidents”, which deployed all
regions, relevant departments and units to deeply learn from the
lessons of incidents, comprehensively investigate and rectify latent
hazards of major incidents, and resolutely prevent and control
major and extremely serious incidents. In September 2023, the
General Office of the Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the General Office of the State Council issued the
"Opinions on Further Strengthening Mine Safety Production
Work"”, which focused on seven aspects such as strict mine safety
access, promotion of mine transformation and upgrade, prevention
and resolution of major safety risks, and strengthening corporate
main responsibilities in order to promote the transformation of the

mine safety management model to pre-emptive prevention.

In terms of aggregates, in April 2023, the Ministry of Natural
Resources of China issued the “Notice to Standardize and Improve
the Management of Sand and Gravel Mining”, which required the
maintenance of sound order in mining and the promotion of green
development of mineral resources. At the same time, it also
proposed the scientific planning for development and layout, the
rational and orderly allocation of mining rights, and the proactive
implementation of requirements such as the transfer of “pure

mines”.

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

In response to the Group's “Fourteenth Five-Year” strategic
development plan, during 2021, the Group reorganized the
business into four business segments: basic building materials,
structural building materials, functional building materials and new
materials. The basic building materials business mainly includes
cement and aggregates. The structural building materials business
mainly includes concrete and prefabricated construction. The
functional building materials business mainly includes engineered
stone, tile adhesive and white cement. The new materials business
currently focuses on exploring development opportunities in

inorganic non-metals.
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In terms of basic building materials, the Group further consolidated
its competitiveness in the South China market. In January 2023, the
Group successfully won the bid for the mining rights of a limestone
quarry in Longma Mountain, Litang Town, Binyang, Nanning,
Guangxi, which had further expanded aggregates resources. In
June 2023, the Group successfully won the bid for the mining rights
of a limestone quarry for cement in Maoping Mining Concession,
Dongshi Town, Pingyuan County, Meizhou, Guangdong, which had
further expanded limestone resources for cement and aggregates
resources for construction. In August 2023, the Group's new dry-
process cement and clinker production line located in Liangtian
Town, Chenzhou, Hunan, successfully commenced production after
completing upgrade and transformation in terms of technology,
energy consumption, and environmental protection. In addition,
during the year, the integrated aggregates and concrete project in
Anshun of Guizhou, the aggregates project in Ding'an of Hainan,
the Runxin aggregates project in Zhaoging of Guangdong and the
aggregates project in Binyang County, Nanning, Guangxi,
commenced production, with gradual increase in the scale of

aggregates production capacity.

In terms of structural building materials, the Group promoted the
prefabricated construction business in an orderly manner taking
into consideration of Chinese government policies and market
conditions. As of the end of December 2023, the Group had a total
of 6 projects of precast concrete components. Upon completion of
construction of all projects, the design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components is expected to reach

approximately 1.4 million m2.

In terms of functional building materials, the Group optimized the
layout of its existing engineered stone business and promoted
high-quality and sustainable development of its business by
continuously improving its engineered stone technology and
product quality. At the same time, DongGuan Universal Classical
Material Ltd. expanded its production line for inorganic engineered
stone in Dongguan, Guangdong, and Laibin Universal Classical
Material Ltd. built an intelligent production line project for
inorganic engineered stone in Laibin, Guangxi, which further

increased production capacity.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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The Group plans for its development from the lofty perspective of
harmonious coexistence between human and nature, takes
ecology, environmental protection, safety and intensive utilization
of resources as the main theme of work, continues to improve the
construction of environmental management system, deepens
energy saving and emission reduction, practices the construction of
ecological civilization, and strictly abides by the red line of
ecological protection. We actively respond to climate change, lead
the green and low-carbon development of the industry, and
comprehensively enhance ecological vitality for building a beautiful
China.

During the year, the Group continued to increase investment in
research and development, and actively promoted research and
development of new technologies and new products. The Group
continued to promote the upgrade and improvement of grate
coolers in cement and clinker production lines and the optimization
of highly-effective pre-decomposition systems, comprehensively
promoted the application of grinding aids for raw materials,
expedited production plants to launch tests on solid waste and
implement alternative fuel projects, and actively promoted
photovoltaic power generation projects, thereby enhancing
production efficiency, energy saving and carbon reduction. At the
same time, the Group actively promoted the application of fully
electric mining trucks, unmanned driving and digitalization in mines

to advance the construction of green mines.

In 2023, the Group's unfailing efforts in technological innovation
and corporate social responsibility work were recognized by the

industry and the society. These include:

o In April, the “Project for Platformization and Integration in the
Scenario of Whole-Process Intelligent Manufacturing”, the
“Project for New Model in Intelligent Operation and
Maintenance of Manufacturing Equipment for Production and
Operation” and the "Project for Financial Shared Services to
Help Digital Transformation of Enterprises in the Cement
Industry” submitted by the Group were honoured with the
first prize, the second prize and the third prize respectively in
the first “State-owned Enterprise Digital Scenario Innovation

Professional Competition” held by the Chinese government.
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. In May, the “Xi'an International Convention and Exhibition

Center Project” submitted by Shenzhen Runfeng New
Materials Technology Company Limited was honoured with
the Gold Award of High-Quality Stone Decoration
Engineering of the Sixth “Huabiao Cup” by the China Stone
Association, which is the first engineered stone enterprise to

have won the “Huabiao Cup” award.

. In June, the Group was successfully selected into the list of
“China Listed Companies ESG Pioneer 100" with a rank of 13
and ESG performance at a five-star level.

. In December, the World Economic Forum (WEF) announced
the new batch of members of the Global Lighthouse Network,
and China Resources Cement (Tianyang) Limited was selected
as an “Advanced Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR)
Lighthouse” becoming the first “Lighthouse Factory” in the
global building materials industry and the first “Lighthouse

"

Factory” among central enterprises in the Greater Bay Area.
The

recognized as the “most advanced factories in the world”,

“Lighthouse Factory” awarded enterprises are
representing the highest level of intelligent manufacturing

and digitization in the global manufacturing industry.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

The Chinese government has proposed that the economic work in
2024 should continue to proceed with the principle of seeking
progress while maintaining stability, promoting stability through
progress, and establishing the new before abolishing the old. It will
be proactive in changing methods, adjusting structure, improving
quality, and increasing efficiency to continue to consolidate the

foundation for stability and improvement.

In terms of infrastructure construction, the Chinese government
continued the issuance of large-scale special bonds and issued an
additional RMB1 trillion special government bonds in the fourth
quarter of 2023 to further provide financial support for infrastructure
construction. The special government bonds are all arranged for
local use through transfer payments and gives priority to projects
with urgent construction needs and clear investment results. This
may effectively alleviate the debt pressure of local governments,
create more physical workload, and assist investment in

infrastructure projects.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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In terms of real estate, the Chinese government adapts to the new
trend of major changes to the supply and demand relationship in
the real estate market. It proposed to adhere to city-specific
policies, one city to one policy, and implement precise policies to
meet needs for basic housing and housing to improve living
conditions, optimize real estate policies, continue to perform well
in ensuring the delivery of buildings, people’s livelihood and
stability, and properly handle risks of real estate companies to build
a new model of real estate development and implement the
construction of the “three major projects”. At the same time, the
government will actively promote actions for urban renewal, such
as strengthening the construction of accessible environments and
aging-friendly renovations, vigorously promoting the transformation
of urban underground pipe networks, and implementing projects
to improve urban drainage and flood prevention capabilities. Since
August 2023, under the tone of “major changes of the relationship
between supply and demand”, a series of major easing policies
have been implemented from the central to local governments,
ranging from the supply side to the demand side. With the strong
and orderly advancement of the construction of affordable housing,
public infrastructure construction for “dual use in normal and
emergency situations”, and urban village renovation projects, real
estate-related investments and consumptions will be driven and the

healthy development of the real estate market will be promoted.

The Chinese government continued to promote comprehensive
rural revitalization and the construction of beautiful villages that are
livable, work-friendly, and beautiful. The government will promote
the construction of counties, towns and villages, carry out actions to
make up for shortcomings in facility constructions, promote the
construction of small towns, continue to implement actions for rural
construction, and ensure the renovation of dilapidated rural
buildings and the earthquake-resistant renovation of rural houses.
With the goal of “rural areas basically equipped with modern living
conditions”, the government will promote the improvement of
facilities such as rural water, electricity, roads, gas, housing and
communications, and gradually improve the completeness of rural
infrastructure, convenience of public services, and comfortableness
of living environment, which will effectively support the demand of

building materials such as cement.
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In terms of coordinated regional development strategy, 2024 is the
year that marks the fifth anniversary of the release of the “Outline
Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area”. The construction of the Greater Bay Area, with its new
positioning of “one point, two places”, has ushered in new
opportunities. The Chinese government continued to promote the
"hard connectivity” of infrastructure in the Greater Bay Area and
build a “Greater Bay Area on Track”. The Hong Kong government
plans the issuance of bonds in the next five years in order to
leverage market capital to promote the northern metropolitan area
"The
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Inter-city Railway

Link Development Plan”, it is targeted by 2025 that the length of

and other infrastructure projects. According to the

railways networks in operation and under construction in the
Greater Bay Area will reach 4,700 km and by 2035 that the length of
railways networks in operation and under construction in the
Greater Bay Area will reach 5,700 km with complete coverage on
cities above the county level. The gradual advancement of regional
development and construction such as the Greater Bay Area will
support the regional demand for the building materials industry in

the medium to long term.

2023 is the twentieth anniversary of the Company, and also the first
year that “China Resources Cement” officially changed its name to
"China Resources Building Materials Technology”. Combining the
major changes in the internal and external environment, the Group
has revised and formed the new “Fourteenth Five-Year Plan”
development strategy, with a business portfolio that focuses on the

+1" businesses of cement, aggregates, concrete, engineered

stone and new materials.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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In 2024, the Group will accelerate the layout of strategic emerging
industries, promote green development and launch innovative and
entrepreneurial spirit in order to inject lasting impetus into the
high-quality development of the enterprise. The Group will focus
on the annual management theme of “strengthening the
foundations and grasping upgrades, technological innovation
promotes transformation”, accelerate the pace of upgrading
traditional industries and strengthening foundations to improve
core competitiveness. The Group will increase investment in
research and development, enable the green and intelligent
industrial upgrade of traditional industries through technological
innovation. The Group will unswervingly promote high-quality
development, provide the public with high-quality products,
services and systematic solutions, lead digital and intelligent
transformation, achieve a long-term foundation, and build a world-

class building materials technology enterprise.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Directors, the
management team and all employees for their contributions and
hard work, which had contributed to the high-quality development
of the Group's business. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to
express our gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers,
business partners and other stakeholders for their persistent trust
and unfailing support to the Group.

JI Youhong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2024
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PRINCIPLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are the main and basic building materials for
infrastructure projects, property construction and rural
development. Cement consumption is highly correlated to
economic development and FAIl. As cement and concrete are
relatively heavyweight building materials, the key to success of a
producer’s business is highly dependent on its core competitive
advantage within the regional market. The performance of the
Group's business operation is therefore subject to certain major
factors such as the business environment of the regions where the
Group has business operation, which significantly affects the selling
prices of the cement and concrete products. Besides, coal cost
represents one of the significant causes for volatility in the cost of
cement production. Accordingly, the substantial fluctuation of coal
price poses one of the principal potential risks and uncertainties
affecting the performance of the Group and the cement industry at
large. As the Chinese government continuously poses stricter
requirements for energy saving, carbon emissions reduction, dual
control of energy consumption, production safety and occupational
health, the Group’s competitiveness in these aspects is the key to

its sustainable development.

DISPOSAL

In December 2023, China Resources Cement (Fuzhou) Holdings
Limited, an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
disposed of its 100% equity interests of and its shareholders’ loans
to China Resources Cement (Fuzhou) Limited through public
tender. Upon online bidding by three intended parties, the sale

was finally completed for a total consideration of RMB239.0 million.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



L ERE
SEEMBL

AR KEFE ZTZ=F-A #H@ER
M 7K E A BR A B A T 555 15 740 5 A N 71 AR AL 2
VIR ACRAARERILMRERE - 3718
BIRAEATR3630BME - R ANE B H#H#H
MR AKRA R AR A A E G A A sis
ERNATER  AREARFERETEL 160
B KEFERRAZL 2108 -

RREITH AEEREHEIERRLEBH
U REBIERRLTIBHIL WREREIER
REBHUE - VERERTIBHUNERRR B
RIBEFEEBREFRILNSELT K

EF A

—EZF AEEMKE AR RRR T
SEZAMNBEDRNAET71.8% 81.0% &
259% M—E=Z=F D75 %581.6% - 90.5%
$29.3% °

RAERE

EEERE

TEC=F AEBEELEIZREEESE 5
SRR |IMNEEEE  UTE i%ﬁﬂ%%ﬂ% :
BEIRNBEZEERR| VISENEEEE
BROAREEBH s EEES TR EFEK
FTHERE  ANBEREHER  NREH
HEER ResfmBhae xR §EHR

—c EERMLEBES  HBREEER -

EEBFWR D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRODUCT CAPACITY
Changes to Production Plants

In terms of clinker and cement, in February 2023, Hunan Liangtian
Cement Co., Ltd. won the bid for the mining rights of a limestone
quarry for cement in Yajiang Mining Concession, Suxian District,
Chenzhou City, Hunan, which added 34.3 million tons of limestone
resources. During the year, the Group promoted technological
upgrade of the production lines of Hunan Liangtian Cement Co.,
Ltd., which had been completed in September. Following the
upgrade, the annual production capacity of clinker remained
unchanged at approximately 1.6 million tons, while the annual
production capacity of cement increased to approximately 2.1

million tons.

In terms of concrete, during the year, the Group acquired 1
concrete batching plant, disposed of 1 concrete batching plant,
built and commenced operation of 1 new concrete batching plant
and adjusted the production capacity of 1 concrete batching plant.
The total annual production capacities of concrete decreased by

approximately 50,000 m® as compared with last year.

Capacity Utilization

The utilization rates of the Group's cement, clinker and concrete
production lines in 2023 were 71.8%, 81.0% and 25.9% as compared
with 81.6%, 90.5% and 29.3% respectively for 2022.

COST MANAGEMENT
Operational Management

In 2023, focusing on the management theme of “systematic
reshaping and high-quality development” and with the “four
reinventions” as the starting point, the Group built a “large-scale
operational management system”, preliminarily established a cost
control mechanism along the whole value chain, strengthened
production and operation management, and continued to improve
energy consumption levels. The Group vigorously developed the
aggregates business, accelerated the construction of aggregates
projects, and increased its market share of aggregates. The Group
benchmarked against world-class standards, comprehensively
reinforced operational excellence, and promoted high-quality

development.
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Driven by the urgent need for energy saving and carbon reduction,
the Group promoted the implementation of operation
management and control of basic building materials, steadily
implemented the “Four-Year Action Plan for Energy Saving and
Carbon Reduction”, and continued to promote the use of
alternative fuels and technological upgrade for restructuring heat
exchange technique through series-parallel coupling of the “Five
to Six" preheater and the “Fifth-level plus” preheater. The standard
coal consumption dropped by 4.34 kg per ton of clinker product.
14 production lines with total production capacities of 20.67 million
tons, accounting for 33% of production capacity of the Group,
reached the first-level energy consumption benchmark level
stipulated by the GB16780 standards, and had achieved two years
ahead of the 2025 goal of the five national ministries and
commissions that 30% of the clinker production capacity shall reach

the first-level energy consumption level.

During the year, the prototype of the large-scale operational
management system was initially established, the construction of
operational management system standards for the “4+1" business
(cement, aggregates, concrete, prefabricated construction and
engineered stone) was coordinated and improved, and a system for
production and operational indicators was constructed, which
included the five major systems of policy standards, indicator
management, benchmarking management, lean management and
management evaluation. A meeting for benchmarking
management analysis of cost control along the whole value chain
was organized and held, which initially established a cost control
mechanism along the whole value chain from warehousing of raw
materials and fuel materials to delivery of products, clarified the
responsibilities of each level in cost control along the whole value
chain, and consolidated the responsibility of cost management in

order to restore the advantage of the lowest total costs.

In terms of treatment and management of mine safety, the Group
dampened the disturbance to slopes through controlled blasting.
Mine slopes were treated and managed through measures such as
cleaning pumice stones, setting up passive safety nets, hanging
nets for support and slope monitoring, which had strengthened the
rock mass stability of slopes and improved the safety coefficient of
mine slopes. At the same time, the Group advanced the
construction of digital smart mines, actively promoted the
application of all-electric mining trucks, unmanned driving, smart
drilling and digitalization in mines, and continuously improved the
level of intelligent automation to facilitate the construction of green

mines.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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In terms of project management, the Group strengthened the
technical control on construction process, reinforced process
management and delicacy management for projects, held and
organized panel assessment meetings such as project general
plans, preliminary designs and special designs to fully discuss on
optimization plans, reduce project investment costs and provide
technical support for accelerating the construction of production
lines. In addition, the Group organized and launched research on
external aggregates enterprises, learned from the successful
experiences such as process plans and host configurations and
used them for reference, and revised the “Technical Plan for
Production Lines of Manufactured Sand and Gravel Aggregates” to
guide each production plant to more accurately and efficiently
prepare feasibility study reports of aggregates projects. In addition,
the Group fully leverages the headquarters on its overall
management function for project construction and holds regular
project progress meetings to sort out the outstanding problems in
the preparation stage and construction stage of each project,

discuss and implement solutions for accelerating project execution.

In terms of aggregates business management, the Group has
launched special research to resolve the weaknesses in aggregates
projects such as acquisition of mining resources, application for
permits and licences, project construction, business operations and
product sales, and effectively improved the three strengths in
construction, operation and sales of aggregates projects to make
them become the “ballast stone” of profit contribution to the
Group. At the same time, the Group used the experience of
outstanding external aggregates enterprises in indicators
management for reference to establish a database of aggregates
operational indicators including indicators for energy consumption,
production, quality and consumption to consolidate the production
and operation management of each production plant. In addition,
the Group compiled the “Evaluation Rules for Excellent Operation
and Management of the Aggregates Business” and conducted
evaluation on production plants that had officially commenced
operation for over six months. Through these evaluation activities,
the production plants are guided to continue benchmarking,
identify weaknesses, and implement improvement measures in
order to continuously improve the operation and management

level of the Group.
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Procurement Management

In 2023, insufficient domestic demand for coal, coupled with the
impact of coal imports, had led to an overall shocking downward
trend in coal market prices. During the year, the Group purchased
a total of approximately 6.6 million tons of coal (approximately 8.6
million tons in 2022), among which, approximately 82%, 10% and
8% were sourced from northern China, neighbouring areas of our
production plants and overseas respectively (84%, 16% and 0% in
2022). The proportion of direct procurement from coal producers
was approximately 88% (76% in 2022).

In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen the
cooperation with large-scale domestic coal suppliers, maintain a
relatively high fulfillment rate of long-term contracts, and establish
strategic channels for direct procurement of Australian coal. We
plan to conduct annual price inquiries and tenders with Australian
mining companies again in 2024 to increase the proportion of
imported coal procurement. At the same time, the Group will
continue to expand procurement channels with other large-scale
coal enterprises with advantageous prices and self-produced
resources and regularize the launch of monthly and annual open
price inquiries for market coal. The Group will combine production
needs with market research and judgment, and implement strategic
inventory control based on the principle of scientific inventory
control when opportunities arise, in order to reduce comprehensive

procurement costs.

In terms of mixed materials, the Group intensified market research,
expanded the scope of sourcing, continued to explore
procurement channels and strengthened the promotion and
application of caloric materials and industrial waste residues to

promote reduction of both energy consumption and costs.

Aggregates are the main raw materials for concrete production. By
implementing the business models for centralized procurement by
the structural building materials business division and regional
centralized procurement, the Group promoted procurement
strategies such as regional joint procurement and introduction of

direct supply from the source to reduce procurement costs.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Logistics Management

In 2023, as the transportation market was generally stable with
periodic shortages of transportation capacity and rising
transportation costs, the Group adopted a series of measures to
achieve an overall downward trend in logistics cost. In terms of
shipping, the Group reduced shipping costs in multiple steps
through measures such as optimizing tender schemes, introducing
multiple logistics providers to participate in competition and
determining the best shipping points based on the principle of the
lowest total costs. In terms of truck transportation, the Group
attracted and secured two-way vehicles with lower freight prices in
advance by providing partial supply of clinker and long-term
contracts. At the same time, the Group rolled out transportation
cost estimates for bulk cement to foster more reasonable truck

freight prices.

In 2023, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the
Xijiang River was approximately 39.9 million tons, which secured
stable and continuous logistics capabilities for the Group’s business
operation. The Group continuously optimized the layout of its silo
terminals and means of cooperation to build compliant and
environmentally friendly silo terminals. During the year, the Group
controlled the operation of 30 silo terminals with total annual
capacity of approximately 30.9 million tons, which are mainly
located in the Pearl River Delta Region of Guangdong. This
consolidates the Group's leading market position in Southern
China.
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SALES AND MARKETING
Product Promotion

In 2023, the Group continued to intensively promote specialized
products such as cement for nuclear power stations, Portland
cement for roads and medium-heat and low-heat cement to
leverage our differentiated competitive advantages. Among which,
the Group continuously supplied cement for nuclear power stations
to 5 nuclear power projects in Zhejiang, Fujian, Guangdong and
Hainan, and newly added the supply of pre-stressed cement for
Phase 2 of the nuclear power project in Changjiang, Hainan during
the year. In addition, the Group's Portland cement for roads had
been used in Phase 2 of the Fuzhou Airport expansion project and
listed as the key recommended cement for road construction in
Fujian. The “Project for a World Leader in Transport” jointly
advanced with the Fuzhou University, China and Fujian Highway
Administration Bureau Business Development Centre of Fujian
Province had completed acceptance of trial phases in Langgi of

Fuzhou and Douwei of Hui'an.

In addition, the Group actively developed medium-heat, low-heat
and low-alkali cement products in projects such as hydropower
stations and railway construction in the Yunnan region, and had
now been successfully applied in hydropower station projects at
Yebatan, Tuoba, Xulong, Lawa and Rumei as well as the Sichuan-
Tibet railway project. Among which, the low-heat Portland cement
(high belite cement) of “Runfeng” brand manufactured by the
Group has the characteristics of low hydration heat, high durability,
corrosion resistance and crack resistance, which can well meet the
construction needs of the Sichuan-Tibet railway in an environment
with complicated geological structure, frequent occurrence of
geological disasters, harsh hydrological and climate conditions,

crustal plate movements, sensitive ecology and poor infrastructure.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Brand Building

In 2023, the Group continued to strengthen the construction of
“Runfeng” brand terminals, achieved brand terminal coverage of
92.2% and added 3 new brand image stores. During the year, with
the target of promoting large-scale brand building in the industrial
chain, the Group established and improved the application
standards and management process of Runfeng products in
aggregates and concrete, and created the first application pilot site
of Runfeng aggregates at the production plant in Wuxuan.
Meanwhile, the Group conducted systematic research study on
product quality benchmarking between Runfeng and mainstream
brands in the regional markets to actively identify gaps and improve
weaknesses. In 2023, customer satisfaction rate was 98.19%,
representing a year-on-year increase of 0.57%. On 28 June 2023,
the Group upgraded the previous “Runfeng” brand anniversary
celebration to a dual-brand customer appreciation event for
"Runfeng” and "Runpin” for gathering core customers of the two
brands to discuss development together and create a favourable

situation for the Group's large-scale marketing construction.

As a unified brand of the Group's functional building materials,
“Runpin” launched end-user brand building in the first half of the
year at professional exhibitions such as the China Xiamen
International Stone Fair, Shenzhen Fashion Home Design Week
and China (Foshan) International Ceramics & Bathroom Trade Fair
and built 19 brand flagship stores and 5 specialty stores to
showcase the “Runpin” brand image and product system. Through
the systematic operation of the “Runpin Luxury” showroom and
organizing design salon activities, it had become a comprehensive
venue that integrates “designer exchanges, customer visits,
business negotiations and brand image displays”. Meanwhile, the
Group took advantage of online media such as WeChat public
account, video channels and TikTok for inter-connections with

offline marketing to further expand brand exposure.
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TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION
New Business Development

In 2023, the Group actively seized development opportunities of
new businesses, fully utilized the integrated synergistic advantages
between cement, aggregates and concrete, and achieved rapid
development in the aggregates business and initial success in the
optimization of business structures. The proportion of assets and

revenue of new businesses continuously increased.

Aggregates

In 2023, the Group further enriched its reserves of high-quality
aggregates mine resources, and accelerated the construction and
commissioning of aggregates projects. In January, the Group won
the bid for the mining rights of a limestone quarry in Longma
Mountain, Litang Town, Binyang County, Nanning City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 76.0 million tons and
planned annual production capacity of approximately 5.0 million
tons. It had commenced operation during the year. In March, the
Group officially completed construction and commenced operation
of the aggregates and concrete project with planned annual
production capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons of aggregates
in Xixiu District, Anshun City, Guizhou. In June, the Group won the
bid for the mining rights of a limestone quarry for cement in
Maoping Mining Concession, Dongshi Town, Pingyuan County,
Meizhou City, Guangdong, with resource reserves of approximately
37.0 million tons of limestone for cement and 12.0 million tons of
aggregates, as well as planned annual production capacities of
approximately 2.5 million tons of limestone for cement and
approximately 1.3 million tons for aggregates. It is expected to
complete construction and commence production and operation
by the end of 2025.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



BEZZTZ=F+ZA=+—H ' KIEKE
B AEEBBNBAREENELER
FER(GHEE) 92508 - BBMNE
EEREENBEEARRRESEENEGEE
KHEEGELI0EME - i1 LSRN &K1
B 28EKE  ~EEBBMNBARER
B R FERETART B IE147508 1 - @B
ENRAIREGEAFIRERERZTNEMLEH
FEREX 1,360 B °

KEAERE

AEERBETFEBRABRRERTESER  BF
HEE R EET -

SERTBRBMERTE S -=FhA
EREETIPRRLBEEHFEE EN4AE -
T EE L4 50,0003 7 K ©

BE_Z-_=F+_AK A&EEHXEFHE
RBELTEHBMHRE  2HERE RS
BRE M RETFERTRRHEN 14085 K ©

o FRBNEGREESZCEMN B2
HEMEERENZERREAF - AEELE
REMNEBEMTRR LB RIRM EER—
HEER-_ZE-_FNAMIZR BER=
To=FFFFEREE - ZBEHHORME
STFEERENWBY K BIREAFERD
208K -

EEBFWR D
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As at 31 December 2023, based on its own existing cement mines,
the Group's annual production capacity of aggregates in operation
through its subsidiaries (inclusive of trial production) was
approximately 92.5 million tons, and the total annual production
capacities of aggregates attributable to the Group according to our
equity interests of the associates located in Yunnan and Fujian were
approximately 3.1 million tons. In addition to the newly obtained
aggregates projects, upon completion of construction of all
projects, the annual production capacity of aggregates controlled
by the Group through its subsidiaries is expected to reach 147.5
million tons and the annual production capacity of aggregates
attributable to the Group according to our equity interests of
associates and joint ventures will reach approximately 13.6 million

tons.

Prefabricated Construction

The Group promoted the prefabricated construction business in an
orderly manner according to Chinese government policies and

market conditions.

In terms of the precast concrete components business, the project
for precast concrete components at Intelligent Building Jiangmen,
Guangdong, officially commenced production in September 2023,

with design annual production capacity of approximately 50,000 m®.

As of the end of December 2023, the Group had a total of 6
projects for precast concrete components. Upon completion of
construction of all projects, the design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components is expected to reach

approximately 1.4 million m2.

In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes green
building materials, and supports energy saving and consumption
reduction in the construction industry and innovation in building
methods. The first phase of the Group's production lines for the
autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks and panels project
in Fengkai, Guangdong, commenced construction in April 2022 and
had officially commenced operation in the first half of 2023. The
project has design annual production capacities of approximately
400,000 m® of panels and approximately 200,000 m? of blocks.
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Functional Building Materials

In 2023, the Group optimized the layout of its existing engineered
stone business. The Phase 1 expansion of the second production
line for inorganic engineered stone of DongGuan Universal
Classical Material Ltd. in Dongguan, Guangdong had commenced
operation with planned annual production capacity of
approximately 1.5 million m2 The intelligent inorganic engineered
stone production line project in Laibin, Guangxi of Laibin Universal
Classical Material Ltd. is under construction in two phases with total
planned annual production capacities of 6.0 million m2. The first
phase of the two production lines with planned annual production
capacities of 3.0 million m? had officially commenced operation in
December 2023. After all projects under construction have
commenced operation, the Group’s planned annual production

capacity of engineered stone will reach 26.1 million m2.

At the same time, the Group continuously improved the technical
level and product quality of engineered stone to promote high-
quality and sustainable business development. The Group will focus
on the promotion of recovery technology of styrene, volatile
organic compounds in engineered stone, at Runhe (Feixian) New
Material Co., Ltd. In May 2023, the exhaust gas treatment
equipment of the project had been installed. Currently,
simultaneous debugging had been completed and the project had
entered the trial operation stage. The Group also continued to
iteratively upgrade more high-quality stone products, with excellent
performance in areas such as green manufacturing, green products,
green supply chain management, social responsibility and scientific
and technological creation in habitat settlement construction, which
had been recognized by the industry and customers. “Runpin”
inorganic engineered stone has been certified by internationally
advanced levels of scientific and technological achievements,
honoured with industry awards such as the “Building Materials
Science and Technology Progress Award of China Building
Materials Federation ¢ The Chinese Ceramic Society”, and
obtained the “Shenzhen Science and Technology Planning Project
Certificate in the Field of Engineering Construction”. The Xi'an
International Convention and Exhibition Center project, which

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology Company Limited, a

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



XNt egmEERA - ORIITEEH MR
RERAREBRMBRME — e M
BEX|RIE 2EREBIRBEFHETH]
MERER  EHP AEALEEIR  RIW
MM R ARQRELIKE  HTR
SRREHAUHTBAERQBNGEEE
HEEm BRMNA HEETI/ABEREK
L SRIE[ 2023 FEAMITRARE TR 5% -
TEC=HFHR] EBBREI2023FED

B EMEMEITTERAEHES) N ] - [2023
FEAF %ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂé%éﬂj W EBE

BEBMABIE TS EREE (PCCS-
TA) _rEEFPRgEEMER=ERERX
—IREE - TIREEM F R IBEGIT IS E A
ERRR T -FEEREN4aE -5
BXE2R ERFHEREE(NERAEE
MIINIE - 2ETESEREBZEPTE
EBRLE JC/T547 ) F 4T -

EEBFWR D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

subsidiary of our Functional Building Materials Business Division,
participated in the construction, was honoured with the Gold
Award of High-Quality Stone Decoration Engineering of the Sixth
"Huabiao Cup” by the China Stone Association. This is also the first
engineered stone enterprise to have won the “Huabiao Cup”
award. The practical results from the green and low-carbon
development of “Runpin” had been highly recognized by the
industry and the society. Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials
Technology Company Limited won the “Elite Science and
Technology Award-Green Supply Chain Enterprise” award. A total
of 9 companies that participated in the “Green Chain Action” were
awarded nationwide, among which, only one engineered stone
company, Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology Company
Limited, received this honour. Its subsidiary DongGuan Universal
Classical Material Ltd. takes “green manufacturing, green products,
recycling, and social responsibility” as core of its development and
was honoured the title of “2023 Green Factory in the Stone
Industry”. In 2023, “Runpin” tile adhesives was awarded the 2023
"Most Impetuous Enterprise Award” and the 2023 “Golden Orchid
Award” of the China Ceramic Tile Adhesives Industry, and passed
the Hong Kong Product Conformity Certification Scheme for Tile
Adhesives (PCCS-TA), which were subsequent honours following
the three-star certification of green building materials products in
China. The Functional Building Materials Business Division had
been actively building a system for product intellectual property. In
2023, the Group added 4 new authorized patents, 2 new articles,
led the compilation of 1 national standard of “Profession for
Engineered Stone Production and Processing” and participated in
the compilation of 4 industry standards and group standards
including the “Ceramic Tile Adhesives JC/T547".
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On the other hand, the Group continued to optimize its marketing
system and strengthen the brand promotion of “Runpin”. In 2023,
the Group participated in é industry exhibitions, namely, China
(Foshan) International Ceramic & Bathroom Trade Fair, Shenzhen
Fashion Home Design Week Exhibition, China Xiamen International
Stone Fair, China Hezhou International Stone Fair, Guangxi Green
Building Materials Products Trade Fair and the Greater Bay Area
Youth Exchange Activities in Manufacturing Industry. The Group
held the inaugural “Runpin Luxury” design salon event, and
conducted in-depth dialogues with 14 well-known design units in
order to propel business development. Together with the Shenzhen
Home Decoration Industry Association, the Group invited
representatives from 32 building materials companies in the
Greater Bay Area to exchange business strategies and experiences
in the North American market and promote the achievement of
resources complementation and collaborative development. In
2023, the Group achieved new cooperation with 6 large-scale
strategic customers with total contract value of over RMB24.0
million, and entered into strategic centralized procurement
agreements with China Southwest Architecture Wall Materials Co.,
Ltd. and Grandjoy Holdings Group Co., Ltd. In addition, the Group
also continued to expand and maintain engineering distributors.
During the year, contracts for 15 new projects were entered into in

total, with total contract value of over RMB40.0 million.

In addition, the Group continued to strengthen cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement of the engineered stone business. In 2023,
the Group managed to save production costs and expenses
through measures such as optimization of procurement channels,
substitution of raw materials, optimization of prescriptions, process
adjustments and replacement of low-interest loans of production

plants.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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New Materials

In terms of the new materials business, the Group extended the
calcium-based industry chain based on its existing high-quality
mining resources, incubate and cultivate the basalt fiber new
materials business and continuously monitor entry opportunities in
the new energy materials industry in order to actively promote the
implementation of projects in the new materials industry. Among
which, the Group successfully obtained mining rights for both the
calcium oxide project in Chongyang of Hubei and the calcium-
based project in Guigang of Guangxi, with resource reserves of
approximately 84.0 million tons and approximately 110.0 million
tons respectively. A production line with annual production capacity
of approximately 250,000 tons of calcium oxide designed for the
calcium oxide project in Chongyang of Hubei is under construction,
and is expected to commence production and operation in 2024.
Production lines with annual production capacities of
approximately 500,000 tons of calcium oxide and approximately
100,000 tons of calcium hydroxide designed for the high-end
calcium-based project in Guigang of Guangxi is under construction,
and is expected to commence operation in 2024. The above
projects are under construction as planned. In addition, other

projects are being advanced in an orderly manner as planned.

Digital Transformation

As a benchmark enterprise of China Resources Group in
digitalization and intelligentization, the Company continued to
promote the construction of digitalization and intelligentization,
was committed to promoting the transformation and upgrade of
traditional industries, and used advanced technology to help

improve corporate management and operational efficiency.

In terms of intelligent factories, on 14 December 2023, China
Resources Cement (Tianyang) Limited, a subsidiary of the Group,
was officially awarded the “Advanced Fourth Industrial Revolution
(4IR) Lighthouse”
became the first “Lighthouse Factory”

released by the World Economic Forum, and
in the global building
materials industry and the first “Lighthouse Factory” among state-
owned enterprises in the Greater Bay Area. With the main theme of
technology and data, the Group relied on advanced Industrial
Internet of Things technology structures, scalable vertical industry
and Industrial Internet platforms, powerful data analysis systems
and ecosystems, and was selected as one of the six leading cases in
the 2023 “Annual White Paper on the Global Lighthouse Network”,
which further demonstrated the global competitiveness of China

Resources.
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The cement production plant in Tianyang of Guangxi used digital
application cases and advanced technologies to achieve revolutions
and improvements in areas such as personnel efficiency, operating
costs, equipment efficiency, product quality, customer service and
green emission reduction, with significant improvements in 11
major key performance indicators and 15 subdivided key
performance indicators. The production plant achieved 24%
reduction in carbon dioxide emissions, 105% increase in cement
production per capita, 56% reduction in unplanned equipment
downtime, 25% improvement in quality stability and 39% reduction

in the average delivery time for customer pickup.

The Oracle EBS system in the engineered stone industry was
launched on a pilot basis and stably operated at the factories of
DongGuan Universal Classical Material Ltd. and Laibin Universal
Classical Material Ltd. At the same time, organization for
engineered stone Oracle EBS system operation and maintenance
was established to ensure continued stable operation of the
system, gradually promote the digital construction of the
engineered stone business and help to create a benchmark

production plant for intelligent manufacturing of engineered stone.

The Group continued to deepen intelligent digital empowerment
and promote application of mature intelligentization. Production
safety management system had been launched in production
plants at Fengkai, Tianyang and Zhaoging Runxin, which laid the
foundation for building a standardized template for the Group. The
self-developed advanced control systems and quality management
systems had been launched in multiple production plants with the
application of three artificial intelligence algorithms, which will
continue to be iterated and upgraded. A new model of intelligent
operation and maintenance of equipment had been built, which
will help the entire value chain reduce costs and improve efficiency
through digitalization and support the improvement of
competitiveness in traditional business. The Group created digital
standard solutions for new business types, supported the rapid
development of new businesses such as stone and aggregates,
completed the information system coverage of 19 new production
plants including aggregates and new materials, quickly achieved
the actions for standardization of “online business operation,
standardized management, and integration of business and
finance” to reduce management costs. The construction of the ERP
system was advanced for the Hong Kong business and the pilot

launch of online accounting system was promoted.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group and China Resources Group jointly applied for the
Guangdong database project for innovative applications in
Industrial Internet identification and analysis. The Group launched
platform innovation, taking the four major application scenarios of
cement quality traceability, logistics traceability, equipment
operation and maintenance and supply chain as pilot projects,
promoted cross-enterprise and cross-regional interconnection and
traceability of data, fostered the development of market

standardization and protected the rights and interests of customers.

As a deputy director unit of the China Building Materials
Federation, the Group participated in the formulation of industry
standards and completed the release of two group standards,
namely, the “General Requirements for Traceability Systems for
Traceability of Building Materials Products” and the "Requirements

for Evaluating Intelligent Factories in the Cement Industry”.

Intelligent Logistics

In terms of intelligent logistics, the promotion and launch of the
“Smart Card” intelligent logistics system had been completed at 10
aggregates production plants including Guigang, Runhan, Runxin,
Wuxuan and Tianyang and the cement production plant at Hunan
Liangtian, which achieved the unmanned weighing and reduced-
manpower loading, improved shipping efficiency, and helped to
unleash production capacity. Monitor on coal transportation and
loading had been trialed at 7 cement production plants including

Longyan and Caoxi in order to strengthen coal management.

Intelligent Marketing

In terms of intelligent marketing, during the year, the Group's
project for digital transformation of marketing model had been fully
launched in the cement, aggregates, concrete and tile adhesives
businesses of each region with a coverage rate of 100%. At the
same time, the Group simultaneously rolled out online promotion
in the engineered stone business. The logistics distribution and
supply chain financing business on the platform continued to
launch steadily. As at 31 December 2023, the cumulative transaction
volume of the e-commerce platform reached approximately 180.0
million tons, with approximately 35,000 registered users, 517
carriers and approximately 87,000 vehicles (vessels) settled
cumulatively. At the same time, the cumulative distributed business
volume of the platform reached 294,000 tons, with credit lines of
approximately RMB1.36 billion.
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RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION

Innovation is an important momentum to stimulate corporate
vitality and motivate long-term corporate development. As of the
end of 2023, the Group had 607 technology talents, among whom,
there were 2 China Resources Group-level leading scientific and
technological talents, 6 company-level scientific and technological
leading talents, 6 company-level scientific and technological
backbone talents, and 26 company-level scientific and
technological youth talents. Over 80 employees were specialized in
research and development, among whom, there were 5 professor-
level senior engineers, 17 employees with doctorate degrees, and

48 employees with master’s degrees.

In 2023, the Group actively promoted research and development of
new products and new technologies. During the year, the Group
self-developed rotary furnaces, which are special thermal
equipment used for disposing of heavy and non-flammable
domestic solid waste with medium to low calorific value, and
walking beam furnaces, which are special thermal equipment used
for disposing of light, loose and flammable biomass solid waste.
The application of energy-saving and carbon reduction
technologies in roller presses of raw materials and cement grinding
had been developed and promoted. At the same time, the Group
strived to keep pace with the new era in dual-carbon, lead the
promotion of green and innovative development by independently
developing carbon-reducing cement grinding aids, which had been
promoted and applied at 26 production plants. The Group had
developed re-engineering technology for carbon dioxide in-situ
self-enrichment process with the Company’s characteristics, as well
as high-solidity carbon-free autoclaved aerated concrete products,
and built a research platform for carbon utilization at the Fengkai
cement production plant of Guangdong to achieve the integrated
industrial process of carbon capture and carbon utilization for
creating a carbon-neutral pilot line for the cement industry. In
addition, the Group continuously promoted the implementation of
cooperative projects such as 3D printing, functional coatings, new-
type wall materials and high-quality utilization of waste pulp, so as

to promote high-quality corporate development.

In 2023, the Group actively positioned itself in new industries and
seized new pathways by launching relevant research on silicon-
based materials, basalt materials, battery materials for energy
storage, perovskite solar cells and aerogel materials to provide

technological support for enterprise transformation and upgrade.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2023, the Group executed the following four measures to create
an innovation paradigm that coordinated efforts between training
of scientific and technological talents, platform construction,
intellectual property management and construction of innovation
culture. First, the Group continued to promote training of scientific
and technological talents. In December 2023, the monograph
"Theoretical and Practical Exploration of Carbon Neutrality in the
Cement Industry” compiled by Tao Congxi, the Group's chief
expert, was published by the Wuhan University of Technology
Press. Second, the Group strengthened external cooperation and
accelerated the construction of a high-level research and
development platform. In June 2023, the Group established the
Engineered Stone Technology and Engineering Innovation Center
of China Concrete and Cement Products Association (provincial
and ministerial-level platform). In August 2023, China Resources
Cement Technology Research and Development (Guangxi) Co.,
Ltd. was successfully approved as a post-doctoral innovation
practical production plant (research and development talent
training platform). Third, the Group attached importance to
intellectual property protection. The Group thoroughly
implemented the "Intellectual Property Management Measures of
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
(2023 Edition)” and the “Patent Management Measures of China
Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited” to
strengthen the protection of intellectual property achievements
and the management of property rights ownership. As at 31
December 2023, the Company held a total of 323 valid patents,
including 60 invention patents and 263 utility model patents. In
2023, 32 new authorized patents were added, the number of
authorized patents increased by 11.0% compared with last year,
and the number of new article submissions was 34. Fourth, the
Group constructed innovative culture. In July 2023, the Group
successfully held the second Science and Technology Innovation
Forum, invited academics from the Chinese Academy of Sciences,
university professors and industry experts to participate in the
forum and deliver special academic reports. In July 2023, the Group

held the eighth “Runfeng Cup” Innovation Competition.

In addition, in order to provide security for policies of scientific and
technological innovation, during the year, the Group established
and improved its scientific and technological innovation
management policies, and had revised and issued policies such as
the “Measures for the Recognition of Scientific and Technological
Talents of China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings
Limited"”.
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EMPLOYEES

General Information

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 17,939
employees, all of whom are were full-time, among whom, 343 were
based in Hong Kong and the remaining 17,596 were based in the
Chinese Mainland (19,046, 344, 18,702 respectively as at 31
December 2022). A breakdown of our employees by function is set

out as follows:

R+=H=+-—H
As at 31 December
—E=F —F-_—

2023 2022
EIRfE Management 481 472
BA% - fTER R H A Finance, administration and others 2,381 2,486
HEANE Production staff 9,973 10,941
AT A B Technical staff 4,408 4,426
THHAE Sales and marketing staff 696 721
Bt Total 17,939 19,046

FAIEZRHFREEAEFR 8% EBHER
14% 2 - 84% F5 B KRB A L8167 - 14%
BESIKREHE  BEFHFROEL7HE (R
—E - —F+-R=+—B95AE472%
87% * 13% ~ 83% ~ 16% * 475%) °

AEBEERARUEERER  HEEFTH
BABES - AT EEREEOF D BH S -
WAREHAERES -AEBMAFEHLE
IA(RREEWS) NAARKE
3,056,899,000t (ZTE=Z=—F B AR
3,071,704,000 7T (42 &E7%1])) °

ATtMAHENATERAS RER K
SEEIRBIATELRER  BEFHER
BEEATEE RITAEEFEFE - BF
B TRHEBEEEMRER -
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Among our 481 senior and middle-level managerial staff, 86% are
male and 14% are female, 84% possess university degrees or above,
14% have received post-secondary education and the average age
of managerial staff is approximately 47 (472, 87%, 13%, 83%, 16%,
47 respectively as at 31 December 2022).

The Group has established a remuneration allocation mechanism
based on job value and combined with performance contribution,
personal ability and talent development, paid in form of cash
bonuses. The total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments) of
the Group was approximately RMB3,056,899,000 for the year (2022:
RMB3,071,704,000 (Restated)).

Based on the talent training plan during the Fourteenth Five-Year
Plan, the Group focused on the "3+1” talent team cultivation,
carried out special talent training step by step, designed and
launched training programmes, and provided career guidance and

follow-up training for young employees.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group had adopted RMB as the presentation currency of the
Group retrospectively, and the first set of consolidated financial
statements of the Group with RMB as its presentation currency was
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The comparative figures for 2022 in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 had been restated in RMB, which resulted in the

restatement of certain comparative figures for 2022 in this section.

Taking into account that the Group’s major business and assets are
located in Chinese Mainland and are denominated and settled in
RMB, the Board considered that such change shall provide more
reliable and more relevant accounting information, which enables
the shareholders and potential investors of the Company to have a

more accurate understanding of the Group's financial results.

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB25,549.6 million, representing a decrease of
12.9% from RMB29,332.4 million (Restated) for the last year. An

analysis of segmental turnover by product is as follows:

—EC-=f T
2023 2022

HE BW/USK HE  BWM/UAK
¥ THIEE EES T FHERE EEL
W/ 15K ARBT ARBTR B/ F R AR¥T AR¥TR

Sales Average Sales Average

volume selling price volume selling price
‘000 RMB per Turnover ‘000 RMB per Turnover
tons/m? ton/m? RMB'000 tons/m? ton/m? RMB'000
e e
(Restated) (Restated)
KOk (i) Cement (note) 66,728 2739 18,276,749 72,110 3084 22,238,141
AR Clinker 2,573 236.7 608,943 2929 3028 886,798
RRT Concrete 9,334 366.7 3,423,245 10,805 419.9 4,537,226
B Aggregates 45,583 35.4 1,615,868 15119 367 555,600
Ht Others 1,624,843 1,114,610
@it Total 25,549,648 29,332,435

0 ST KRS E4,200,000 (=T = = note: Inclusive of sales volume of 4.2 million tons of cement from related parties (4.0

4,000,000 ) o

million tons in 2022).
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In 2023, our external sales volume of cement, clinker, concrete and
aggregates decreased by 5.4 million tons, decreased by 0.4 million
tons, decreased by 1.5 million m® and increased by 30.5 million
tons, representing a decrease of 7.5%, a decrease of 12.2%, a
decrease of 13.6% and an increase of 201.5% respectively over
2022. During the year, approximately 83.3% of the cement products
we sold were 42.5 or higher grades (83.6% in 2022) and
approximately 28.7% were sold in bags (27.7% in 2022). Internal
sales volume of cement for our concrete production was 1.9 million
tons (1.9 million tons in 2022), representing 2.7% of the total volume
of cement sold (2.6% in 2022).

Segmental turnover by product

RMB million

556 1,115
JKJE Cement
2kl Clinker

JEAEL Concrete
& Aggregates
Hih  Others

Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2023 were as follows:

ot —F-C
2023 2022

=] (=l
HE FIEE e HE FHER EEL
TH ARMR ARMTR T ARETL ARBTT

Sales Average Sales Average
volume selling price Turnover volume selling price Turnover
£/BRE  Province/AR '000tons  RMB per ton RMB'000 ‘000tons  RMB per ton RMB'000
(8 E5) (& =31)
(Restated) (Restated)
EE Guangdong 30,605 287.5 8,797,920 31,086 3252 10,107,824
i Guangxi 17,603 2547 4,484,245 20,954 282.8 5,926,390
B Fujian 8,231 249.7 2,055,684 8,787 286.0 2,512,900
hETe Hainan 2,443 358.7 876,285 3,153 394.8 1,244,882
£ Yunnan 3,224 2935 946,194 3,183 3193 1,016,300
BM Guizhou 2,387 2418 577,253 2,338 276.6 646,704
A Shanxi 1,333 2385 317,91 1,704 3162 538,737
il Hunan 902 253 221,257 905 2701 244,404
@it Total 66,728 2739 18,276,749 72,110 3084 22,238,141

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker, concrete and
aggregates in 2023 were RMB273.9 per ton, RMB236.7 per ton,
RMB366.7 per m® and RMB35.4 per ton respectively, representing
decreases of 11.2%, 21.8%, 12.7% and 3.5% respectively from 2022
(Restated). The decreases in selling prices of the Group's products
were mainly attributable to the slowdown of economic growth and

construction activities in China.

Cement sales volume by geographical area

'000 tons
3,183
8,787
@® =% Guangdong
® EA  Guangxi
R Fujian 20,954
@ &M  Hainan
® =7  Yunnan
@ =/ Guizhou
@ LFE  Shanxi
@ 5% Hunan

Costs of Sales

The cost of sales of cement products of the Group (exclusive of
cement sales from related parties) comprised coal, electricity,
materials and other costs, which represented 40.6%, 12.9%, 20.2%
and 26.3% of their costs respectively for the year (43.2%, 11.6%,
20.7% and 24.5% in 2022 (Restated) respectively). Materials cost is
the major component of the cost of sales of concrete, representing
74.2% of the cost of sales of concrete for the year (77.1% in 2022
(Restated)).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2023 was approximately
RMB929 per ton, representing a decrease of 12.7% from the
average price of RMB1,064 per ton in 2022 (Restated), while the
average thermal value of coal increased by 0.9% to 5,240 kcal per
kg. During the year, our unit coal consumption decreased to 132.0
kg per ton of clinker produced from the average of 138.8 kg in
2022. Our standard coal consumption decreased to 98.2 kg per ton
of clinker for the year from the average of 102.5 kg in 2022. As a
result of the decrease in coal price, our average coal cost for the
year decreased by 16.9% to RMB122.6 per ton of clinker produced
from RMB147.6 in 2022 (Restated).
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Our average electricity cost increased by 3.7% from RMB29.9
(Restated) per ton of cement to RMB31.0 for the year. Our
electricity consumption was 70.9 kwh per ton of cement for the year
(71.3 kwh in 2022). Our residual heat recovery generators generated
1,464.7 million kwh of electricity for the year, representing a
decrease of 9.4% over 1,617.3 million kwh in 2022. The electricity
generated in 2023 accounted for approximately 28.9% of our
required electricity consumption (30.9% in 2022) and we achieved a
cost saving of approximately RMB744.3 million for the year
(RMB810.0 million in 2022 (Restated)).

Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, transportation cost,
depreciation, and repairs and maintenance cost. Repairs and
maintenance cost included in the cost of sales of cement products
for the year was RMB609.8 million, representing a decrease of
33.1% from RMB911.0 million in 2022 (Restated).

Cost structure of cement products

RMB per ton
63.1 53.6
(24.5%) (20.7%)
® ik Coal
o= Electricity
@ ™M Materials
Efth  Others
299 111.4
(11.6%) (43.2%)
258.0
(100.0%)

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2023 was RMB3,762.0 million,
representing a decrease of 18.5% from RMB4,616.3 million for 2022
(Restated) and the consolidated gross margin was 14.7%,
representing a decrease of 1.0 percentage points from 15.7% for
2022 (Restated). The decreases in consolidated gross profit and
consolidated gross margin for the year were mainly attributable to
the general decrease in selling prices of the Group's products. The
gross margins of cement, clinker, concrete and aggregates for 2023
were 12.0%, 5.3%, 11.9% and 54.3%, as compared with 15.5%,
17.4%, 12.7% and 55.4% respectively for 2022 (Restated).

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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Other Income

Other income for 2023 was RMB571.8 million, representing a
decrease of 0.5% from RMB574.5 million for 2022 (Restated).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2023 were RMB506.2 million,
representing an increase of 11.2% from RMB455.3 million for 2022
(Restated). As a percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and
distribution expenses for the year increased to 2.0% from 1.6% for

2022 (Restated).

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2023 were RMB2,322.1
million, representing a decrease of 4.9% from RMB2,440.7 million
for 2022 (Restated). As a percentage to consolidated turnover,
general and administrative expenses increased to 9.1% for 2023
from 8.3% for 2022 (Restated).

Share of Results of Associates

The associates of the Group contributed a loss of RMB101.5 million
for the year (a profit of RMB15.2 million in 2022 (Restated)) of which
a profit of RMB35.5 million, a loss of RMB74.0 million, a loss of
RMB45.1 million and a profit of RMB8.3 million (a profit of
RMB142.8 million, a loss of RMB35.2 million, a loss of RMB78.0
million and a loss of RMB4.4 million in 2022 (Restated)) were
attributable to the Group's associates operating in Inner Mongolia,
Fujian, Yunnan and Guangdong respectively.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The joint ventures of the Group contributed a profit of RMB46.6
million for the year (loss of RMB60.8 million in 2022 (Restated)).
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Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2023 was 32.3%, as
compared with 18.2% for 2022 (Restated). Had the effect of the
results of associates and joint ventures, the exchange difference, as
well as the withholding tax in the Chinese Mainland for dividends
and the deferred tax on the intended distribution profits from
subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding company in Hong
Kong been excluded, the effective tax rate of the Group for 2023
would be 29.0% (20.3% in 2022 (Restated)).

Net Margin

Net margin of the Group for 2023 was 2.4%, which was 2.9
percentage points lower than that of 5.3% for 2022 (Restated).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's sources of funding mainly included cash on hand,
bank loans, loans from related parties, issue of equity securities and

cash flows generated from operations.

RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H XTEEMHIK Asat31 December 2023, the Group's cash and bank balances and
S MIRTERARBEFRITFERBIEIAT  pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:
A -
Rt+t=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—EZ= ===
2023 2022
F +
‘000 ‘000
BT HK$ 185,521 329,533
AR® RMB 2,888,053 2,116,574
ESyv uss$ 153 172
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Bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 were all unsecured, with breakdown as follows:

RITER
KA R T BV E R

R-ZB-_=F+_A=+—0 AEEUF
BREBFENRITEREMEBEESHAAR
& 3,184,300,000 7T & A & # 13,097,100,000 7T
(R=ZB—=—F+=—A=+—HEEI) 5
A ANER®4,792,800,000T & AR
9,886,600,0007T) ° iZEEFIZA T EMEFHE |

Bank loans 16,090,113 14,146,376
Loans from related parties 191,325 532,996
16,281,438 14,679,372

As at 31 December 2023, bank and other borrowings of the Group
which carried interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to
RMB3,184.3 million and RMB13,097.1 million respectively
(RMB4,792.8 million and RMB9,886.6 million respectively as at 31
December 2022 (Restated)). These borrowings were denominated
in the following currencies:

BIT
AR

RZE-=F+-A=+—0 KEBEHNE
A IR 17 B X EEE A 2,300,000,00078 7T & A
R #36,082,000,0007T - EF AR
22,076,200,000 7T i# A B B I A 442 A o

HK$
RMB

2,300,000
14,197,122

2,300,000
12,624,846

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's unsecured banking facilities
amounted to HK$2,300.0 million and RMB36,082.0 million, of which
RMB22,076.2 million was unutilized and remained available for
drawdown.
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Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$2,300.0 million equivalent with expiry dates in March 2025, CR
Holdings is required to hold not less than 35% of the issued share
capital in the Company. Under the terms of certain agreements for
the total banking facilities of HK$2,300.0 million equivalent, the net
gearing ratio of the Company (calculated by dividing net
borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, and
as may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not
exceed 180%. The Group was in compliance with the above
financial covenants as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022.

The Group adopts robust and prudent treasury policies in financial
management. Treasury management, financing and investment
activities are all managed and monitored by the senior
management of the Company, and all treasury activities of the
Group are centralized. The Group regularly monitors its current and
expected liquidity needs as well as compliance with bank loan
agreements in order to maintain its sufficient cash reserves and
flexibility in funding for meeting the Group's short-term and long-
term liquidity needs.

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$
and RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable to
the bank balances and debts which were denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which these bank
balances and debts were related. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency exposure. However, the management regularly monitors
the relevant foreign currency exposure and will consider taking
appropriate measures to control the risk arising from significant
exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging significant
currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest
costs be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses.
The Group was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023,
non-RMB denominated debts accounted for 13% of the total debts
of the Group (14% as at 31 December 2022).

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB3,289.7 million as at 31
December 2023. Taking into account the cash and bank balances,
the unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally
generated funds, the new banking facilities and other sources of
financing to be obtained, the Board is confident that the Group will
be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the
foreseeable future.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, there was no charge on assets by the
Group (Nil as at 31 December 2022).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had issued guarantees to
banks in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB2,747.5
million (RMB2,109.2 million as at 31 December 2022) granted to
associates and joint venture, of which RMB1,826.7 million
(RMB1,360.3 million as at 31 December 2022) had been utilized.

FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Capital Expenditure

As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding capital expenditure for
the Group's expansion plans to be invested was approximately
RMB5,508.0 million. Total payments for capital expenditure of the
Group are expected to be approximately RMB4,822.8 million in
2024, which will be financed by proceeds from borrowings and
internally generated funds.
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Mr. JI Youhong, aged 59, has been appointed as the Chairman of
the Board since May 2022 and an executive Director since
September 2016. He is the chairman of the Strategy and Investment
Committee, the chairman of the Nomination Committee, an
authorised representative and the director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. JI joined the Group in October 2003 and had
served various managerial positions of the Company including the
general manager of various cement and concrete subsidiaries, the
Marketing Controller from November 2008 to December 2012, the
Regional General Manager (Guangxi) from April 2012 to September
2016, and the Chief Executive Officer from September 2016 to April
2023. He is a senior engineer of building materials accredited by
the Private Enterprise Senior Engineer Panel of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region. Mr. JI graduated from the Nanjing Industrial
College (currently known as Southeast University), China with a
bachelor’'s degree in engineering in 1985 and a master’s degree in
inorganic and nonmetallic materials in 1988. He has over 30 years of
experience in construction materials engineering and marketing.
He is currently the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials
Federation and the Executive Vice Chairman of the China Cement
Association, and was the Vice President of the Eighth Council of the

China Concrete and Cement-based Products Association.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



=sUFEE
Mr. JING Shiging

EENREREEAEEE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SHFEE B BT =—"FNAREZEARQATAERR
BITEZ BAALNAEKEREZEGNERETHERARZ
EE-SEAERN_ZTEE=-FLtAMAEBREER THFE-F
—N\NFRhAZEZE-_—F=A BT N\FRAZZZT=_—F
BFAMB-_ZE-N\FNAE-_ZE-_—GFRALETIEEEEAANE
TREBRIARACIRE - R ARIEITE S REFMRIERER 2 F] (8
RFTEREM)BERTES - ER T —FHAAMNMAERRF] -
CE-_E - FRAZE-_CFNAERARQAFLEH TA
BEARRBMIZEEE  SEEEFH BEAFHEETEIE
MM AREEERI - SAEFATRERPEIAETEZE
TENETPEERASTIHERB LIS FECEEE T ESE
R+ AFER BAEREEEMBTEREEREEEEE
gk

Mr. JING Shiqing, aged 43, has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and an executive Director since
April 2023. He is a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee and the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. JING joined China Resources Group in July 2003 and had
served as the Deputy General Manager of the Human Resources
Department of China Resources Group from May 2018 to March
2021, a non-executive director of the Company from May 2018 to
May 2021 and a non-executive director of China Resources Gas
Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
from August 2018 to May 2021 respectively. He joined the Company
in May 2021 and had served as the Vice President of the Company
from May 2021 to April 2023, previously responsible for the
management of the Marketing Management Department, the
Smart & Information Technology Department and the Technology
and Innovation Department of the Company and the operational
development of certain regions. Mr. JING holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science and
Technology, China and a master’s degree in business
administration from the Nanjing University, China. He has over 15
years of experience in corporate management, and is currently the
Vice President of the Fifth Council of the Guangdong Building

Materials Association.
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Mr. ZHU Ping, aged 58, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since October 2021. He is a member of the Strategy and
Investment Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
and Compliance Committee of the Company. He currently serves
as a designated external director of business units of CR Holdings,
works in China Resources Corporate Service (Shenzhen) Limited,
and has been appointed as a director of China Resources
Environmental Protection Technology Limited since December
2021 and a director of China Resources Ng Fung Limited since
August 2023. Mr. ZHU worked in China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from September 2004 to September 2021, and had served
various managerial positions including the Head of Administration
and the Vice President responsible for operation and management
of North China Region. He had served as a Deputy General
Manager of Huainan Town Gas Corporation (currently known as
Huainan Gas Corporation); an Executive Deputy General Manager
of Yuyao Urban Natural Gas Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2001; a Senior
Project Manager of XinAo Gas Holdings Limited (currently known
as ENN Energy Holdings Limited) and the General Manager of
Wenzhou Xin'ao Gas Co., Ltd. from 2001 to 2004. Mr. ZHU
successively studied Secretarial Profession from the Anhui Normal
University, China and Management Science and Engineering from
the Donghua University, China, and has over 30 years' experience

in corporate management.
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Mr. YU Shutian, aged 57, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director, a member of the Strategy and Investment Committee and
a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee since
September 2023. He currently serves as a designated external
director of business units of CR Holdings, works in China Resources
Corporate Service (Shenzhen) Limited, and has been appointed as
a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange) since October 2022. Mr. YU joined China
Resources Group in October 1999, served as the general manager
and the executive deputy general manager of China Resources Ng
Fung Limited from December 2018 to April 2022, the executive vice
president of China Resources Enterprise, Limited from May 2018 to
December 2018, and he took various managerial roles in China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Limited from October 1999 to
May 2018, including the executive deputy general manager, the
general manager of the marketing center, the marketing director,
the general manager of Liaoning regional company, the general
manager of Tianjin regional company, the general manager of
Zhejiang regional company, the general manager and the deputy
general manager of Heilongjiang and Jilin regional company. Mr.
YU holds a bachelor’s degree of engineering in pulp and paper
manufacturing from the Dalian Institute of Light Industry, China
(currently known as the Dalian Polytechnic University, China) and a
master’s degree of philosophy from the Jilin University, China, with
over 30 years of experience in marketing and corporate

management.
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Mr. ZHOU Bo, aged 54, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director, a member of the Strategy and Investment Committee and
a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee since September
2023. He currently serves as a designated external director of
business units of CR Holdings, works in China Resources Corporate
Service (Shenzhen) Limited, and has been appointed as a non-
executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) since
October 2023 and a non-executive director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited since August 2023. Mr. ZHOU joined China
Resources Group in September 1989. He was the deputy general
manager of China Resources Environmental Protection Technology
Limited from September 2019 to August 2023, and he took various
managerial roles in China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company
Limited from October 2002 to September 2019, including the
deputy general manager, the financial controller and the general
manager of finance department. Mr. ZHOU worked in the finance
department of China Resources National Corporation (currently
known as China Resources Company Limited) from September 1989
to February 2000, and the finance department of China Nanyang
Import and Export Corporation from February 2000 to October
2002. Mr. ZHOU successively studied in the Shanghai Institute of
Foreign Trade, China (currently known as the Shanghai University of
International Business and Economics, China) with finance and
accounting profession and in the University of South Australia,
Australia with a master’s degree in business administration, with

over 30 years of experience in finance and corporate management.
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Mr. YANG Changyi, aged 63, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since October 2021. He is a member of the
Strategy and Investment Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Company. Mr. YANG currently serves as a part-time external
director of business units of CR Holdings, worked in China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from August 2003 to January
2021 and had served various managerial positions including the
Vice President responsible for operation and management of South
China Region, the Chairman of Qingdao Energy China Resources
Gas Limited, the General Manager of Jinran China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd., the General Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas
Limited, the General Manager of Xiamen China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd., the Financial Controller of Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd.
(currently known as Chengdu Gas Group Corporation Ltd.) and the
Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. He
successively studied Technology Economy and Management in the
Hohai University, China and Ideological and Political Education in
the Nanjing Normal University, China. He is also a qualified
accountant in the PRC, and has over 30 years' experience in

financial and corporate management.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 72, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the Risk
and Compliance Committee of the Company and a member of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. IP
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree in social
sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in
November 1973 and was promoted to the rank of Director of
Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong Kong Government as
a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions
held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of
Secretary for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His
portfolio in respect of economic development covered air and sea
transport, logistics development, tourism, energy, postal services,
meteorological services, competition and consumer protection. He
was also responsible for labour policies including matters relating

to employment services, labour relations and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong
International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman
of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board,
Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in July
2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong
Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace.
Mr. IP has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of six other listed companies on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, namely, Lai Sun Development Company Limited
since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited since
May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited since October
2011, Nameson Holdings Limited since April 2018, Million Cities
Holdings Limited since June 2018 and C-MER Eye Care Holdings
Limited since November 2020.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 78, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Company and a
member of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Company. Mr. SHEK
was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995, awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2013.
Mr. SHEK was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
representing the real estate and construction functional
constituency from 2000 to 2021.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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Mr. SHEK was the advisor of SJM Holdings Limited from May 2021
to May 2022. He has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Chuang'’s China Investments Limited (listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange) since April 2008, and acted
as the Honorary Chairman since April 2019 following his retirement
from his position as the Chairman. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director and the Vice Chairman of ITC
Properties Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) since September 2010, and served as an independent
non-executive director of numerous companies listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, including Paliburg Holdings Limited
since July 2002, Chuang'’s Consortium International Limited since
May 2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004, Regal
Portfolio Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment
Trust) since March 2006, Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December
2012, Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited since December
2013, Everbright Grand China Assets Limited since January 2018,
CSI Properties Limited since July 2018, Far East Consortium
International Limited since June 2019, Shin Hwa World Limited
(formerly known as Landing International Development Limited)
since August 2020, Hao Tian International Construction Investment
Group Limited since October 2020 and Alliance International
Education Leasing Holdings Limited (formerly known as
International Alliance Financial Leasing Co., Limited) since July
2021. Mr. SHEK was also an independent non-executive director of
SJM Holdings Limited from October 2007 to May 2021 and Country
Garden Holdings Company Limited from December 2006 to March
2024 respectively (both listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange). He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (which was a listed
company on the main board of the Stock Exchange and the listing
of its shares was withdrawn from 31 October 2023) in January 2017,
re-designated from independent non-executive director to
executive director and appointed as the Vice Chairman in March
2021, and served as the Chairman and an executive director from
June 2022 to October 2023. He is an Honorary Court Member of
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a Council
Member of The University of Hong Kong, a Court Member of City
University of Hong Kong, a Court Member of Hong Kong
Metropolitan University, an independent non-executive director of
Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (privatized and delisted in
December 2022) and Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited, a member of the executive committee of Hong Kong
Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council Limited, a member of the
executive committee of Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui St. Simon
Social Services, a director of Construction Charity Fund Integrated
Service Centre Limited, and a non-executive director of Chinese-
Italian Cultural Society Limited. Mr. SHEK was also a non-executive
director of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority, an
Independent Member of the Board of Governors and Chairman of
English Schools Foundation, a member of Advisory Committee on
Corruption of the Independent Commission Against Corruption, a
Court Member of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology, a Court Member of the University of Hong Kong and a
non-executive director of Helenbergh China Holdings Limited. He
graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia with a Bachelor
of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education, and obtained a Juris
Doctor Degree at the City University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since June 2022. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company and a member
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and the Risk and Compliance Committee of the
Company. Mr. NG obtained a diploma in accounting from the
School of Professional and Continuing Education, The University of
Hong Kong in 1997, has been the founder and the sole proprietor
of Webster Ng & Co. since 2001, and is currently a Managing
Director of AC CPA Limited. Mr. NG has over 28 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. He is a fellow practising
Certified Public Accountant and Chartered Tax Adviser in Hong
Kong, and is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, and founding member
of the Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association,
and assumes various positions in associations involving finance and
auditing. Mr. NG currently serves as a member of sixth-term
Election Committee (Accountancy) of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, a non-executive director of eMPF Platform
Company Limited, a member of Lump Sum Grant Steering
Committee, an appointed member and the Honorary Treasurer of
Social Workers Registration Board, a non-official member of
Citizens Advisory Committee on Community Relations of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption, a member of District
Fight Crime Committee, Sai Kung, a member of the finance, audit
and risk committee of Medecins Sans Frontieres (HK) Limited, the
Honorary Auditor of the North Kwai Chung District Scout Council,
Scout Association of Hong Kong, the Honorary Auditor of HK
Connecting Hearts Limited and the President of the Society of
Chinese Accountants & Auditors. Mr. NG was appointed an
independent non-executive director of UNQ Holdings Limited
(listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) in June 2020 with
effect from June 2021. He is currently a Justice of the Peace, a
member of the inaugural Advisory Committee of the Accounting
and Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong and a member of
the Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal of Hong Kong.
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Madam YAN Bilan, aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since March 2024. She is a
member of the Strategy and Investment Committee, the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and the Audit Committee
of the Company. She is a senior engineer at professorial level, and
has been an expert enjoying special government allowances from
the State Council since 2009, and was honoured one of the
“Inaugural Top Ten Outstanding Women in the Building Material
Industry” by the “China Building Materials” Magazine in the same
year. Since 1987, Madam YAN has been working at China Building
Materials Academy Co., Ltd., served successively as the deputy
director of the physics laboratory of the cement institute, the
deputy director of the cement institute, the head of the technology
and development department, the assistant to the president of the
academy, and the deputy president of the academy, and has been
a distinguished professor since July 2020. She is currently the Vice
Chairperson of the National Cement Standardization Technology
Committee and a member in the Inaugural Expert Committee of
the China Building Materials Federation. She was the Secretary
General of the National Cement Standardization Technology
Committee, presiding the preparation of the standardization
development plan of the cement industry and organizing the
formulation and revision of standards of the cement industry. She
also served several positions, including a member of the general
expert group of energy conservation and emission reduction in the
industrial field of the Ministry of Science and Technology of China,
a member of the expert panel for formulating the guidelines for the
national key research and development plan during the “Thirteenth
Five-Year”, a key special general expert member of the key national
"Thirteenth Five-Year” research and development plan on
"Technology Improvement and Industrialization of Key Basic
Materials”, a group member for preparing the “Fourteenth Five-
Year” national science and technology innovation action plan for
carbon peaking and carbon neutrality, and a member of the eighth
Discipline Evaluation Group of the Academic Degrees Committee
of the State Council, presided and participated in the research on
subjects such as the national technology supporting plans during
the “Eleventh Five-Year” and the “Twelfth Five-Year” and the
National 973 Program, and presided the revision of over 30 national
and cement industry standards. Madam YAN obtained a bachelor’s
degree of engineering from the Tongji University, China in 1985
and a professional postgraduate certificate of inorganic non-
metallic materials from the Wuhan University of Technology, China
in 1987, and has over 35 years of experience in the management of
the building materials industry.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 58, has been appointed the Vice
President of the Company since January 2014, responsible for the
management of the West China Region of the Company and
Yunnan Cement & Building Materials Group Co., Ltd. He joined the
Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong), the
Regional General Manager (Fujian), the Chief Logistics Officer, the
Regional General Manager (Yunnan) and the General Manager of
the West China Region. Mr. ZHENG obtained a bachelor's degree
in engineering in 1986 and a master’'s degree in engineering in
1993 from the Wuhan Industrial University (currently known as the
Wuhan University of Technology), China respectively. He has over
30 years of working experience in building materials and cement
industry.

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 55, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020, responsible for the
management of mass work, organization and personnel, and
administrative work of the Company. Mr. LI joined China Resources
Group in September 2002 and had served as the General Manager
of the Strategic Management Department of China Resources
Power as well as the Assistant General Manager of the Strategic
Management Department of CR Holdings. He joined the Group in
January 2014 and had served as the Chief Strategy Officer, the
General Manager of the International Department and the Regional
General Manager (Hainan) of the Company. Mr. LI obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Tianjin University, China
in 1990, a master's degree in industrial engineering from the Hebei
University of Technology, China in 2003 and a master’s degree in
business administration from the China Europe International
Business School, China in 2012. He has over 20 years of experience

in strategic development and corporate management.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 53, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020, responsible for the
management of the Structural Building Materials Business Division
and the Shared Service Centre of the Company. He joined the
Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Chief Logistics Officer, the Deputy General Manager
of the Marketing Department, the Deputy Regional General
Manager (Fujian), the Deputy Regional General Manager (Yunnan),
the Regional General Manager (Guizhou) and the General Manager
of the Structural Building Materials Business Division. Mr. LI
obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics, China in 1992 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2013. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of

experience in financial, marketing and corporate management.

Mr. CAl Xiang, aged 56, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020, responsible for the
management of operations, intelligentization and digitalization and
procurement of the Company. He joined the Group in July 2003
and had served various managerial positions including the Deputy
Regional General Manager (Guangdong), the Regional General
Manager (Guizhou), the Chief Procurement Officer and the Chief
Operating Officer. Mr. CAIl completed an undergraduate
programme in business administration from the Wuhan University
of Technology, China in 2006. He has over 30 years of working
experience in building materials and cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 55, has been appointed the Vice President of the
Company since December 2020, responsible for the management
of marketing, digitalization of marketing models and the Southwest
China Region of the Company. He joined the Group in January
2005 and had served various managerial positions including the
Regional Marketing Controller (Guangdong), the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Guangxi), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Hainan), the Chief Procurement Officer, the Chief Marketing
Officer and the Head of the New Business Office. Mr. LI obtained a
master’'s degree in business administration from the Queen’s
University of Brighton, USA in 2009. He has over 30 years of

experience in marketing and corporate management.
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Mr. CHEN Anguo, aged 44, has been appointed the Vice President
of the Company since July 2023, responsible for the management
of the environmental, health and safety and the Southeast China
Region of the Company and Fujian Building Material (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. CHEN joined China Resources Group in
September 2005 and had served as the General Manager of the
Zhongshan Regional Company, the Deputy General Manager of
the Southwest Region, and the Deputy General Manager of the
West China Region of China Resources Gas Group Limited. Mr.
CHEN obtained undergraduate education in chemical equipment
and machinery from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
(currently known as the Nanjing Tech University), China in 2000 and
obtained a master's degree in engineering from the Nanjing Tech
University, China in 2012. He has over 20 years of experience in

corporate management.

Mr. JIANG Muchuan, aged 52, has been appointed the Vice
President of the Company since July 2023, responsible for the
management of the New Materials Business Division and the
Functional Building Materials Business Division of the Company.
Mr. JIANG joined China Resources Group in January 2009 and had
served as the Deputy General Manager of the Shenzhen Company
of the South China Region, the General Manager of the South
China Region, and the General Manager of the Shenzhen Region of
China Resources Land Limited. Mr. JIANG obtained a bachelor’s
degree in engineering and a master’s degree in engineering from
Tsinghua University, China in 1995 and in 2002 respectively. He has

over 20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. CHANG Yang, aged 41, has been appointed the senior
management of the Company at Vice President level since July
2023, responsible for the management of disciplinary inspection
and investigation of the Company. Mr. CHANG joined China
Resources Group in December 2009 and had served as the Director
of the Disciplinary Inspection and Supervision Office of CR Holdings
and the Vice President of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services
Limited. Mr. CHANG obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics
from the Zhengzhou University, China in 2006 and a master’s
degree in history from the Renmin University of China in 2008. He

has over 10 years of experience in corporate management.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement,
concrete, aggregates and other related products and services.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set

out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on page 156.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.006
per Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$0.009 per Share). The Board declared an interim dividend of
HK$0.041 per Share in cash for 2023 (2022: HK$0.12 per Share) and
the total distribution for the year ended 31 December 2023 will be
HK$0.047 per Share (2022: HK$0.129 per Share).

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
HK$ by default. Shareholders will also be given the option to elect
to receive all or part of the final dividend in RMB, at the benchmark
exchange rate of HK$ to RMB as published by the People’s Bank of
China on the date of the annual general meeting, i.e. Friday, 24
May 2024. If shareholders elect to receive the final dividend in RMB,
shareholders should complete the Dividend Currency Election
Form which is expected to be despatched to shareholders in mid-
June 2024 as soon as practicable after the record date of Friday, 7
June 2024 to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the final
dividend, and lodge it with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26
June 2024.
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Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their
dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should
ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to which the
RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for payment; and (ii)
there is no assurance that RMB cheques can be cleared without
material handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that RMB
cheques will be honoured for payment upon presentation outside
Hong Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to the
relevant shareholders by ordinary post on Wednesday, 17 July 2024

at the shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed Dividend Currency Election Form in respect of
the shareholder is received by the Company’s share registrar by
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 June 2024, such shareholder will
automatically receive the final dividend in HKS$. All dividend
payments in HK$ will be made in the usual way on Wednesday, 17
July 2024.

If shareholders wish to receive the final dividend in HK$ in the usual
way, no additional action is required. Shareholders should seek
professional advice with their own tax advisers regarding the

possible tax implications of the dividend payment.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide returns to
our shareholders. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules,
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Company may declare and pay dividends to our shareholders
provided that such declaration and payment of dividends does not

affect the Group's normal operations.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, among others,
the Group's earnings performance, financial position, liquidity
position, current and future operations, capital requirements, the
interests of our shareholders and any other factors which the Board

deems relevant.

The dividend policy will be continuously reviewed from time to
time. There can be no assurance from the Company that a dividend
will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for any given

periods.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 21 May 2024 to Friday, 24 May 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to determine the identity of members who are
entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to be
held on Friday, 24 May 2024, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 May 2024 with the Company’s
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be
distributed on or about Wednesday, 17 July 2024 to shareholders
of the Company whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company after the close of business of the Company at 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 31 May 2024 and the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 3 June 2024 to Friday, 7
June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates shall be lodged not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 31 May 2024 with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group's development and performance during the year, the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, the material
factors underlying its results and financial position, and the future
development of the Company’s business are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and

Analysis of this annual report.
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In addition, the Group's environmental and social policies and
performance, as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group and the
Company's relationships with its key stakeholders are discussed in
the Sustainability Report and the Corporate Governance Report of

this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 16 and 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in

Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the
Company during the year. Details of the authorized and issued
share capital of the Company for the year are set out in Note 35 to

the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
form of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of
approximately RMB3,373,000 (2022: RMBS5,106,000 (Restated)).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to its existing shareholders.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of
Shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and

there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB4,054.6 million (2022: RMB3,774.0 million (Restated)).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive Directors

JI Youhong (Chairman)
JING Shiging (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed with effect from 18 April 2023)

Non-executive Directors

ZHU Ping

YU Shutian (appointed with effect from 22 September 2023)
ZHOU Bo (appointed with effect from 22 September 2023)
YANG Changyi

CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from 18 August 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

NG Kam Wah Webster

YAN Bilan (appointed with effect from 15 March 2024)
ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from 15 March 2024)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. YU Shutian, Mr. ZHOU Bo and Madam YAN Bilan
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. YANG Changyi, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen and Mr.
SHEK Lai Him Abraham shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen will
not offer himself for re-election. Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen has
confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board and there
are no matters that need to be brought to the attention of the
holders of securities of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Mr.
YANG Changyi and Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, being eligible, will

offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Directors are entitled to fees fixed by the Board under the
authorization of the annual general meeting with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and his duties and responsibilities with
the Company. Each executive Director is entitled to salaries,
allowances and discretionary bonuses determined by the Board
having regard to the Group’s performance, the prevailing market
condition and recommendation made by the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out

in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its parent company, any of its
fellow subsidiaries or its subsidiaries were a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18 or
nominees to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares

in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors, chief executives of the
Company or their associates held certain interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO as follows:

(@) &2 TF (@) The Company
R REBERGH
FRABMERT
EEpE =37} FREEBEROME B3 B9 LBl (32)
(%)
Aggregate long
position in Shares and
underlying Shares to
Name of Director Capacity Number of ordinary Shares held issued Shares (note)
(%)
AERAT BEmEAA 110,000 0.01
JI Youhong Beneficial owner
g BEBERZZEZ=F+-A=+—HB%1T note: Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.
1) 6,982,937,817 5t & -
“EBCZEER
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(b) EBEE (ZR)BRAE (KAFH (b) China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an

B AR B A E) associated corporation of the Company
RS %86
gy O
EREE(ZER)BRATA
B 545 FEEEROBE ERTRM LG (1)
(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares and
underlying shares to
issued shares of
China Resources
Beer (Holdings)

Name of Director Capacity Number of ordinary shares held ~ Company Limited (note)
(%)
TER EHDBEAA 6,000 0.01
YU Shutian Beneficial owner
g REEREE R ERARANR-ZE_Z= note: Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
F+ZA=+—HB BT 3,244,176,905 Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2023.
ARt E

(0 EHEBEEEARQAT(KATW (c) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an

HEEE) associated corporation of the Company
R4 R EE
IR 10 89 5 A AR B
EHBHESEARAF
E=nS -8 FEsEBRROEE ERITRD MG ()
(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares and
underlying shares to
issued shares of
China Resources
Pharmaceutical

Name of Director Capacity Number of ordinary shares held Group Limited (note)
(%)
K EmEE A 350,000 0.01
ZHU Ping Beneficial owner
P BEERBRESEBRARNR-T=F note: Based on 6,282,510,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical
TZA=1+—HB 7k 6,282,510,461 % Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2023.
THE -

EHEMBRERERLAA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is
known to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held
or deemed or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any
Director or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code or which were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded in the
register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executives (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) had, as at 31 December 2023, any interest in, or had been
granted any right to subscribe for the securities and options of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of the

SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the
course of performing their duties. The level of the coverage is

reviewed annually.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the chief executive officer, vice presidents and

chief financial officer of the Company as the senior management.
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HEZT-_=F+-HA=+—HILFE E During the year ended 31 December 2023, total remunerations

NFPUFABRTEENSREEABENES  paid to the senior management who are not executive Directors are
Ban s - as follows:
—E-=F —F-—
2023 2022
AR%FR ARKTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
(FE7))
(Restated)
e MoEEL Salaries and allowances 7,948 8,841
BB TEAL Discretionary bonus 759 9,225
RIS HARREIEAESHK Pension costs and mandatory
provident fund contributions 1,309 1,395
10,016 19,461

HEZZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE I During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remunerations of
FERNTEFNSREEABHEHIN FLL  the senior management who are not executive Directors are within

TEE - the following bands:
AH
Number of individuals
—E-= =
2023 2022
(=E7)
(Restated)
=z AR ¥1,000,0007T Nil-RMB 1,000,000 5 -
AR # 1,000,001 7T E AR ¥ 1,500,000 7T RMB1,000,001-RMB 1,500,000 6 1
AR # 1,500,001 7t = A R % 2,000,000 7T RMB1,500,001-RMB2,000,000 - 1
AR 2,000,001 7T 2 A K # 2,500,000 7T RMB2,000,001-RMB2,500,000 - 6
AR # 2,500,001 7T E= A R 3,000,000 7T RMB2,500,001-RMB 3,000,000 - 1

RAFHREBANSREEAENEREZ WA The biographies of the senior management at the date of this
FREEFLEREEABRBE —EHNEKE - annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executives of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO

as follows:
BEMOE DL
BEERZALERE BA KB %7 8 H (#2)
(%)
Approximate
Long position/ shareholding
Name of interested parties Short Position Number of Shares (note 2)
(%)
REERERAT (1) S} 4,798,453,749 68.72
China Resources Company Limited (note 1) Long position
ERRG (7F71) S} 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRI (note 1) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (3% 1) S} 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC Bluesky Limited (note 1) Long position
8 (K®) (1) S} 4,798,453,749 68.72
CR Holdings (note 1) Long position
FERER KR BRAR (1) S} 4,792,189,749 68.63
CRH (Cement) Limited (note 1) Long position
iF notes:
1. PREEBHBRAFDNERRG ZMEFITREANE 1. China Resources Company Limited is the beneficial owner of the entire issued

5 A A - M1E%E B CRC Bluesky Limited & #5 2 3
TRRAME 25 B A * CRC Bluesky Limited 71 &%
H(EE) 2HBERTRANEREBA - MEH (S
B)AREREECKR)ERAAIREEERAT
2HEBTREANEEEBA - EBHREOKR) A
RAREEFA4792,189, 7495 - IEARARIE
BITIRAL68.63% B BERARANEERA
6,264,000 2115 15 AN A BB 1T A 49 0.09% ©

2. BER-_SE-_=F+-_A=+—BEBTEN
6,982,937,817 &1 -

share capital of CRI, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of
the entire issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial
owner of the entire issued share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited and
Commotra Company Limited. CRH (Cement) Limited directly held 4,792,189,749
Shares representing approximately 68.63% of the issued share capital of the
Company, whereas Commotra Company Limited directly held 6,264,000 Shares
representing approximately 0.09% of the issued share capital of the Company.

2. Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at
31 December 2023, no other person had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the
Company with connected persons during the year, which are
subject to the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the

Listing Rules, are summarized below:

£ A
FRA R
&8 WEE LR
Annual cap
permitted
under the
Amount Listing Rules
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
BERENEELREBERT Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group
BEEN (1) and its associates (note 1) 649,229 1,600,000
BEHRREERBESHEED Procurement of various products from CR
(#%2) Environmental Protection Group (note 2) 111,642 500,000
BEMSENE TR EWKIEH Maximum daily aggregate amount of loans
FEBERE=ERE(GE3) and related interests due from China
Resources Group (note 3) - 1,200,000
REKBEBRITRNDBRAA Maximum daily aggregate amount of
NEREHR=EE deposits with China Resources Bank of
(BIERKAE) (774) Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (inclusive of interests
receivable) (note 4) 351,250 1,300,000
EHMERE(RE)BRAA Maximum daily aggregate principal amount
FRENRERBENEIRS of factoring services offered by China
R 4F (6) Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd. (note 6) 14,000 500,000

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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EmRA
PR #F
=8 WEE LR
Annual cap
permitted
under the
Amount Listing Rules
ARETT ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BE MR EEREE SR Purchase of information technology services
BR7 (£ 7) from CR Digital Group (note 7) 127,150 400,000
mMEEEMEBHEERZEMH Sale of construction materials to CR Land
(:i18) Group (note 8) 185,864 400,000
BEEERNRRERQGRE Purchase of natural gas from Deqing China
KAR(Z9) Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (hote 9) 13,963 50,000
BERENEERBLESER Purchase of integrated energy power from
B (i 10) CR Power Group (note 10) 19,229 130,000
BEHEREEEERESR Purchase of various value-added services
WERE (E11) from CR Mixc Lifestyle Group (note 11) 18,673 50,000
s:t'\' : notes:
1. HENEHEEREBEATBEEE S 1. Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group and its associates

WZZ-_ZTHE+—F+0 AQREEBEHERK
ERARRAEESBEBPENEBREBE AR
WEENII L hE  BREETRAEEHRS (FEH
BENEESEBERRHTETHRE) RREERE
(EHENEESEBERRABEERALEETH
B) HZEZ—F—A—HEZZT=-=F+=A4
=+ RAIAP=F - ZHABEPHRETARTF -
AEREBRFHIVTE—RERNEBRENERES
BHHE  EmMABREAEENEERA - RIR
ZE  AEEEMNEEBRETBRREOHE
AN EREBRIT2E QMG BRLEATFHE
FkET B TERRAEMBYE=FREURZZ
BE - AREN(RE) AR AEBENZERERA
RIRAA R R - BURYE AR A - EHE
NEBRBRARBRARMBEAL - LR S
BRARABBHA-Z-_ZF+—A+THNAE
W

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for the purchase of electricity by
the Group from CR Power Group and its associates, including but not limited to
direct power supply (where CR Power Group or its associates generate the
electricity to be supplied) and agency power supply (where CR Power Group or
its associates purchase the electricity for supply to the Group), for the term of
three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The agreement would
enable the Group to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and
competitive price which is lower than the normal on-grid tariffs, which in turn
reduces operating costs of the Group. Under the agreement, the electricity fees
payable by the Group shall be determined after arm’s length negotiation in
accordance with the relevant policies on power supply system reform of PRC
and its provinces and with reference to prices in the open market, which shall
be no less favourable than the prices for similar transactions with independent
third parties. As CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder of both China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and the Company, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were

disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 10 November 2020.
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China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

Procurement of various products from CR Environmental Protection Group

On 29 December 2022, the Company entered into a procurement framework
agreement with China Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited
for the procurement of products including but not limited to garments, cultural
and promotional products, alternative fuels, energy-saving motors,
consumables and labour protective aids, and products in relation to safety,
health and environmental protection, as well as water treatment, from CR
Environmental Protection Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025. The agreement will enable the Group to secure sources
of the products of reliable quality of a wider variety at fair, reasonable and
competitive prices, with a greater flexibility in the choice of the products. Under
the agreement, the purchase prices and terms of the individual contracts in
respect of each product will be determined after arm'’s length negotiation with
reference to the prevailing market prices of similar products. Such prices and
terms shall be no less favourable than those available from other independent
third-party suppliers. As CR Holdings indirectly holds 100% equity interests in
China Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited, China
Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were
disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 29 December 2022.

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRI

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with CR
Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB and US$, whereby the
interest rate would not be less than the higher of (i) the rate at which CR
Holdings or a corporate borrower of similar standing is able to borrow in Hong
Kong in an amount equal to the relevant advance in the applicable currency
from a bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (ii) the deposit
rate in Hong Kong which could have been obtained from a bank or a financial
institution for such relevant amount and period. On the same day, the Company
entered into an agreement with CRI for loan facilities denominated in RMB
whereby the interest rate would be no less than the higher of (i) the rate at
which CRI or a corporate borrower of similar standing is able to borrow in the
Chinese Mainland in an amount equal to the relevant advance in RMB from a
bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (i) the RMB deposit
rate which could have been obtained from a bank or a financial institution in the
Chinese Mainland for such relevant amount and period. The above two
agreements will provide the Company with greater flexibility in the
management of its surplus cash resources by enabling it to lend a portion of its
surplus cash resources and those of its subsidiaries to other China Resources
Group companies, including CR Holdings and CRI. The terms of the above two
agreements are three years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. Details
of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 30 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023, there was no outstanding
loan or any interest due to the Company under these two Master Lending

Agreements.
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Deposit services, financial products and commercial banking services
provided by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., pursuant to which,
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. shall provide deposit services,
financial products and commercial banking services to the Group, including but
not limited to credit services (such as provision of corporate loans, discounting
of commercial bills, factoring of account receivables, and granting of loans with
account receivables as collaterals), settlement services, agency services, cash
management services, financial consulting services and other financial
businesses as agreed by the parties. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The
strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to enhance its
overall liquidity, optimize its utilization of cash and capital and provide greater
flexibility in cash management for generation of better return on normal
commercial terms and on a scale which will not place the Group's resources at
risk or affect its relationship with other financial institutions. Under the strategic
cooperation agreement, these deposits shall bear the same interests and be on
the same terms and conditions as would apply to similar deposits placed by any
other independent third-party customers of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., which rates shall be determined with reference to the deposit rates
published by the People’s Bank of China, whereas the prices of financial
products and commercial banking services shall be no less favourable as the
applicable prices of similar products and services offered by China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. to its independent third-party customers under the
same conditions. Upon comprehensive consideration of factors including the
amounts of historical transactions, financial management and business needs of
the Group, on 25 October 2021, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps
for maximum daily amounts in relation to the principals and interests receivable
of financial products to be offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. As CRI holds more than 50% of the
equity interests of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the Company'’s
announcements dated 10 November 2020 and 25 October 2021. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had aggregate balance of deposits of
RMB62,996,000 placed with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (inclusive
of interests receivable). During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not use any financial product or commercial banking services provided by
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
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China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

Financial products and trust services provided by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd.

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., pursuant to which,
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. shall provide financial products and trust
services to the Group, including but not limited to provision of cash
management and asset management services, launch of equity cooperation,
consulting and advisory services, and other trust services as agreed by the
parties. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The strategic cooperation agreement
would enable the Group to enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its utilization
of cash and capital and provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return on normal commercial terms and on a scale which
will not place the Group's resources at risk or affect its relationship with other
financial institutions. Under the strategic cooperation agreement, the prices of
financial products and trust services shall be no less favourable as the
applicable prices of similar products and services offered by China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. to its independent third-party customers under the same
conditions. Upon comprehensive consideration of factors including the
amounts of historical transactions, financial management and business needs of
the Group, on 25 October 2021, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps
for maximum daily amounts in relation to the principals and interests receivable
of financial products to be offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. As CRI holds more than 50% of the
equity interests of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 10 November 2020 and 25 October 2021. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not use any financial products or
trust services provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
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Factoring services offered by China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd.

On 25 October 2021, the Company entered into a framework agreement with
China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
RUNXIN Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.), pursuant to which, China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. shall offer factoring services to the
Group, including but not limited to factoring financing, (classified) account
management of sales sub-accounts, collection of accounts receivables, non-
commercial bad debt guarantees, customer credit investigations and
evaluations, and consultation services related to commercial factoring, etc. The
term of the framework agreement was from 25 October 2021 to 31 December
2023. The framework agreement would enable the Group to optimize its asset
structure, accelerate the efficiency of asset turnover, save costs, improve the
efficiency of capital utilization, broaden its financing channels and reduce its
financing costs, which are in line with the Company’s overall development
strategy. Under the framework agreement, any interests, service fees and
commissions to be charged by China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd to the Group shall comply with the relevant charging standards
promulgated by the People’s Bank of China or the China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission (if applicable) for the same type of services from time
to time (if applicable), shall be on normal commercial terms and arrived at upon
arm’s length negotiations by both parties, and shall not be higher than the
rates of interests, service fees and commissions charged by China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd to its independent third-party
customers for the provision of similar services. As China Resources Commercial
Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources
Financing and Leasing Co., Ltd., whose 81.22% equity interests are attributable
to CR Holdings, China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 25 October
2021. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate balance of principals
of RMB 14,000,000 of factoring services offered by China Resources Commercial
Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.
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FEHEMNBEERBRAT
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

Purchase of information technology services from CR Digital Group

On 1 January 2021, China Resources Building Materials Technology Limited
(formerly known as China Resources Cement Investments Limited) entered into
a framework agreement with China Resources Digital Holdings Limited for the
purchase of information technology services by the Group from CR Digital
Group, for a term of one year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. In
view of the Group's continuous promotion of the construction of information
technology, digitalization and intelligentization, on 24 December 2021, the
parties entered into a supplemental agreement to extend the expiry date of
the term of the framework agreement to 31 December 2023 and revise the
annual caps for the framework agreement. The agreements will enable the
Group to procure the information technology services provided by CR Digital
Group to support the Group's business, to ensure a steady source of services
which are of reliable quality, and to support the development within the CR
Digital Group on normal commercial terms and on a scale which will not place
the Group's resources at risk or affect its relationship with other independent
third-party suppliers. The prices of the information technology services shall be
determined on arm'’s length basis through public tender or mutual negotiations
by the parties with reference to the open market prices or quotes from other
independent suppliers of similar services and taking into account the service
level, quality of services as well as other terms such as payment terms and time
required for the provision of services. Such prices shall not be higher than those
offered by other independent third-party suppliers. As China Resources Digital
Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CRI, China Resources Digital
Holdings Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company'’s

announcement dated 24 December 2021.
Sale of construction materials to CR Land Group

On 29 December 2022, the Company entered into a framework agreement with
China Resources Land Limited for the sale of construction materials by the
Group to CR Land Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2025. The original annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2023
set out under the “CR Land 2022-2023 Strategic Procurement Cooperation
Agreement for Engineered Stones Made in China” and “CR Land 2022-2023
Strategic Procurement Cooperation Agreement for Imported Engineered
Stones” dated 20 June 2022 entered into between Shenzhen Runfeng New
Materials Technology Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited had been
superseded by the annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2023
contemplated under the framework agreement. The proactive launch of
strategy cooperation with CR Land Group will be conducive to the rapid
expansion of the Group's business scale and enhancing the popularity and
market reputation of the products and brands of the Group. The parties shall
refer to the prevailing market prices of similar construction materials and
consider the applicable commercial factors such as the scale, formats, uses and
geographical locations of relevant properties, the economies of scale of the
procurement arrangements and the price control rules, regulations and policies
of relevant regions. If there is no comparable price available for specific
construction materials in the market or if the parties are unable to execute the
transaction according to the market price due to special reasons, the parties
have to regard each other as an independent third party and set out terms and
conditions for the transactions based on fair and reasonable principles. As CR
Holdings is a controlling shareholder of both China Resources Land Limited
and the Company, China Resources Land Limited is a connected person under
the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the

Company's announcement dated 29 December 2022.
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Purchase of natural gas from Deqing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.

On 25 May 2023, China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Deging
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources Gas Group Limited, to purchase natural gas for industrial use from
Deging China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. for a term from 25 May 2023 to 31
December 2025 based on the business needs of its project for autoclaved
aerated lightweight concrete blocks and panels. The agreement will ensure a
steady source of natural gas supply of reliable quality. The relevant pricing of
the agreement was determined after arm’s length negotiation at a floating unit
price of the sum of the purchase cost of gas source of Deqing China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. subject to adjustments on monthly basis and the fixed fee of
RMBO0.58/m? (inclusive of tax) for gas distribution. If the actual annual gas
consumption volume fails to reach the corresponding minimum annual gas
consumption volume stipulated in the agreement, China Resources Cement
(Fengkai) Limited should pay compensation for the difference in gas
consumption volume at the fixed unit price of RMB0.58/m?®. As CR Holdings is a
controlling shareholder of both China Resources Gas Group Limited and the
Company, China Resources Gas Group Limited and Deging China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 May 2023.

Purchase of integrated energy power from CR Power Group

On 8 November 2023, the Company and China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited entered into a framework agreement in relation to the
cooperation on integrated energy projects, pursuant to which, for a term from 8
November 2023 to 31 December 2024, CR Power Group shall supply power and
provide integrated energy services to the Group from the photovoltaic power
station facilities installed on the rooftops, idle lands and relevant storage and
operation space of the Group, based on the peak-to-trough price difference of
the Group's power consumption throughout the whole day and in accordance
with energy consumption needs and conditions of the Group. The agreement
would enable the Group to explore the use of integrated energy in line with the
Chinese government's policy of “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality” and to
secure stable and satisfactory supply of integrated energy services from CR
Power Group. The pricing policy shall be based on the market prices
determined by ascertaining the prevailing prices at which the same or similar
type of products or services are provided by or to or between independent
third parties under normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of business,
in each case taking into account the relevant policies and regulations of PRC
and provincial power system reformation and the configuration, cost, profit,
resources, experience, quality assurance requirements and technical solutions
of relevant parties. As CR Holdings is a controlling shareholder of both China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and the Company, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were

disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 November 2023.
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China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

Purchase of various value-added services from CR Mixc Lifestyle Group

On 29 December 2023, the Company and China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited entered into a framework agreement, whereby CR Mixc
Lifestyle Group shall provide the Group with various value-added services such
as corporate administrative services, integrated services in park areas,
maintenance and repairs of construction in park areas, outsourced labour
services, staff living services, brokerage and asset services, merchandise
procurement and retail services, for a term from 29 December 2023 to 31
December 2025. The agreement will enable the Group to obtain stable and
reliable value-added services at fair, reasonable and competitive prices, reduce
the Group's staffing and operating costs, and bring operational convenience to
the Group. The relevant transaction terms shall be determined after arm'’s
length negotiations with reference to (i) the scopes and standards of the
services to be provided; (i) type, location and area of the properties; (iii) the
expected operating costs of providing relevant services (including, among
others, labour costs, material costs and administrative costs); and (iv) the prices
that the Group usually pays to the independent third-parties for similar services
and the prices that CR Mixc Lifestyle Group usually charges to independent
third-parties for similar services. From the perspective of each party, the
transaction terms shall be no less favourable than those offered by the other
party to independent third-parties or by independent third-parties to the other
party. If there are governmental indicators applicable to any charges for the
value-added services, the relevant charges shall be set according to the
applicable governmental indicators or guidance prices. As CR Holdings is a
controlling shareholder of both China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
and the Company, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29
December 2023.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the

transactions have been entered into:
a.  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
b.  onnormal commercial terms or better; and

c.  according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, KPMG, our independent auditor, issued
an assurance report on the above continuing connected

transactions with the following conclusion:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions

have not been approved by the Board,;

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance

with the pricing policies of the Group;

c.  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

and

d.  with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing
connected transactions set out in the above list of continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the caps as set by the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions with
certain associates or certain joint ventures of the Company as
disclosed in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected

transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Company confirms that it has complied with the relevant

requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's

total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 31.0%
of the Group's total purchases, and the purchases attributable to
the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 18.8% of
the Group's total purchases. Among the five largest suppliers, two
were the joint ventures of the Group. Save as disclosed above, so
far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, any of their
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) nor any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any direct or indirect
interests in the Group's five largest suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2023.

SHARE SCHEMES

During the year or at the end of the year, the Company and its
principal subsidiaries did not have any share option schemes or

share award schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 98 to
146 of this annual report.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the

Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results and its assets and liabilities for

the past five years is set out on page 272.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been
audited by KPMG. A resolution will be submitted at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint

KPMG as independent auditor of the Company.

Ernst & Young retired as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from the close of the annual general meeting held on 25
May 2023. The appointment of KPMG as the new independent
auditor of the Company was approved by shareholders at the same

meeting.

By Order of the Board

JI Youhong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and
maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and
have adopted the principles of the CG Code in the construction of
our corporate governance code. The Board believes that effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing
shareholder value and safeguarding interests of our shareholders
and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted
sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on the
quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal
control, stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and

accountability to all stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had
complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,

except for the deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

During the year, the Company has complied with the applicable
CG Code except that, during the period from 1 January 2023 to 18
April 2023, the roles of chairman and chief executive should not be
performed by the same individual in respect of code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code. As set forth in the Corporate Governance Report
of the 2022 Annual Report of the Company, the Company has
identified suitable candidate of the Chief Executive Officer with
appropriate professional qualifications or relevant expertise, and
announced on 18 April 2023 that Mr. JI Youhong ceased to act as
the Chief Executive Officer and Mr. JING Shiging has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director.
Hence, the Company has been in compliance with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code since 18 April 2023.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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DEALINGS OF DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Upon specific enquiries made
by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company's code of conduct regarding their securities transactions
during 2023.

In addition, the Company has established written guidelines no less
exacting than the Model Code in respect of dealings in the
Company's securities of relevant employees of the Group who are
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group or the

Company's securities because of such office or employment.

THE BOARD
Composition

The Board serves as the major decision-making body of the
Company, plays the roles of “formulating strategies, making
decisions and preventing risks”, and is responsible for shaping and
monitoring the Company’s culture. The key duties and powers of
the Board include making decisions on medium to long term
development, appointing the senior management, evaluating the
performance of the senior management, managing the
remunerations of the senior management, managing the allocation
of remunerations of the employees and managing material financial
matters. The Directors are accountable for promoting the success
of the Company and making decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors should be held
accountable for their actions or inactions, and where appropriate,
take the shareholders’ and stakeholders’ views into account in their

decisions.
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The operation and management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business should be clearly divided
at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one
individual. In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as
flexibility and swiftness in the day-to-day operational management,
to the extent permitted by applicable laws, rules, regulations, the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of the Company and
upon integrating the actual circumstances of the Company, the
Board has formulated the delegation management policy and the
list of delegated matters to delegate some of its duties and powers
to the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer for
decision making in the Chairman’s themed meetings and the Chief
Executive Officer's meetings respectively. In accordance with the
principle of unification of quality and efficiency of decision-making,
the policy clearly sets forth the Board's principles of delegation,
scopes of delegated matters, management mechanism, conditions
to delegation and other requirements based on operating
management status, scale of assets and liabilities and quality of
assets, business loading capacity and risk control capabilities, and
distinguishes the scopes of decision-making powers among the
Board, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board may reserve necessary powers and require the delegees
to regularly report to the Board on the execution of relevant
delegated powers. Upon review on the execution of delegated
powers, the Board may from time to time dynamically adjust the
limits and requirements for delegation to ensure reasonable,

scientific and effective delegation.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
Currently, the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors represent a majority of the Board, which helps
to enhance the Board's diversity of perspectives, ensures the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make

independent judgments effectively.

100 China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
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Since 2023, the following changes to members of the Board and its
committees took place. With effect from 18 April 2023, Mr. JING
Shiging was appointed as an executive Director and a member of
the Strategy and Investment Committee. With effect from 18
August 2023, Mr. CHEN Kangren retired as a non-executive
Director, a member of the Strategy and Investment Committee, a
member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and a
member of the Risk and Compliance Committee. With effect from
22 September 2023, (1) Mr. YU Shutian was appointed as a non-
executive Director, a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee; and (2) Mr. ZHOU Bo was appointed as a non-
executive Director, a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee and a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee.
With effect from 15 March 2024, (1) Madam ZENG Xuemin retired
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the
Strategy and Investment Committee, a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee; and (2) Madam YAN Bilan was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Strategy and
Investment Committee, a member of the Remuneration and

Appraisal Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised ten Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. JI Youhong
(Chairman) and Mr. JING Shiging (Chief Executive Officer); four
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. YU Shutian, Mr.
ZHOU Bo and Mr. YANG Changyi; and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK
Lai Him Abraham, Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster and Madam YAN

Bilan.

The independent non-executive Directors represents at least one
third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. A description of the
Directors is set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management Section on pages 58 to 74 and on the

Company's website.
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Culture

On the basis of the "Fourteenth Five-Year” China Resources
Corporate Culture System, the Company continued to deepen
corporate culture construction and strengthen corporate culture
management. The Strategy and Investment Committee is tasked
with studying, refining and making recommendation for the Board’s
consideration on corporate culture, the Company’s own philosophy,
visions and missions. In response to the Group's “Fourteenth Five-
Year” strategic development plan, during 2021, the Group
reorganized its businesses into four business segments, namely,
basic building materials, structural building materials, functional
building materials and new materials. Since 2022, the Group had
actively seized opportunities and achieved breakthroughs in the
four business segments, and the proportion of non-cement
business had been increasing in the past few years. Upon the
recommendation of the Risk and Compliance Committee, the
Board considered that “cement” can no longer fully cover all
business types of the Group and proposed to change the name of
the Company from China Resources Cement Holdings Limited to
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited.
In the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
October 2023, a special resolution was passed to approve the
change of the name of the Company, which had become effective
on 3 November 2023. Upon the change of the name of the
Company, the name and scope of business of the Company will be
aligned for the accurate interpretation of the Company's
positioning and better reflection of its corporate vision. During the
year, the Board had ensured that the Company’s purpose, values
and strategies were aligned with its corporate culture. All Directors
act with integrity, lead by example, and promote the desired
corporate culture. The Company instils and continually reinforces
such culture across the organization values of acting lawfully,

ethically and responsibly.

102 China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



EERE EERBE

BEEHE BARAEZIEXNRBEL
FIRERMZENTIZHRRNEGN 28ES
WESEEH HEREFARBARAFEZE
RABRIE 61BN BRBFEAG LEXERE
ERZAEINEB=FHE R RETEFA
EREBE MRBRRBFAE L BERE
BERNRERIRZEREFETT - B TR
HEBEHEZEAMNEL NEZREL
ZRCBREANHREBZESYE MEEL
MEZRERE REAQXFEESEMRE
16206 EAEEERMLZEEET 2EH
EEARBTERRBFASRIL  ERA
Re LB&ET-

B

EZIMAZESZRE HFEFHKRE—NHE
ERIIME EENAAKENEL S
MBRE 2FDAENE FEBERS
ERXBELRNL RREERANEZESR-
ZMEMTEBRERBRMN BEEFNMKRE
SeBu tRENZAR LEERI#EE
ERATTIENSETH (EFERESFD
XeatEs) (EFEREFIHED  FESG
THEMERE AEMES M) & GERRELIF
HWTEF)(BULIFNTES: ACHRER
M AEAFBARGEMENENCESTE
E3E3l) - WER2N—AEREFIIRIE - A
EEITIREEBREIEG  EBE LW
MAUREMEERE THEFEET -

EXEARE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with
the Company setting out key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Although all Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, they are subject to re-election by shareholders at
annual general meetings and at least about once every three years
on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-
election and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general
meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are identified, selected
and recommended to the Board by the Nomination Committee as
more fully explained below under the section on Nomination
Committee. Any Director(s) so appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting
in accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the

Company.

Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the new Directors receive a
package of orientation materials with a comprehensive induction to
the Group's historical development, organizational structure,
corporate governance policies, annual business plans, general
information on businesses and operations, risk management and
internal control systems. The package also includes the links to
various e-training for directors offered on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute,
the Model Code, the “Corporate Governance Guide for Boards
and Directors”, the "Guide for Board and Directors: Leadership
Role and Accountability in ESG"” and (where applicable to
independent non-executive Directors) “A Snapshot of INED's Roles
and Responsibilities” issued by the Stock Exchange, and “A Guide
on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong. They also attend a formal training programme to have a full
and proper understanding on director’s duties under statutes,

common law, the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.
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The Company encourages all Directors to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company arranges in-house trainings for Directors in
the form of seminar and reading materials on a regular basis to
ensure that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the
commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which the Group
conducts its businesses. In addition, all Directors are provided with
information on monthly financial updates of the Company to enable

the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

From time to time, the Board arranges visits for a deeper
understanding of the Group’s business operations and matters
which could have significant effect or impact on the Group’s
business. In 2023, the Directors actively participated in the study
visits of the Group.

In April 2023, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG
Changyi had a four-day visit in Fujian, China. During the visit of
Fujian Building Material (Holding) Company Limited and the
cement production plants of its associates, the Directors obtained
an understanding of the business environment in Southeast China,
research and development of special types of cement such as
cement for marine engineering, aggregates projects, photovoltaic

power generation projects and utilization of new materials.

In May 2023, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Madam ZENG Xuemin and
Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, accompanied by Mr. JI Youhong, had a
four-day visit in Hunan, China. During the visit of Hunan Liangtian
Cement Co., Ltd., the Directors obtained an understanding of the
business environment in Southern China, the technological
upgrade project of the new dry-process cement and clinker
production line and the limestone aggregates project of the Group.
They also exchanged ideas with senior and middle-level managerial
staff of the company on future business development, production

safety, green development and talent cultivation.
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In June 2023, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG
Changyi had a six-day visit in Guizhou, China. During the visit of the
Group's cement production plants and integrated aggregates and
concrete project in Anshun and Jinsha, the Directors obtained an
understanding of the supply-demand status in the vicinity and the
synergistic integrated business models between cement,
aggregates and concrete. They also exchanged ideas on enhancing
market share, mining resource reserves, production safety and

collaboration with China Resources Group.

In August 2023, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG
Changyi had a nine-day visit in Guangxi, China. During the visit of
China Resources Cement (Tianyang) Limited, China Resources
Cement (Guigang) Limited and China Resources Cement (Pingnan)
Limited, the Directors obtained an understanding on the progress
of the construction of intelligent “Lighthouse Factory”, aggregates
projects, 5G intelligent piers and integrated industrial park, as well
as research and development of alternative fuel feeding system.
They also exchanged ideas on intelligentized development,
enhanced cooperation with the government, integrated business

development and production safety.

In October 2023, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. YU Shutian and Mr. ZHOU Bo
had a three-day visit at Shandong Runhe New Material Co., Ltd.,
Runhe (Feixian) New Material Co., Ltd. and Runhe (Lanling) New
Material Co., Ltd. in Shandong, China. In the same month, Mr.
YANG Changyi had a three-day visit at the intelligent inorganic
engineered stone production line project of Laibin Universal
Classical Material Ltd. in Guangxi, China. During the visits, the
Directors obtained an understanding of the business environment
in Northern China, the strategic layout and development of
functional building materials business of the Group. They also
exchanged ideas on enhancing market share, corporate

governance and integration of the newly acquired subsidiaries.
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In November 2023, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. YU Shutian, Mr. ZHOU Bo
and Mr. YANG Changyi had a six-day visit in Yunnan, China. During
the visit of Yunnan Cement & Building Materials Group Co., Ltd.
and the cement production plants of its subsidiaries and associates,
the Directors obtained an understanding of the business
environment in West China and the synergistic integrated business
models between cement, aggregates and concrete. They also
exchanged ideas on the “four reinventions”, benchmarking against
leading cement enterprises in the region, cost reduction and

increasing market share.

In addition, in August 2023, two executive Directors, namely, Mr. JI
Youhong and Mr. JING Shiging, three non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG Changyi,
and four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu
Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin
and Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster attended a training seminar on the
"State-owned Enterprise Compliance Management System
Construction”. During 2023, the aforesaid Directors and the new
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. YU Shutian and Mr. ZHOU Bo,
read and studied numerous continuous professional development
materials such as the Listed Issuer Regulation Newsletters and the
Enforcement Bulletins published by the Stock Exchange, and

information relevant to the Company or its business.
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Independence

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the annual review of
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
according to the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
relevant members of the Nomination Committee did not
participate in the review of their own independence. For a Director
to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee and the
Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will not have
any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
addition, save as disclosed in their biographical details, each of the
independent non-executive Directors had confirmed to the
Company in writing that, during 2023, (i) they did not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO; (ii)
they had no other relationships with any directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company; (iii) they did not hold any other position with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iv) there were no changes of
circumstances which may affect their independence as independent
non-executive Directors as regards each of the factors referred to in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; (v) they did not have any past or
present financial or other interest in the business of the Company
or its subsidiaries or any connection with any core connected
person (as such term is defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company; (vi) there were no other factors that may affect their
independence since their appointment; and (vii) there was no other
information to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of
Rule 3.13, Rule 3.14 nor Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. In order
to prevent bias in the decision-making by the independent non-
executive Directors or compromise on their objectivity and
independence, the Company pays director’s fees at a fixed amount
to the independent non-executive Directors, and without granting
any equity-based remuneration (such as share options or grants)

with performance-related elements.

Notwithstanding that Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Madam ZENG Xuemin have served as independent
non-executive Directors for over nine years, they did not participate
in the day-to-day management of the Company. The Nomination
Committee and the Board are satisfied that, as well proven by the
independent, impartial and ethical judgment and advice given by
them over the years, they have the required integrity,
independence and experience and bring views and contribute to
the Board in the interests of all shareholders to fulfil their roles as

independent non-executive Directors.
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Before her appointment became effective, on 15 March 2024,
Madam YAN Bilan had obtained the legal advice from a firm of
solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules and had confirmed that she understood
her obligations as an independent non-executive Director, the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as
an independent non-executive Director and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false

information to the Stock Exchange.

Upon comprehensive review of the overall contribution and service
of each independent non-executive Director to the Company, and
based on the review results of the Nomination Committee, the
Board still considered all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

The Company has established various different channels to
encourage independent non-executive Directors to express their
comments in an open and honest manner and, if necessary, in a
confidential manner. During the year, the Chairman of the Board
held at least one meeting with all the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to promote an
open and active discussion culture, foster effective contributions of
the independent non-executive Directors to the Board, maintain a
constructive relationship, and ensure availability of independent
views and input of the independent non-executive Directors to the
Board. In 2023, all the independent non-executive Directors
devoted sufficient time to fulfil their duties and responsibilities by
actively participating in each major decision-making of the Board,
listening to reports and audit of financial reports on a regular basis,
and fully expressing independent, constructive and informed
opinions and views to the Company, the Board and its committees,
which had played an important role in the Company'’s standardized
operation, made positive contributions to the development of the
Company's strategy and policies, and fully safeguarded the
interests of independent shareholders and stakeholders as a whole.
Upon comprehensive review of all relevant circumstances, the
Board considered that such mechanism and its implementation was

effective during the year.
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Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. Between scheduled meetings, the senior management
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the
activities and development in the businesses of the Group. The
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice at all times whenever considered

necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
receive written notice and an agenda of the meeting at least
fourteen days in advance, and obtain Board papers on the
Company'’s online meeting management system no less than three
days prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given
as much advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company, a Director who has a
material interest in any contract, transaction, arrangement or any
other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for consideration
shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution and such

Director shall not be counted for quorum determination purposes.

Each Director may propose agenda for the Board meetings, and
have separate and independent access to the senior management
to seek further information or make enquiries. The Company shall
make prompt and full responses to the Directors if possible. Where
necessary, all Directors may have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary or seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances upon reasonable request at the
Company's expense to ensure that applicable laws, rules,
regulations, the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the
Company, the meeting procedures of the Board and other

requirements are followed.

S
Annual Report 2023

109



EXEARE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RZEBEZ=F ZEFERBVITTNRKEFHE % During 2023, nine meetings were held by the Board. The
EERMNEREEROAT attendances at these meetings are as follows:
HE BT
BERRE
Meetings
Attended/Held
HITES Executive Directors
BRAL JI'Youhong 9/9
SEER-ZE-=FWH+AEZF) JING Shiging (appointed with effect from
18 April 2023) 717
FHITES Non-executive Directors
K ZHU Ping 9/9
FHRRZ-ZFZ=FNA-_T—HAEZ) YU Shutian (appointed with effect from
22 September 2023) 2/2
BE(R-ZFE-_ZFAA-F+-HEZT) ZHOU Bo (appointed with effect from
22 September 2023) 2/2
BER YANG Changyi 9/9
BREC(R=ZZF==FNHA+/HREE) CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from
18 August 2023) 6/6
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
i) IP Shu Kwan Stephan 8/9
BEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 9/9
RN -_F-_MF=H+HHRE) ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from
15 March 2024) 9/9
RigE NG Kam Wah Webster 9/9
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The matters considered and approved in the Board meeting held
in 2023 mainly include changes of Directors, members of Board
committees and the senior management; proposal to the general
meetings for distribution of final dividend, re-election of Directors,
change of independent auditor, change of Company name and
amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company; amendments to the terms of reference for Board
committees and various basic management policies; the Fourteenth
Five-Year interim strategy review report; annual business plan
(inclusive of annual work report of the Chief Executive Officer,
annual investment plan and annual financial budget), annual
financing plan, annual financing guarantee plan and its
adjustments, annual donation plan, annual audit project plan and
its adjustments, the Board’s annual work plan and annual work
report, annual post-investment evaluation report, annual internal
audit work conclusion report and rectification work report, internal
audit rectification plan and its adjustments, five-year internal audit
plan for economic responsibility, proposals for annual budget and
final accounts of total remunerations; legal and compliance annual
work report, internal control system annual work report, risk
management annual work report; audit approach and audit plan of
the new independent auditor; publication of annual report for 2022,
sustainability report for 2022, interim report for 2023, the first and
third quarterly results announcements in 2023; distribution of
interim dividend; appraisal results of operating performance in
2022, bonus distribution proposal for 2022, operating performance
pledge in 2023, and adjustments of the operating performance
pledge in 2022 and proposal for tenure-based appraisal and
evaluation of the executive Directors and the senior management;
remunerations of independent non-executive Directors and the
independent auditor; feasibility reports of certain capital
expenditure projects, financing to certain non-wholly owned
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, and certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group; changes of the authorised
signatories for the bank accounts, offshore bank loans, dividend
warrants and share certificates of the Company; review on the
shareholders’ communication policy, the Board diversity policy,
independence of independent non-executive Directors, the Board's
oversight on ESG issues and the progress of relevant goals and
targets, effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and
internal control systems; as well as reports on the matters decided
by Chairman’s themed meetings and Chief Executive Officer’s
meetings under the Board's delegation and the execution status of

the Board’s resolutions, etc.
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities helps to reinforce their
independence and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for
providing leadership to, and overseeing the Board's functions of
“formulating strategies, making decisions and preventing risks” to
ensure that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The Chairman is also
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each
Board meeting upon considering, where appropriate, matters
proposed by the other Directors and the Company Secretary. With
the support of the Board Office and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman strives to ensure that all Directors are properly informed
of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely manner
with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete and

reliable.

The Chairman also takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established, and encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and take the lead to ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Group. Directors with
different views are encouraged to voice their concerns, with
sufficient time allowed for discussion of issues to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. A culture of openness and
debate is promoted by facilitating the effective contribution of non-
executive Directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations
between executive and non-executive Directors. The Chairman
holds physical meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors not less than
once a year. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures
and has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication
with shareholders and other stakeholders and to communicate

shareholders’ views to the Board as a whole.
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In addition, according to the delegation management policy of the
Board, the Chairman may execute some of the duties and powers
of the Board within the scope of delegation. The decision-making
matters delegated by the Board to the Chairman shall generally be
studied and discussed collectively in the Chairman’s themed
meetings. The Chairman shall report to the Board on the execution
of delegated powers on a regular basis, and important matters shall

be reported in a timely manner.

When the Chairman is on leave and the normal functions of the
Chairman cannot be carried out, the Board may choose another
Director to take the role as the acting Chairman until the Chairman
resumes carrying out his normal duties or a new Chairman has been
elected and appointed by the Board, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of

the Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the senior
management of the Company to serve the roles of operational
management in “making operating plans, seeing to their

implementation and strengthening management”.

The Chief Executive Officer executes the duties and powers
required by the Articles of Association of the Company, including
but not limited to the management of day-to-day operations of the
Company, preparation of operating plans, and formulation of
specific policies and systems. In addition, according to the
delegation management policy of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer may execute some of the duties and powers of the Board
within the scope of delegation. The decision-making matters
delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive Officer shall
generally be studied and discussed collectively in the Chief
Executive Officer’s meetings, and the Chief Executive Officer shall
report to the Board on the execution of delegated powers on a

regular basis.
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining
the operational performance of the Group. He also works with the
Chief Financial Officer and the senior management and presents
annual business plan, annual investment plan, annual financial
budget plan, annual financing plan and annual guarantee plan to
the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures that the
Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to the
funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the
funding requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating
and financial results of the businesses against the relevant plans
and budgets, and takes remedial action if necessary. He
communicates regularly with the Chairman and all Directors to
keep them fully informed of all major business development and

issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee (formerly known as the
Remuneration Committee prior to 18 March 2022) and the Audit
Committee on 2 September 2009, the Risk and Compliance
Committee (formerly known as the Corporate Governance
Committee prior to 18 March 2022) on 29 February 2012, and the
Strategy and Investment Committee on 18 March 2022.

According to the Listing Rules and their terms of reference, each
Board committee reports its recommendations to the Board and
maintains effective and constructive communications with the
Board to assist the Board in making scientific decisions and
enhance the Board's work efficiency. Each Board committee is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where
necessary, each Board committee may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon reasonable

request at the Company’s expense.
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STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Since 2023, the following changes to members of the Strategy and
Investment Committee have taken place. With effect from 18 April
2023, Mr. JING Shiging was appointed as a member of the Strategy
and Investment Committee. With effect from 18 August 2023, Mr.
CHEN Kangren retired as a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee. With effect from 22 September 2023, Mr. YU Shutian
and Mr. ZHOU Bo were appointed as members of the Strategy and
Investment Committee. With effect from 15 March 2024, (1) Madam
ZENG Xuemin retired as a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee; and (2) Madam YAN Bilan was appointed as a member
of the Strategy and Investment Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Strategy and Investment Committee comprises two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. JI Youhong and Mr. JING Shiging,
four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. YU
Shutian, Mr. ZHOU Bo and Mr. YANG Changyi, and an independent
non-executive Director, Madam YAN Bilan, and is chaired by Mr. JI
Youhong.

The terms of reference for the Strategy and Investment Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The duties of the Strategy and Investment
Committee include but are not limited to: studying and making
recommendations to the Board on the strategic plans, operating
plans, investment plans, investment and disposal projects, annual
post-investment evaluation report of the Company, the formulation,
amendment and review of the primary management policies in
terms of strategic management and investment management,
shaping and refining corporate culture, the Company’s own

philosophy, systemic visions, missions and values, etc.
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During 2023, four meetings were held by the Strategy and
Investment Committee to consider and make recommendations to
the Board on the Fourteenth Five-Year interim strategy review
report, feasibility reports of certain capital expenditure projects,
annual post-investment evaluation report, annual business plan
(inclusive of annual work report of the Chief Executive Officer,
annual investment plan and annual financial budget), and
amendments to the investment management policy of the

Company. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT
BERE
Meetings
Attended/Held
HBRAL JI' Youhong 4/4
SEER-ZE-=FWAH+\AEZF) JING Shiging (appointed with effect from
18 April 2023) 4/4
K ZHU Ping 4/4
THRR-ZEZ=ZFNAZF—HEZF) YU Shutian (appointed with effect from
22 September 2023) 11
BAER-ZFEZ=FAA-+T-HEZF) ZHOU Bo (appointed with effect from
22 September 2023) 11
HBRR YANG Changyi 4/4
Be(R—ZE—mFE=/A+7AHRET) ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from
15 March 2024) 4/4
MEC(RZZFE-_=FNA+/HRT) CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from
18 August 2023) 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, Mr. JI Youhong, one non-executive
Director, Mr. ZHU Ping, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, and is chaired by Mr. Jl
Youhong. The majority of its members are independent non-

executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

According to the Board diversity policy, appointment of Directors
shall adhere to both the high standard of moral integrity and
competence and the principles of diversity. Directors of different
ages and length of service shall form a diverse Board, and the
proportion of female members in the Board shall be gradually
increased upon due consideration of the actual circumstances of
the Company to secure scientific decision-making of the Board and
facilitate the Company to maintain its core competitiveness and
sustainable development. The Nomination Committee reviews the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity) of the Board annually, and makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new
Directors. The scope of Board diversity includes professional
background, talents, skills, knowledge, regional and industrial
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, length of service, the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, etc., and any other qualities which the Board or
the Nomination Committee determine to supplement or expand

from time to time.

Upon the review and recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, the Board considered the Board diversity policy and its

implementation to be effective during the year.

In addition, the Nomination Committee formulates measurable
objectives for Board diversity and its timetable for implementation
on an annual basis and makes recommendations to the Board. As
of the end of 2023 and as at the date of this report, there was 1
female among 10 Directors, which had achieved gender diversity of
the Board members; and female employees (including senior
management) represented approximately 17.3% in the workforce of
the Company. In 2024, the number of female Director and the
female gender ratio in the workforce (including senior

management) are targeted to remain unchanged.
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The female gender ratio in the workforce is relatively low in general
in the building materials industry which the Group operates. The
Company attaches great importance to gender diversity and
continues to strive for a higher female gender ratio in the workforce
by caring for its female employees through strict implementation of
provisions on maternity and breastfeeding leave for female
employees and organizing various forms of expert lectures and
recreational activities to care for the physical and mental health of
female employees to safeguard the equal levels of remuneration
and benefits and career development opportunities of female

employees and improve their happiness and sense of gain.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to

select and recommend suitable candidates of directorship.

In assessing the suitability of a candidate as Director, the
Nomination Committee would consider character and integrity;
qualities in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional and
educational qualifications, skills, knowledge, expertise, experience
and accomplishment that are relevant to the Group's business and
corporate strategy; commitment to devote adequate time to
effectively discharge duties as a member of the Board and relevant
Board committees; requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules; the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board; and such other perspectives applicable to the Group.
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive.
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The Nomination Committee shall identify and select candidates as
Directors pursuant to the criteria as set out above, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate
the candidates, which may include personal interviews, background
checks, presentations or written submissions by the candidates and

third party references.

A shareholder may also propose a person for election as a Director,
details of which are set out in the section on procedures for
shareholders to nominate a person for election as a Director of this
report. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the

general meeting (if applicable).

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Directors and determine
whether the retiring Directors continues to meet the criteria as set
out above. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendations to shareholders in respect of the proposed

re-election of Directors at the general meeting.

In addition, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of

the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management.
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In 2023, seven meetings were held by the Nomination Committee
to make recommendations to the Board on changes of Directors,
members of the Board committees and the senior management,
and re-election of Directors; review the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; review the Board diversity policy, its
implementation and effectiveness, the numerical targets and
timelines for gender diversity; assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and time spent by non-
executive Directors in fulfilling their duties. The attendances at

these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

ERRE

Meetings

Attended/Held

WAL JI'Youhong 7/7
K ZHU Ping 7/7
s g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 6/7
BEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 717
RipE NG Kam Wah Webster 7/7
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Since 2023, the following changes to members of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee have taken place. With effect from 18
August 2023, Mr. CHEN Kangren retired as a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. With effect from 22
September 2023, Mr. YU Shutian was appointed as a member of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. With effect from 15
March 2024, (1) Madam ZENG Xuemin retired as a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee; and (2) Madam YAN Bilan
was appointed as a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee comprises one non-executive Director, Mr.
YU Shutian, and all the independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Mr.
NG Kam Wah Webster and Madam YAN Bilan, and is chaired by
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham. The majority of its members are

independent non-executive Directors.
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The terms of reference for the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The duties of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee include but are not limited to: consulting the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer about
the remuneration proposals for other executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
remunerations of all Directors and the senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of Directors; considering
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group; reviewing and approval of compensation payable to
executive Directors and the senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment, and compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct and ensuring that such arrangements are reasonable
and appropriate; reviewing matters relating to share option
schemes and share award schemes of the Company and/or its
principal subsidiaries as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules (if any) and making recommendations to the Board and/or
the general meeting; organizing and making recommendations to
the Board on the formulation of primary human resources
management policies, rules on operating performance appraisals
and rules on the management of remuneration of the senior
management of the Company, as well as the establishment of
comprehensive constraint mechanisms; and organizing and
launching operating performance appraisals on the senior
management, and making recommendations to the Board on the

appraisal results and proposals for remuneration allocation.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation
made by the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, the duties
and responsibilities of the individual with the Company, the
Company's performance and market situation. Executive Directors,
senior management and other employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual. Independent non-executive Directors are paid director’s
fees at a fixed amount without any equity-based remuneration (such

as share options or grants) with performance-related elements.
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RZBEZ=F FWEEZZESRIT TN In 2023, four meetings were held by the Remuneration and

ReFk NEFRERIELEFEEE Appraisal Committee to make recommendations to the Board on
REFTR -BIFNTEEOETM - $17¥E  proposals for annual budget and final accounts of total
EREBEN T __FELEEBEFTES  remunerations, remuneration of independent non-executive
R B —FEESEWMIE T == Directors, appraisal results of operating performance in 2022,

FEREXEBEEZHIRUARZZ ZZFEHLK  bonus distribution proposal for 2022, and operating performance
BEEEZHTERTABZZAETR2F  pledge in 2023, and adjustments of the operating performance
B -ZEGROLREBRAT : pledge in 2022 and proposal for tenure-based appraisal and

evaluation of the executive Directors and the senior management.

Attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

BERE

Meetings

Attended/Held

Vaki L SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4/4
THRR=ZZF=Z=FNA=F+=HEZF) YU Shutian (appointed with effect from

22 September 2023) 11

01 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4
BR(R-_FE-_MF=A+HHRE) ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from

15 March 2024) 4/4

RipEE NG Kam Wah Webster 4/4
BREC(R=ZF==FNHA+/HREE) CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from

18 August 2023) 3/3
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Since 2023, the following changes to members of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee have taken place. With effect from 15
March 2024, (1) Madam ZENG Xuemin retired as a member of the
Audit Committee; and (2) Madam YAN Bilan was appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee. As at the date of this report, the
Audit Committee comprises one non-executive Director, Mr. YANG
Changyi, and all the independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Mr. NG Kam
Wah Webster and Madam YAN Bilan, and is chaired by Mr. NG
Kam Wah Webster. The majority of its members are independent

non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:
reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; discussing issues and qualifications
arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditor may wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the
Group's financial statements, annual reports and accounts, half-
year reports and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them; reviewing the
Group's financial reporting system; reviewing the whistle-blowing
policy and monitoring its effectiveness; ensuring that the
accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions are
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness; reviewing
the Company'’s financial controls, implementing the responsibilities
for financial risk management and control, and standardizing the

decision-making of material financial matters.

Upon the review and recommendation of the Audit Committee, the
Board considered the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well as those relating
to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting, to be adequate
during the year.
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In 2023, seven meetings were held by the Audit Committee to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the financial
statements and results announcements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the three months ended 31 March 2023,
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the nine months ended 30
September 2023, annual report 2022, interim report 2023,
distribution of interim and final dividends, annual financial budget,
annual financing plan, annual financing guarantee plan and its
adjustments, annual donation plan, the five-year plan of the fully-
covered economic auditing responsibility, annual internal audit
plan and its adjustments, annual internal audit work conclusion
report and rectification work report, internal audit rectification plan
and its adjustments, five-year internal audit plan for economic
responsibility, independence of the independent auditor, proposed
change and remuneration of the independent auditor, audit
approach and audit plan of the new independent auditor, financing
to certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, certain continuing connected transactions of the Group,
effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and internal
control systems and resources of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting functions and those relating to the
Company’s ESG performance and reporting, and the formulation
and amendments of various basic financial and internal audit
management policies; and adopt the general approval policy for
non-assurance services provided by the independent auditor. The

attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

BRI

Meetings

Attended/Held

REpE NG Kam Wah Webster 717

HBRR YANG Changyi 7/7

101 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 6/7

AtEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 717
BH(R=FEZmE=H+HHRE) ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from

15 March 2024) 717
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RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Since 2023, the following changes to members of the Risk and
Compliance Committee have taken place. With effect from 18
August 2023, Mr. CHEN Kangren retired as a member of the Risk
and Compliance Committee. With effect from 22 September 2023,
Mr. ZHOU Bo was appointed as a member of the Risk and
Compliance Committee. As at the date of this report, the Risk and
Compliance Committee comprises two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. ZHU Ping and Mr. ZHOU Bo, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr.
SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, and is
chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The majority of its members

are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Risk and Compliance Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The Company realizes the importance of good
corporate governance practice and is endeavoured to ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate
governance through the development, review and oversight of the
policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance,
the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to
Directors and employees of the Company. The Risk and
Compliance Committee is the specific Board committee
responsible for guidance and supervision on legal, compliance,
internal control and risk management works of the Company,
reviewing the Group's risk management (including ESG risks) and
internal control systems, and shall make recommendations to the
Board upon review of the primary policies and systems of the
Company in the aspects of corporate governance, legal and
compliance, risk management and internal control. The Committee
also reviews the sustainability report, the strategic planning,
policies and implementation regulations in relation to the
sustainable development and ESG matters and providing guidance
on ESG risks and opportunities with material impact on the
Company's business and the commitment and performance on key
issues such as tackling climate change, environmental protection

and compliance management.
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In 2023, six meetings were held by the Risk and Compliance
Committee to review the training and continuous professional
development records of Directors and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code; review and make recommendations to the
Board on the disclosure in corporate governance report and the
sustainability report for 2022, legal and compliance annual work
report, internal control system annual work report and risk
management annual work report, effectiveness and adequacy of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
the shareholders’ communication policy, oversight on ESG issues
and the progress of relevant goals and targets; consider and make
recommendations to the Board on proposals for change of
Company name, amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, terms of reference for Board
committees and various basic corporate governance policies, and
the adoption of compliance manual. The attendances at these

meetings are as follows:

HE BT

SERY

Meetings

Attended/Held

- p IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5/6

K ZHU Ping 6/6

AR R-ZFEZ=ZFNA-+_—HEZF) ZHOU Bo (appointed with effect from

22 September 2023) 2/2

AtEaRk SHEK Lai Him Abraham 6/6

RigE NG Kam Wah Webster 6/6
BREC(R=ZZF==FNHA+/HLEE) CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from

18 August 2023) 3/3

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year, the Company held two general meetings, namely,
the annual general meeting on Thursday, 25 May 2023 and the
extraordinary general meeting on Friday, 27 October 2023
respectively, on 30/F, Tower A, Kingkey 100 Building, No. 5016
Shennan Road East, Luohu District, Shenzhen, Guangdong and in
combination with electronic communication facilities. Reasonable
written notice of the general meetings with details of resolutions
were given to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of the Association
of the Company. Poll results were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on the day after conclusion of

the general meetings.

At the general meetings, the Chairman of the meeting proposed
separate resolutions for each substantially separate issues, and
delegated the Company Secretary to provide explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any questions

from shareholders on voting by poll.
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Chairman of the Board, all Directors and chairmen of all Board
committees attended the general meetings in person or online.
The external auditors also attended the annual general meeting in

person. The attendances of the Directors at these meetings are as

follows:

R=-ZZ== R=-B==
ZA=+tHEB +HA=+tH
BITHRR BITHRR
BEXRE BRlRE
Extraordinary
general
meeting
Annual general held on
meeting held on 27 October
25 May 2023 2023
HITES Executive Directors
HBRA JI' Youhong v v
StE(RZF=Z=FH+/1H JING Shiging (appointed with effect from
BEEE) 18 April 2023) v/ v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
K ZHU Ping v v/
FEIRR=ZF==F YU Shutian (appointed with effect from TiEH
NAZF+ZHEZE) 22 September 2023) Not applicable v
BAE(R=ZFE=Z=4F ZHOU Bo (appointed with effect from 22 NEMA
NAZ+ZHEZAT) September 2023) Not applicable 4
BRER YANG Changyi v v/
RELC (R-ZZF-=4F CHEN Kangren (retired with effect from TEA
NHA+/VHRE) 18 August 2023) v Not applicable
BYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
s g IP Shu Kwan Stephan v v
AEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham v v
BR (R _ZFE_mF ZENG Xuemin (retired with effect from
ZA+HERE) 15 March 2024) v v
RipE NG Kam Wah Webster v v

EHEMBRERERLAA
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BRERHNEZEHRHY IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS' DATES
BRRR-ZZZNFEHEEARAT The important dates for shareholders in 2024 are as follows:
sTEI B -]
Planned Dates Events
ZEPFEMA Z+KH AEBEZZ_MF=A=T—HIL=EA 2 REEZTENHEER
26 April 2024 Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the

three months ended 31 March 2024

TECMERATEATFER=1TS EBEXAREFERREFASINEG LREZBFXHNHRKEHAR
20 May 2024, 4:30 PM Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting at

the annual general meeting

“EONFERAA-THE_+WEA ETRRBFASAZEERZEFFERS

21-24 May 2024 Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting
—E-WERAZ+MA BEBFRE

24 May 2024 Annual general meeting

—EMFERAZT A BREDR-_Z_=_FRHAREZBEMNHRER

29 May 2024 Last day of dealings in Shares with entitlement to fmal dividend 2023
—E_NFAR=1H % B

30 May 2024 Ex-entitlement date

“EONFRAAZT A NFEE=TS EXEREDR-_F_=FRHREZEF XHFHREBR
31 May 2024, 4:30 PM Deadline for lodging transfer documents for entitlement to final
dividend 2023

—E_MFANAZHELEH CEC=FRPREZEEREBRSFERY

3-7 June 2024 Book closure date for final dividend 2023

—E-WFELA+ER I Z B =FRHKRE

17 July 2024* Payment of final leldend 2023

—E-WFENA+TRE* AMBEZ_NEARA=ZTHIEANEAZREEZMBEER

16 August 2024* Announcement of the unaudited financial information for the six months

ending 30 June 2024

—E-NFE+AZtTAHA ABBE_ZT_NFAA=ZTHIENERZ REERFTEVBEER
25 October 2024* Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the

nine months ending 30 September 2024

* BEEHH * Tentative dates

—EIC-EER
Annual Report 2023 129



ERERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB M EEFRX
b 8

EEHAEEEIRBEEEMBRESENR
FRERRGAINBEERTE  RARAGRRE
ERAFONFR PHRE  FTERS LR
EHMBEHRER -BULZBMAEERABEE_—F
TEF+t A=t BLEFENZRFMBR
REOBHRETMIEL A ZRAFIINE 1478
EF 1S5 ENBUZBAEIRE - EFW X
FAARREXERARFELLRINE
AR TRABAFEHHBER

B BED

ERZEERM RERBYRBMN BT M
ARBZEFHNEEERBEYRE - BREE
SEFREB LB KNG EREBEIM
REBN TEBUYZBEMOKKRETERE
AE R BERUNOBLEEIANIEEZR
BB WEEMEEN ERZE SRR
B ZBAN R EFEE - RIE - B
ERERERAESBIELZ -

ERREBERNEERAMBERSBRE N
BT (ER 46 A ST B AZ BN A i AR BUE E I
#lE M EREREE - WIS BETIRH
FERZBURTS B E BRI T AT - XA
BRBITHABNENFTHRAESTHRELE
hid - ERNEFRE A FHA 2B
i BERZBERARAARERHIFEZR
BRI eHBIZBM 2B EEEFNAR
FE WRBERMAFFEFTRENH —RBRT
% Bl BUZBE A AAEERECDE
SEHERREZIFEERY EFHEEFR
SHA -

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the
consolidated financial statements of the Company that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The statement by the independent auditor
about its reporting responsibilities relating to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 147 to 155. The Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability

to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process. It receives each year the letter from the independent
auditor confirming their independence and objectivity and holds
meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to
consider the scope of its audit, and the scope and appropriateness
of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit
Committee then makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of

engagement of the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee has sufficient oversight throughout the entire
financial reporting process, discusses with the auditor the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences, and develops and implements policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services, reports and makes
recommendations to the Board on any matters where action or
improvement needs to be adopted. Based on KPMG's
independence assessment, the Audit Committee considers that the
provision of non-assurance services to the Group would not have
any adverse impact on the independence of the independent
auditor and resolved to adopt the general approval policy for non-
assurance services whereby the independent auditor may provide
pre-approved types of non-assurance services to the Group without

further prior specific approval.
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The Group's policy regarding the engagement of KPMG for the
various services listed below during the year is as follows:

Audit services — include audit services provided in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the financial statements of

the individual subsidiaries.

Audit related services — include services that would normally
be provided by an independent auditor but not generally
included in audit fees, for example, review of financial
statements for the purpose of interim report, due diligence
and accounting advice relating to mergers and acquisitions
and internal control reviews of systems and/or processes. The
independent auditor is to be invited to undertake those
services that it must or is best placed to undertake in their

capacity as auditor.

Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and
tax planning services, except for those services which are
provided in connection with the audit. The Group uses the
services of the independent auditor where it is best suited. All
other significant taxation related work is undertaken by other

parties as appropriate.

Regulatory related services — include, for example,
recommendations on promulgated or proposed legislation,
regulatory standards or the application of other guidance,
and issuance of reports required by regulatory authorities
which are usually issued by auditors, and independent review
according to the requirements or guidelines issued by

regulatory authorities.

Certain non-assurance services — include the types of non-
assurance services pre-approved by the Audit Committee, for
example, due diligence and relevant consultancy services for
mergers, acquisitions and disposals, general training, as well
as consultancy services for ESG, cybersecurity, risk
management, internal audit, digitalization and
intelligentization which do not constitute or impact
accounting record or internal control of financial reporting or

financial statements.
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] Other services — the independent auditor is not eligible to
provide any services outside the scope of audit services or
pre-approved types of non-assurance services without the

prior specific approval of the Audit Committee.

An analysis of the fees of KPMG and other independent auditors
relating to the audit of the financial statements of the Company
and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023 is shown in
Note 9 to the financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2023, a provision of RMB4,350,000 was made in the
financial statements for service fee payable to KPMG for the annual
audit and the Group had paid RMB650,000 and RMB41,000 to
KPMG as service fees for review of 2023 interim financial statements

and tax consultation respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND
COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned
with the Group's risk management and internal control systems,
and assessment and management of risks. In meeting its
responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk awareness across the
Group's business units and has put in place policies and
procedures, including parameters of authority delegation, which
provide a framework for the identification and management of
risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems at least once a year to
ensure that the policies and procedures in place are adequate and

appropriate.

According to the CRCL system promoted by China Resources
Group, the Legal and Compliance Department of the Company
actively launched the “four-in-one coordination” and closed-loop
management of risk, internal control, legal and compliance to
prevent material operating risks and financial risks and facilitate
business development of the Group. It reports the execution of
management works of risk, internal control, legal and compliance
to the Board and the Risk and Compliance Committee on a regular
basis. All functional departments at headquarters and all business

units coordinate and cooperate in the relevant works.
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The Group's risk management structure is based on the “three lines
of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and responsibilities of
management, business units and functional departments on risk
management. The first line of defense consists of business units
and functional departments at all levels, responsible for daily risk
management, including participation in risk assessment of the
Group, development of risk mitigation measures and monitoring
procedures; the second line of defense consists of risk
management functional department, responsible for organizing,
promoting and coordinating the risk management, and monitoring
the Group’s major and potential risks; the third line of defense
consists of functional departments of internal control and internal
audit, responsible for risk management supervision and inspection,
internal assurance activities, assessment of internal risk

management and monitoring.

In terms of the first line of defense, the Company continues to
strengthen the compliance management mechanism. In 2023, the
Company established the chief compliance officer mechanism for
the General Counsel to act as the Chief Compliance Officer, who
expresses compliance opinions on major decision-making matters
of the Group. Senior and middle-level management employees
from functional department at headquarters level were selected for
compliance officer training. The “three lists” of compliance
management were compiled to sort out the bottom lines of
compliant operations in the areas of environmental management,
occupational health, production safety, tendering and
procurement, and compliance on antitrust and the Listing Rules.
The compliance management system had been officially put in
operation in the scope of tendering and procurement. During the
year, the Company’s compliance manual was promulgated and all
employees undertook to comply with it by signing a compliance
commitment letter. Through the aforesaid measures, major
compliance risks and compliance management responsibilities

were specified to strengthen risk management and control.
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In terms of the second line of defense, the Company has
established a sound mechanism for risk assessment and assessment
standards. The Legal and Compliance Department organizes all
departments and all business units on a regular basis to carry out
collection, identification and assessment of risk data regarding the
overall and systemic risks which the Group may be exposed to
during the year and in medium to long term, compile and prepare
a list of risks upon analysis. According to the list of risks,
headquarters level of the Company conducts risk identification and
assessment. The annual top ten risks and management
requirements are confirmed upon review on the risk assessment
result by the Chairman of the Board. Specific responsible
management departments for each risk shall formulate measures
for tackling, managing and controlling the risks. Through
integration of the business and industry characteristics of the
Company, quantitative risk monitor indicators are set up
scientifically and reasonably. Dynamic monitor on changes of risks
is conducted every quarter to analyze the major risks of the
Company. The Legal and Compliance Department also
continuously improves the reporting mechanism for material
operating risk incidents and requires all business units to report
material operating risk incidents every quarter. In 2023, there was

no occurrence of material operating risk incidents.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



EE=EhEAE  ARAERYE AR
TEMNAEER BREFNEES 48K
BLELEERELZEH BERYE UK
MERBEEEANEETE B EWERM
MR- BELEBREEREMR - EEZEHRE
BB EREBAIMB AR ERZE
BREAEANZATINESTFEIE  BE
IKIE ~ VR EE 4 AN EL A ZE S AR R - I DA R AR
& RERE HREBFHFANHETANEE
1% o B NI B8 R BB AT E B IR A AT BRI
ETEARERRT THREERHREN
TR REE T ELARIF B E KRG A E b
BEEER WHEENFE - RBPEREET
AFISERCREE - hNoR P ERBE B e E IR iE -
HHEREE -RAF ARENZERGE
B ARABANIEBAREETELER &
MIE R EEZE S HARIERTEEBITN
TEMMEREE NITHRMEERSE B
B BMKBEAETERER  — 2=
FORSERNZEFE RXARREKE B
MEEA - -RE HEEMEZ EETE -
B EESE GG ZENERREE - I
THRMESREE YBRALARAANEE
BERKE - ZT_=F AQaAEFEZR
BEEETRM  RERERNAIPESIERE -
REEEREREHMEREMG -

AN RARDERARBABREMER T
REEANBTREER 5 REIMEE ABRK
EMEERR  WHREUFARERSR
X2 FRYE - BREE TN BB
EHENSIERRBAMN —F-_=F K
REMEETHRRE B E ML - AR TR
SIEMEMFEELE -

EXEARE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In terms of the third line of defense, the Company has established
a relatively standard and sound internal control system with
effective key control points to reasonably secure legal and
compliant corporate operating management, asset security, true
and complete financial reports and relevant data, which has
enhanced operating efficiency and efficacy to facilitate the
achievement of corporate development strategy. The Legal and
Compliance Department organizes headquarters departments and
all onshore and offshore subsidiaries to conduct internal control
self-assessment and supervision evaluation in key business
processes, covering cement, concrete and other business
segments. Internal control review is carried out through sampling,
on-site inspections and results record. Internal control defects
found in internal control system supervision evaluation are
compiled and recognized with grades. Internal control
management work, major defects and latent risk hazards are
reported to the Board on a regular basis. Rectification plans are
formulated with specific responsible persons and completion times
to strengthen follow-up on the progress of rectification of internal
control defects and expedite the execution of rectification. At the
same time, in order to enhance the continuous optimization of the
internal control system, the Company links the internal control
system supervision evaluation results and rectifications with its
appraisal mechanism, which holds the units or individuals
accountable for the responsibilities of failure to fulfil the duties of
internal control management and supervision according to
requirements, serious internal control defects and improper
rectifications. In 2023, upon various internal control evaluations, the
Company formulated various internal control rectifications in the
scopes of investments, scientific and technological research and
development, procurement, sales and marketing, asset
management and financial management and traced the progress
of rectification on a regular basis in order to effectively improve the
level of internal control management. In 2023, the overall operation
of the Company'’s internal control system was good, no material
internal control defects were found and there was no occurrence of
material risk incident or compliance incident.

In addition, the Legal and Compliance Department of the Company
organizes all senior and middle-level managerial staff to complete
the declaration of related party transactions and external
investments in shareholding, running businesses and launching
enterprises. Special investigations on the sensitive roles regarding
incompliant shareholding and related party transactions are
conducted to ensure that they cannot seek personal gain by taking
advantage of the power or resources in their office. In 2023,
relevant management policies and measures were amended for
better prevention of non-compliance incidents.
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Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group's
business objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against

material misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.

Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of
the businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control
procedures include a comprehensive system for reporting
information to the Directors. Business plans and financial budget
plans are prepared annually and subject to review and approval by
the Board as part of the Group's five-year corporate planning cycle.
Financial reports for the current year are prepared on a monthly
basis, reviewed for variances to the original annual business plan
and the financial budget plan and for re-approval. When preparing
the annual business plan and financial budget and setting forecasts,
the senior management identifies, evaluates and reports on the
likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The Directors review the monthly management reports on the
financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit,
and the Chief Executive Officer holds monthly meetings with the
senior management to review these reports, business performance
against the annual business plan and financial budget plan,
forecasts, significant business risk sensitivities and strategies. In
addition, the Chief Executive Officer holds monthly meetings to
analyze and review the financial and operational management
situations of the Group, and to make adjustments for optimizing

the overall production and operation of the Group accordingly.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled
within each business unit with approval levels set by reference to
the level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual budget
review and approval process, and more specific control and
approval by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer are required
for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.

China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



R EEFZ

ARREHBEAEANBESL  EXBNFE®
MERTIE HBHBRANRER  LEKRA
BREBEREREBETHELAEZEZES
EERIFLEEEER -

A5 - (E Bl S 75 B M) A 1 B2 A0 LR -
BN TFHEERREHARRERETE
HEZMREESE  URRERETFRRE-
BN REFEVEERZEQREY
REBMBIT—REE  ATmBEESHER
AR A FEREERR - REBEFER
MEZE BAMEFAERZRZEGRE
ERERFEAMEXRTHERS R T —FE
WEREZET 8 WA FREL - FBRE
BT ARRNARBETHELREERE
TREMFE  —F_=F ARA#E—F
RAEABEHIERER  EFTARAARE
FHEEGIE  AREFEASBER  F
BEER FABULERERSIENT
EEXK -

EXEARE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department of the Company is responsible for
internal audit, major audit conclusions and rectification work,
promoting the application of audit results, studying on major issues
and execution of rectification, and reporting the same to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior

management.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of
individual business units, the scope of work performed by the
Internal Audit Department includes regular audits and dawn raids
on the businesses of the Company to ensure robust compliance
procedures in place. Representatives from the Internal Audit
Department meet with the Audit Committee and the independent
auditor at least once a year to discuss on the findings from the
Internal Audit Department and any potential risks that may exist.
Annual internal audit work report in accordance with the annual
internal audit plan, together with the annual internal audit plan of
the next year, shall be submitted by the Internal Audit Department
to the Audit Committee and the Board for approval every year after
the end of the relevant year. The Audit Committee also reviews and
evaluates the Company’s internal audit policies and their
implementation. In 2023, the Company further deepened the
construction of the internal audit system by revising the Company’s
internal audit management policies to specify the requirements for
the construction of the audit leadership system, the scope of audit

duties, audit rectification and the application of results.
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Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Group is committed to maintaining sound corporate
governance. We maintain smooth and diversified whistle-blowing
channels including as employees’ congress, whistle-blowing
hotlines, whistle-blowing emails, in-person visits and online
reporting at all business units to encourage our employees and
parties who deal with us (including customers, contractors,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) to provide real-time feedback
opinions and aspirations and to report any potential improprieties
or misconducts within the Group in confidence and anonymity. All
disciplinary and non-compliance issues are handled and

investigated seriously according to the Company’s policies.

Promotion of Anti-Corruption and Integrity

The Group strictly complies with the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong. No person is allowed to take advantage of their
position to demand and receive bribery or obtain benefits by
improper means. It is also forbidden to blackmail, conduct fraud or

launder money.

Over the years, the Company has intensively promoted and
thoroughly implemented various anti-corruption policies including
the “China Resources Group Business Code of Conduct”, “China
Resources Ten Commandments” and “Sunshine Declaration”, and
continued to improve the probity policies and systems for

deepening upright corporate building.

In 2023, the Company continued to execute the Overseas Anti-
Commercial Bribery Compliance Management Measures and
strictly complied with the bottom line of compliant offshore
operations. The Legal and Compliance Department of the
Company conducts legal compliance risk checks on offshore
business activities on a regular basis to proactively safeguard the

Group against corruption and legal compliance risks.
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The Group always places strong emphasis on and continuously
strengthens the work for integrity cultivation and probity education
of the Directors and employees. The Legal and Compliance
Department of the Company regularly provides anti-corruption
legal information to the Directors to ensure the Directors grasp the
latest requirements of applicable laws and regulations. In 2023, the
Company held four alert education meetings to convey and study
anti-corruption spirit. Two executive Directors attended all these
meetings. The four non-executive Directors and the former non-
executive Director, Mr. CHEN Kangren, also attended two of the

meetings.

Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the
Group comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has formulated
and continuously improved the management measures for
connected transactions which sets forth the procedures for
approval of connected transaction contracts and management of
continuing connected transactions. Pursuant to Article 16.23 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, where a Director is also a
director or officer of CR Holdings, such Director shall not be
entitled to vote on (nor shall be counted in the quorum in relation
to) any resolution relating to any transaction between the Company
and CR Holdings or any of its subsidiaries (other than the Company
and its subsidiaries), and such Director will absent himself from
Board meetings when such matters are discussed unless expressly
requested to attend by a majority of the independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, in accordance with the
management measures for connected transactions of the Company,
where a Director may have material interests in the connected
transaction that the Board intends to discuss and approve, the
subject Director shall be required to abstain from voting and shall
not be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution relating

to such transaction.
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The framework agreements approved by the Board set out the
major terms and conditions of the continuing connected
transactions which could be entered into by the individual business
units of the Company. Before each individual continuing connected
transaction may be entered into in its ordinary and usual course of
business, individual business units are required to obtain and
compare the quotations and pricing terms of the same or similar
transactions from a connected person and at least two independent
third parties which are market competitors of the connected
person, and to consider the assessment criteria (including the price,
quality, suitability, payment terms, and time required for the
provision of goods or services). Such quotes, together with the offer
from the connected person, and the individual contracts will be
reviewed and passed by the management of the relevant members
of the Group, finance personnel and legal personnel according to

the Group's internal approval and monitoring procedures.

The finance department of the relevant members of the Group will
be responsible for the monthly reporting of the amount of
continuing connected transactions to the Finance Department of
the Company for monitoring the annual cap of the relevant
transactions every month and issuing warning to the Board, relevant
departments and units of the Group when the utilization rate of
annual cap reaches 80%, which will facilitate the Board to consider
implementation of relevant response measures such as the revision
of annual cap. The continuing connected transactions shall also be
subject to review and audit by independent non-executive
Directors and auditors respectively every year pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Among which, the independent auditor
shall sample check, among other things, the compliance of such
pricing terms with the pricing policies or mechanisms under the
framework agreements. Details of our continuing connected
transactions have been disclosed in the relevant announcements
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Results of the annual review are reported on pages 86 to

96 of this annual report.
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Inside Information

The Board has delegated the Chief Executive Officer to be
responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders
are fully and promptly informed about the material developments
in the Company’s business, the Board has adopted the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject to
the approval of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer. After
deciding to disseminate inside information within the scope of
delegation, the Chief Executive Officer shall report back to the
Board on the exercise of relevant delegated power in a timely
manner. Unless duly authorized, all staff members of the Company
shall not communicate inside information to any external parties
and shall not respond to market speculation and rumours. In
addition, all external presentation materials or publications must be

pre-vetted before release.

Review of the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

Upon the review and recommendation of the Risk and Compliance
Committee, the Board had approved the internal control system
work report and the risk management report submitted by the
Legal and Compliance Department of the Company, and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group to be effective, adequate and appropriate during the

year.

Group Liability Insurance

Directors and officers liability insurance has been purchased and
maintained to protect directors and officers of the Group against
their potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred
in the course of performing their duties.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. SO Yiu Fung, has been appointed as
the Company Secretary and an authorised representative of the
Company by the Board'’s resolutions since May 2022, and resigned
on 26 April 2024. Mr. SO is currently a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Principal
Company Secretarial Director of CR Corporate Affairs Limited
which acts as the Company’s external company secretarial service
provider. Although Mr. SO is not a full-time employee of the
Company, he reports to the Chairman of the Board and in his
capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate
governance matters. The primary corporate contact person at the
Company with Mr. SO is Mr. YIN Yue, an alternate authorised
representative, the General Counsel and the Director of the Board
Office of the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr.
SO had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The Board resolved to
appoint Mr. CHUNG Ming Fai as the Company Secretary and an
authorised representative of the Company with effect from 26 April
2024.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On Friday, 27 October 2023, a special resolution was passed at the
extraordinary general meeting to adopt the third amended and
restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
in order to reflect the change of the name of the Company and to
conform to certain amendments to the Listing Rules regarding the
mandatory electronic dissemination of corporate communications
by listed issuers which had taken effect from 31 December 2023.
The third amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company have been uploaded to the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Core Shareholder Protection Standards

The Company always pays keen attention to the enforcement and
protection of shareholders’ rights. The Company has been
continuously in strict compliance with the shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix A1 of the Listing Rules. In particular,
during the year, the general meetings of the Company were
conducted in hybrid mode of traditional physical meeting in
combination with electronic communication facilities, which offered
the shareholders of the Company the options of attending,
participating, voting and communicate through a designated online
platform or by proxy.
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Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals (other than proposing a person for
election as a Director) at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company holding together, as at the date of deposit of the
requisition, Shares representing not less than one-tenth of the
voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, which carry the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (Room 3001-05, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Board or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
place of business in Hong Kong, the registered office of the
Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands) for the attention of the Board, specifying the
objects of the extraordinary general meeting and the resolutions to
be added to the agenda of the extraordinary general meeting, and
signed by the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the
Board provided that any extraordinary general meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to nominate a person for
election as a Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and ending no later than
seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been given
to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of the
Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his
intention to propose such person for election and also notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to

be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at the annual general
meeting, the following documents must be validly served on the
Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong within the period specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles
of Association of the Company, namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice
of intention to propose a resolution to elect a nominated candidate
as a Director at the annual general meeting; (2) a notice signed by
the nominated candidate of his willingness to be elected; (3) the
nominated candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated
candidate’s written consent to the publication of his personal data.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room
3001-05, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) for attention to the Board; (ii) by attending the
Company’s annual general meeting or extraordinary general
meeting; or (iii) by email at crcement@crc.com.hk. The aforesaid

procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s website.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 1,261 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$3,713,623,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some
Shares are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and
organizations through financial intermediaries such as nominees,
investment funds, banks, brokers, custodians and the Central
Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong. The names of the
shareholders, other than the Directors, holding 5% or more of the
Shares as at 31 December 2023 are disclosed in the Report of the

Directors on pages 85 to 86 of the annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and
believes that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is
critical to its future success. The Board is accountable to
shareholders for effective governance of business and value
creation. The Company keeps in touch with its shareholders and
other investors through various channels to facilitate
communications of their views on various matters affecting the
Company and deepen their understanding on the Company's
performance, strategies, prospects and the market environment in
which the Company has operations. We believe shareholders’ value
can be enhanced through efficient and transparent communications

with investors.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an
informed manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the
Company has been established. A dedicated investor relations
team serves as the primary contact of the Company with
shareholders, investors and analysts. The Company actively
responds to daily inquiries from shareholders and investors, and
publishes important information of the Company on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company for equal and timely
access by all stakeholders. The Company also holds results
presentation meetings for investors after the release of annual
results and interim results via either telephone conference, video
conference or on-site presentations to ensure that overseas
shareholders and investors can timely and adequately understand
the Company’s business operations and future development

strategies.
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The Company keeps close contact with the investment community,
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors and takes steps to solicit and
understand their views. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor meetings,
roadshows and investor conferences held by various investment
banks in order to increase interactions with shareholders and
investors. In 2023, in addition to results roadshows, the Company
participated in 8 investor forums and a total of approximately 80
investor meetings, which enabled communications with over 600
domestic and international fund managers and analysts. Among
which, meetings were mainly conducted by online means such as

video conference or telephone conference.

In September 2023, the Company organized the annual reverse
roadshow at the cement production plant in Tianyang of Guangxi,
which aimed to convey the Company’s concepts of green, low-
carbon and technological development and offered relevant
introduction on transformation and change of name of the
Company. During the roadshow, investors had an on-site visit of
unmanned mining vehicles, smart logistics, and projects for co-
processing urban and municipal solid waste to gain an in-depth
understanding of the transformation and development history, as
well as current business progress of China Resources Cement
(Tianyang) Limited, the first “six-star benchmark factory” of China
Resources Group that achieved full 5G coverage and fully
automated production. Afterwards, investors listened to the
reasons for the Company’s proposal change of name and its future
development plans, and participants of the meeting conducted in-

depth exchanges on the Company'’s operations.

Upon the review and recommendation of the Risk and Compliance
Committee, the Board considered the shareholders’
communications policy of the Company and its implementation to

be effective during the year.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders
and investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Company’s Finance Department
by letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information

can be found on page 4 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA RESOURCES BUILDING MATERIALS

TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(formerly known as China Resources Cement Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited
(formerly known as “China Resources Cement Holdings Limited"”)
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 156 to 271, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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EEESER

AREBAFTEERERMANEXHE - A5
HARGEVBREANBARSEENTIA
BUERRERMEABRBEAMBEHRRLK
HAZRRETREN - KM TEHELS
HRHEBNER -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

[k PR

Impairment assessment of goodwill

F2HRAVBIMAM 20 R &R (M52 4(0) -

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies (Note 4(c)).

BRENSR
The Key Audit Matter

BHNEFNMERZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZZE-_=F+-"F=+—H BE£EEENEAEE
A AR #2067,888,0007T * I B 7 B2 E KR ~ SR
TREMREMEBERNREESV ((ReEE
B )MAR - EEERBE_T-_=F+_fA=+—
HIEFERRAEERERERARK78,0950007T

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill of the Group was RMB2,067,888,000, and has
been allocated to the groups of cash generating units
("CGUs") comprising the cement, concrete and
aggregates and other operations. The Group
recognised impairment loss on goodwill amounting to
RMB78,095,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023.

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

BFFHEEERERNEA EFERIOTEIA

s Z2TEMEMENMRAER FEHEEEHRD
ELXBUNGEE RMEREELEUIENEE
REEBEMEBERERRBHIE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of

goodwill included the following:

J assessing the management’s identification of
CGUgs, the allocation of assets to each CGU and
the methodology adopted by management in its
impairment assessments of goodwill with reference
to the requirement of the prevailing accounting

standards;
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BANETNAEEZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EREGFHRBETRENS  UKEBEESERD
ENEIARAMNReELAEMUNRAERES B AR
El &8 (e RER) BTLER  UNEEREEREM
BEEE - EREEENMRRSREFRIETHE -

IEEREANRRROERRSRERASEAG A
BTHEEMMRSIERE - EMER TR ROMEE -

BMEERRETEREANRESEE REAS
BT EEERERS S REAHGRER  HEE
BARFERS -

Management performs impairment test on goodwill
annually and compares the carrying value of each of
the separately identifiable CGUs to which goodwill had
been allocated with their respective recoverable
amounts, being value in use, to determine if any
impairment loss should be recognised. Value in use is

assessed based on discounted cash flow forecasts.

The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts for
the purpose of goodwill impairment test involves
estimating revenue growth rates, gross profit margin

and discount rates which can be inherently uncertain.

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter as the goodwill impairment
assessments prepared by management involve
significant judgement and assumptions which could be

subject to management bias.

s BEFRENREARERABAFERBENER
RBETHE YHEEEAHNEFMDZIEKR

RENER UFTHEEETNTRBREEE
BERR

« SERMHER ELBY TETEELRT
BIBBIEN T B - HERIR ARG R -
ERBERFAEHARE : R

s ZEEMEERNKER FREEEMBHRE
BREFNAEME -

o comparing the cashflow forecasts prepared in the
previous year with the actual performance of the
businesses for the current year and make enquiries
to management as to the reasons for any
significant variations identified to assess whether

there were any indications of management bias;

J evaluating the reasonableness of revenue growth
rates, gross profit margin and the discount rates
applied, with reference to our understanding of the
business, historical trends and available industry

information and market data; and

o assessing the reasonableness of the disclosure in
the consolidated financial statements with the
reference to the requirements of the prevailing

accounting standards.
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EYWE S ERBEHEEER

Expected credit losses of trade receivables

F2HRE VB IMAM T 26 RgatBR (3 4) -

Refer to Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies (Note 4(r)).

HRETER
The Key Audit Matter

BHNEFNNERZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

N—_B-_=F+-"A=+—H BEEEKRZSEX
AR B A& A R 2313,537,0007T ' HIBRFEEEEE
B([FEHEEEE]) BE AR 593,915,000 °

EEERBASNEHNENCEEFENSHETERI
ESERABHREERRES ARER EREBEHE
Ko TRAREDPBNEFBERRAXAE TR B
BHRFED /TRANE -BHEEERREREE
WESEFNRRIELBERXET  RTEaTmR
RAEEERETHE -

The Group had trade receivables with total gross
carrying amount of RMB2,313,537,000, net of loss
allowances for expected credit loss ("ECLs") of
RMB593,915,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Management measures the ECL allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The
trade receivables are grouped into different segments,
since the loss patterns for the customers in different
segments based on the Group's past experiences are
significantly different. The ECL allowance is determined
based on ageing of the trade receivables and historical
loss rates, adjusted for current market conditions and

forward-looking information.

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

BPFFAREE ZEFEMEEBERENEIEFE
BEATER:

o ZERBUBHMEERMNFEOW - ¥
BHEEBERENSTRREITE

e HRXERARGBEEAERHEEBRBEAENER
BHEF - M2ETRAKEDMNEPEL EE
g FAAEEEHRFPETAINEERDE
2 RmAROR SR st WOR B ey R

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance of

trade receivables included the following:

o evaluating the Group's accounting policy for and
methods of measuring ECL allowances with
reference to HKFRS 9;

J for trade receivables which the ECL allowance is
measured using a provision matrix, assessing the
appropriateness of management’s basis of
customer segmentation with reference to the
historical loss rates for customers in the different
segments; and testing, on a sample basis, the

accuracy of the historical collection data;
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BANETNAEEZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BFIKEWE ZEFBREERERERA RRERE
AEE REASESKEETBMNENEEEHE -
femBmisRNEREBRLOAR -

We identified the ECL allowance for trade receivables
as a key audit matter because significant management
judgement which is inherently subjective is involved
and thereby the risk of error or management bias

increases.

s HBERUKEZFREFEREBSANMERIEER RZHEEX
H(ERHEERE EMERRELEMARXM)
ETHE MEFERRBESAEERENEE
EEORERER R

e RBRE EEENSHEELNEEHAER_-F
=Rt A=t -HANEHREEERERE -

o assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables ageing report were classified
within the appropriate ageing category by
comparing individual items with underlying
documentation, including sales invoices, good

delivery notes and other relevant documents; and

o re-performing the calculation of the ECL allowance
as at 31 December 2023 based on the Group's

accounting policy and methods.
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SEEMH
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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FEHEMNBEERBRAT

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Pang Chi Wai, Aaron.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

15 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

—E-= — =
2023 2022
KiaE AR% T ARBEFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
(ge=71)
(Restated)
S Turnover 6 25,549,648 29,332,435
HE A Cost of sales (21,787,694)  (24,716,134)
EF Gross profit 3,761,954 4,616,301
H g A Other income 7 571,842 574,507
HEMDHEHBR Selling and distribution expenses (506,235) (455,278)
—MERTHER General and administrative expenses (2,322,053) (2,440,725)
i W EE Exchange loss (1,022) (50,757)
5 E A Finance costs 8 (535,814) (301,236)
i NCT Share of results of associates (101,465) 15,244
Bl EENAEE Share of results of joint ventures 46,616 (60,792)
B 351 Al 22 71 Profit before taxation 9 913,823 1,897,264
IR Taxation 12 (295,283) (345,505)
FERF Profit for the year 618,540 1,551,759
Hib 2w (BA) WA : Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
Hg @B THE Item that will not be subsequently
BmaEE - reclassified to profit or loss:
HmmE RN FEEED Change in fair value of other
investment (17,335) (10,323)
HAEEEFNSEZEm Items that will be subsequently
mIEA reclassified to profit or loss:
BMEEANERZ Exchange differences arising on
translation (28,270) (109,050)
JEMREEE AR HM2mE Share of other comprehensive
WA (ER) income (expense) of associates 5,439 (24,500)
FEHMEEER Other comprehensive expense
for the year (40,166) (143,873)
FEEHERALE Total comprehensive income for the
year 578,374 1,407,886
LA AT FE(EFE AT (E538) : Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
VAN/NEIEZ SN Owners of the Company 643,821 1,612,583
e AR A Non-controlling interests (25,281) (60,824)
618,540 1,551,759
UWTNATEGFEFEZBEW A Total comprehensive income (expense)
(BR) @8 for the year attributable to:
PN/NEIEZ SN Owners of the Company 603,940 1,468,710
FIEE AR Non-controlling interests (25,566) (60,824)
578,374 1,407,886
FREREF (ARE) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 15 0.092 0.231
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MRZZE-_=%F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2023

:g: = —_=_
+=A +=—A Z====
== == —HA—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
K e ARBTRT ARBTT AR®T
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(g£E=5) (geE=5)
(Restated) (Restated)
#ﬁiﬂ BE Non-current assets
EE&E Fixed assets 16 31,172,910 28,109,417 24,165,100
ERAREE Right-of-use assets 17 4,924,600 4,581,332 3,536,395
WEMHE Investment property 18 - 116,125 106,288
HigE Other investment 18,199 35,160 42,033
EmEEE Intangible assets 19 18,372,991 17,733,447 10,065,110
BN TR RERS Interests in associates 21 5,438,225 5,578,126 5,469,486
REERAMmER Interests in joint ventures 22 1,964,381 1,796,406 2,230,928
HEMIERBEE Other non-current assets 1,695,558 3,677,565 3,637,068
EEIEEE Deferred tax assets 23 791,895 787,119 437,736
TEERNFNER Loans to joint ventures - - 911,999
K ERFE IR Long term receivables 24 278,058 250,718 244,533
BERIRITHER Pledged bank deposits 28 445,150 417,450 260,370
65,101,967 63,082,865 51,107,046
MEEE Current assets
rE Inventories 25 1,896,027 2,440,595 2,404,721
FEWE 5 B Trade receivables 26 1,719,622 2,591,078 3,919,120
L FE W IR Other receivables 27 1,410,000 1,483,112 1,309,371
T—REERNAN Loan to a joint venture
B - 188,600 -
AR Taxation recoverable 60,957 74,869 17,471
EERIRITHER Pledged bank deposits 28 - 45,945 80,000
R MIRTTHH Cash and bank balances 29 2,603,664 1,948,876 5,778,300
7,690,270 8,773,075 13,508,983
mEEE Current liabilities
JEFTE ZERR Trade payables 30 2,978,619 2,895,815 3,095,668
H fth fE T3R8 Other payables 31 5,499,610 6,498,069 5,940,086
FETBEIE Taxation payable 83,993 216,553 743,736
KE—RKEEERR Loans from an intermediate
NAEIMER holding company - - 1,367,602
K B FEFE AR A% B A Loans from
B non-controlling shareholders 33 144,325 413,485 34,638
RITER Bank loans — amount due
—R—FREH within one year 34 2,273,388 3,649,220 5,998,084
10,979,935 13,673,142 17,179,814
mENBEFE Net current liabilities (3,289,665) (4,900,067) (3,670,831)
BEMBERMEEE Total assets less current liabilities 61,812,302 58,182,798 47,436,215
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RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2023

:g: = —_=__
+=A +=—H ===
Er=[g =+—H —H—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
it ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(FEY)) (FE7))
(Restated) (Restated)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans — amount due
— R—F B2 B after one year 34 13,816,725 10,497,156 1,000,000
KB FEE A R Loans from non-controlling
8% shareholders 33 47,000 119,511 113,882
Hfth = HAFE S 5B Other long term payables 32 1,873,758 1,875,513 579,657
BIERIABE Deferred tax liabilities 23 327,650 430,501 346,730
16,065,133 12,922,681 2,040,269
45,747,169 45,260,117 45,395,946
&7 R &4 Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 35 617,812 617,812 617,812
[ Reserves 43,490,651 43,206,973 44,136,041
RRFHAE AEGRERZ Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 44,108,463 43,824,785 44,753,853
eI S Non-controlling interests 1,638,706 1,435,332 642,093
R AT Total equity 45,747,169 45,260,117 45,395,946

BIS6EEE/MHENEAMBEHEDN - The consolidated financial statements on pages 156 to 271 were
“E=ZA+RBESEBILERSERET|ZE - approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 15

WHTRINATRESZE March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:
# K 4 JI YOUHONG =1t F JING SHIQING
& FEDIRECTOR B FEDIRECTOR
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REEREER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BEZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—HIFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023
LN S
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
HIES FER
BA&  AfBE  EfRE  RERE  HHRE  REEW &5t B EEAE
Property Non-
Share Merger  revaluation  Translation Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity

ARETR ARETE ARMTRL ARETR ARETZ ARETRL ARETR ARETI ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBOD  RMBOO  RWBOO  RMBIOWD

RZBZZE-A—H(EE5) At1January 2022 Restated) 617,812 (32,958) 15620 (75,597) (91412 44320388 44,753,853 642093 45,395,946
Htt2EER Other comprehensive expense
—EiEH — exchange differences - - - (109,050) - - 109,050) - (109,050)
—EUEBENTEMREER  — share of other comprehensive
expense of associates - - - - (24,500) - 24,500) - (24,500)
—HHREATRES — change in fai value of
other investment - - - - (10,323 - (10,3%3) - (10,323
EERFI(ER) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 1412583 1612583 (60824) 1551759
ER2E(BR)MALE Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year - - - (109,050) (34823 1612583 1,468,710 (60,824) 1,407,886
WEHBLA Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - 65,577 656,577
“EC-FRERS 2021 final dividend - - - - - (16785000 (1,678,500) - (1678500
“E-CEhERS 2022 interim dividend - - - - - (720573) (720,573) - (720,573)
FERBEOERLE Capital contributions by non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - 311,698 311,698
BN TEERBERORS Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - (54592) (54,592)
RE-ZNELT Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - (59,620) (59.620)
RINGENENTENG Remeasurement gain on retirement plan - - - - 1,295 - 1,295 - 1,295
WZE-"%+-A=1+—-H At31 December 2022 [Restated)
(mE5) 617,812 (32,958) 15620 (184,647) (124940) 43533898 43,824,785 1435332 45,260,117
2 2E(BR) M Other comprehensive (expense) income
—EREB — exchange differences - - - (27.985) - - (27,985) (285) (28,270)
—EUEBENTEMRERA  — share of other comprehensive
income of associates - - - - 5439 - 5439 - 5439
EHRENTEERD — change in fair value of
other investment - - - - (17,33 - (17,335) - (17,33
EERF|(ER) Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 643,821 643,821 (25,281) 618540
EE2E(ER) W28 Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - (27,985) (11,8%) 643821 603,940 (25,560) 578,374
ZECZERERS 2022 final dividend - - - - - (56,619 (56,619) - (56,619
ZEICERERS 2023 interim dividend - - - - - (263370) (263,310) - (263,370)
FERRRMERLE Capital contributions by
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - 617112 261712
ERFEERRRORE Dividends paid to
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - (18733) (18733
RifrEEN2ER Remeasurement loss on retirement plan - - - - @n) - 2n) (39 (312
RZEZZF+ZA=F-H  At31December 2023 617812 (32959) 15,620 (212632) (137,109 43857730 44,108,463 1638706 45,747,169
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
AREBTR ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
(geE=7)
(Restated)
REKLEBHNHRERE Cash flows from operating activities
B H A & Profit before taxation 913,823 1,897,264
FTFIBIBELFE : Adjustments for:
TEEFNE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,989,545 1,756,116
CRESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 237,977 192,592
R A Amortization of mining rights 349,959 226,085
FEUA Interest income (77,759) (100,419
AMEFRX Interest expenses 535,814 301,236
FEAGEE R R FE Share of results of associates 101,465 (15,244)
JEBIEEERR¥EE Share of results of joint ventures (46,616) 60,792
HE BT & E K E Gain on disposal of fixed assets (20,335) (9,931)
HEFHEEERS Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (5,504) (7,907)
NG € Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (163,616) (193,944)
BRESE N Gain on disposal of a joint venture - (15,184
[ & ERE Impairment of fixed assets 2,627 -
BIERE —FBE QN r = Gain on deemed disposal of an associate (980) -
FERMECRERE) Impairment (reversal of impairment) of
inventories 4,920 (3921)
RIEZER (B EE) IR (Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts (7,201) 239,547
H {th U R T8 REZER A 1K Allowance (reversal of allowance) for
(B E) doubtful debts of other receivables 74,100 (2,940)
EERENE Negative goodwill recognised - (13,126)
[EEDERED Impairment of goodwill 78,095 -
ME W =78 Exchange difference 21,943 60,615
HEELEPAINKLERITRA Operating cash inflows before movements
in working capital 3,988,257 4,375,161
FERY Decrease in inventories 539,174 245,776
FEUNE 5 B8R FUR Decrease in trade receivables 819,792 1,382,057
E th & Y R IE R Decrease in other receivables 9,733 187,385
FETE S BRFIE N OR ) Increase (decrease) in trade payables 149,809 (696,907)
H At 7 A< FRIE R Decrease in other payables (497,452) (1,066,376)
REEHEENRE Cash generated from operations 5,009,313 4,427,096
EREBNEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (6,924) (27,124)
B B A1 TS B Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income
Tax paid (556,769) (1,392,162)
ERFE Interest paid (527,963) (341,145)
KEEBEAMNIRS FEE Net cash generated from operating activities 3,917,657 2,666,665

EHEMBRERERLAA

160 China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited




REBRTRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Annual Report 2023

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023
2023 2022
ARBTRT AREBTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
(F&=E51))
(Restated)
RERETENEERE Cash flows from investing activities
P EETEEEMZTH Purchases and deposits paid for
BEFERTS acquisition of fixed assets (3,665,302) 4,761,732)
S B BRI A T 2 AT A Purchases and deposits paid for
BEFEN 2 acquisition of mining rights (668,577) (2,045,604)
& R #E & A1 N Additions of right-of-use assets (471,855) (632,835)
BT S W R B Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries
UNEIECEN BN in prior years (363,001) (221,841)
R E R RIHEE Capital injection in associates (23,800) (144,003)
1= Acquisition of subsidiaries (16,470) (2,786,255)
£ B JFE R IE 38 1 Additions of long term receivables (168) (4,947)
BEREIEER (BR) Repayments from (advances to) joint
ventures 120,179 (98,397)
BEENBERREHNE Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 111,821 1,484,682
HERETEEESHIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 83,730 49 896
BN ZR B Bt A R AR B Dividends received from associates 68,655 170,702
2 UFE Interest received 64,852 67,023
WEREAE AR E Dividends received from joint ventures 57,229 28,107
EERRITEIORLD (&) Decrease (increase) in pledged bank
deposits 18,245 (81,014)
iR RN Db o Repayment from associates 6,238 26,000
18 32 & B & WskIE Repayments of long term receivables 2,828 4,140
I i Bt 2 2 | Acquisition of associates - (126,878)
RagRamEE Capital injection in joint ventures - (17,400)
HESAEEEMSHKIE Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use
assets - 12,830
BEZBFANREFE Net cash used in investing activities (4,675,396) (9,077,526)
—Eo=FER
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REBRTRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
AREBTRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(F&=E51)
(Restated)
REMETBHNEERE Cash flows from financing activities
EEIFTER Repayments of bank loans (8,401,043) (7,372,180)
BEARRE Dividends paid (319,989) (2,399,073)
BEIIFTERRRENER Repayment of loans from non-controlling
shareholders (283,618) (28,629)
YHHEEARE Payments of lease liabilities (62,342) (77,782)
ST E M REIEN FRIB Settlement of other long term payables (21,427) (10,683)
BRI AR R AR S Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (141) -
FIGIRITE R Bank loans raised 10,316,560 13,581,878
KEFERBRRAEREE Capital contributions from non-controlling
shareholders 135,150 311,698
REFERRRER Loans from non-controlling shareholders 47,000 -
BERRE —REEER Repayment of loans from an intermediate
NRIMER holding company - (1,443,272)
MERSMELERNIRS F5E Net cash generated from financing activities 1,410,150 2,561,957
FEREMBE2EEWFEE Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
#nCa ) equivalents for the year 652,411 (3,848,904)
FORSERTFED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 1,948,876 5,778,300
& R B EHIR S RIRTT Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on
EHMEE cash and bank balances 2,377 19,480
FRASKREEHEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,
IR © LIRTTAEER representing cash and bank balances 2,603,664 1,948,876

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

—REH
ARBR-_ZE=F=A+=HIREM
ERERAVE(ZTET _FEFR) EHF
EREAMKNIA—RERRZBRA
A HEHBROR-_ZZAFETARBER
BEAERSABRAR LT - ARRH
BEREBRARRERE R SEMK
YHEREE KR BARARF - AR H
BB AR PR AR B R R B A L BV R
BEEBRAR -

ARRR/—RREERAR - MENE
NE(RARERNERRBRE S ANE
B I2RELEENMFEEKRE BE
T B REMAREERRRS

2IER 22

ARANPEEBERSARB (AR
B BEVRFESEVBRRNZ
JE¥ BT (BTl -

HRAEBEITENFEAMGEEELE
B BEAEBERBHEERBEUAAR
BETE AR REERAEBAREA
EAEENZIEBESE  RUAAR
MEDNMBRENABTEEREE S
BRI AL R EE RSB KRIE R
BAA Bt - RZE_=F—H—H
B AEEBERREVBEHRENZINEE
HETHAARE LHBEHEFEEE
B NEAFEEUAREZIRE 5 -

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law (2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003
and its shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding
company is CRH (Cement) Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is
China Resources Company Limited, a company established in
the Chinese Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete,

aggregates and other related products and services.

CHANGE OF PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The Company's functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The
presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements

in the prior financial year was Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

Since the Group mainly operates its business in the Chinese
Mainland and most of the assets and liabilities of the Group
are denominated in RMB, the directors of the Company
consider that it is more appropriate to use RMB as the
presentation currency of the Group and the presentation of
financial statements in RMB can provide more relevant
information for management to control and monitor the
performance and financial position of the Group. Accordingly,
the Group has changed its presentation currency for the
preparation of the financial statements from HK$ to RMB
starting from 1 January 2023. The comparative figures have
been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation
in RMB.

—EIC-EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZTZ=F+ZA=1+—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

2.

2EHNER BB ()

AAARE 2 AR ENGEE M HRE
mE SaMBERARNEERBER
BEMROEHETRESARE - &7
BEEKE RO R IR B
WFIERBE - RARFHIZBEE
AMERBE - G5 MBEMRRRAOIFE
BrEs i mE AROETERBESA

FERFITREETERMBRE
ZR ([ERMBEHREZER])

AEBERAFEERERTILER
BEMEME LR

BB g R ERRCEE0hE
F85% (BFTA)

B g R SR HEKE
FIRRBERG
RELNEHHRS
F 2% (BRI X)

BB g A HE-QHELN
F12% BENARMEA
CHES, MIEERIR

EREETTEHEEMBREREE
REATE -

EREMNRERERAE

2.

CHANGE OF PRESENTATION CURRENCY
(Continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in RMB, the assets and liabilities for
the consolidated statement of financial position are translated
into RMB at the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses for the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at the average
exchange rates for the financial period. The share capital and
reserves are translated at the exchange rate at the date of
transaction. The non-controlling interests for the consolidated
statement of financial position are translated into RMB at the

closing rate at the end of the reporting period.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Definition of accounting estimates

Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single

transaction

The application of the revised standards has had no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEZZTZ=F+=ZA=+—HIFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

R REETEEMBRE
ZR ([HRMBREER]D (90

RE B R ATE A T 5 2 B M B R
ERHIFTR] RIS R BB M RS 2R

BRMBREER
F165% (BFTA)
BRGERETR HEFRERH
RERYMBREE
RIST7 (BRI K)

ERHEDNEERE

B BENERARBEIER
F1HR(BTA) ([T -TFE:]
K| R AN
ik == ==
FEFTA])
Engi Ll B A
F215 (BETAK)
w HoZ-—maeE—A— AR ERRNER
HARS A
2 HoT-RGF—A—BR 2GRN EE
7R A

EFUA T EHEMAIN KBTI
BREEAEREREHARENGES
M RRERBEATE -

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier finance arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current (the 2020
Amendments”) and non-current
liabilities with covenants (the
"2022 Amendments”)’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of new
and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have material

impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

—e-=x%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

4.

EREFTHEE
RAMBHRRCRETEEMAEHE
M EEMBREENRR - 1IN &
EUBHRRERBEMEXIMBERRA
AlEE 7 EM AR AR &R A RHERBGIFT R E
ME AR EEIR -

REMBHRRCRELRAZERH -
HREYE - RAFEEFAEBER
Was s A A T RKE 5 R NIR
RYEBEAERIN (FL2HATXHHE
REFTHE) °

BESLRA—BRRBEMRBAERED
N EEMERE °

NFEEERFERMS2EEREGHK
FREZPHEEERNRRSERERESR
ARV ERS - AR B ZE Al
Hp S ETDEERABRAAR - R
AEERBENATEER  AKEE
EZRMBSEENAEBEAHEERAE
EEFEMEEMNEERRERH ZF
REMBRERTEAER SRERE
MRFEEDZEELEETE  EFEY
B3 2R 5 257 85 A A AR D S
X5 BEMBREERNE16FRBENR
MEERS KRB FEEMEUEL
FRFEEMNHEBEFEBINELS
FR([BEGER]) F25/W AT ZIR
FERBBGTERF 3R ERER)
BRON o

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment property,
equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and certain trade receivables, which
have been measured at fair value, as explained in the material

accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realizable value in Hong Kong Accounting Standard
("HKAS") 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

EXREFBER®E)

AN B E2®mmE - AFEEFE
REQFEEFENEAZBEABRERE
ERAFEEFENBABBRESEER
MEEUNBRE— F_HF=H
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control

is achieved when the Company:
—  has power over the investee;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and

—  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of

control listed above.

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

TECZFER
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

4.

EXREFBER®E)

(a)

REEE ()
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the

Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and

expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlled interests according to the Group's
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

4., BFEAREHHE®H)
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognized. A gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint

venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred to the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

S
Annual Report 2023

169



e M RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair

value, except that:

] deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognized and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”

at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a

transaction-by-transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period, and additional assets
or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected

the amounts recognized at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Goodwil

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if

any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to

benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognized directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent

periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on

disposal.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the
course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognized impairment loss. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready

for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of
items of fixed assets other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed

assets other than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings

Plant and machinery

Over the unexpired lease terms
3 to 40 years
Logistics equipment 10 to 40 years

Others 3to 35years

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
fixed assets is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset

and is recognized in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn

rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or

loss in the period in which the item is derecognized.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a
business combination and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs and at their fair value at the acquisition
date, respectively, less accumulated amortization and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization for
mining rights of limestone, which have finite useful lives,
is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. And amortization for the mining
rights of aggregates is recognized on the production
method. The estimated useful life and amortization
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being

accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognized on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gain or loss arising from derecognition of
mining right is measured at the difference between the
net disposal proceed and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the period

when the asset is derecognized.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the

parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of
the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share of
losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

the associate or joint venture.
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4.

ZEZ=F+ZA=1T—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint
venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognized as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit

or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is
classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if
that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognized in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or partial

disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no re-
measurement to fair value upon such changes in

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit
or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognized in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if
that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss

on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognized in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the

Group.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of

the impairment loss, if any.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have

not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment

loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

0

Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized

immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost of inventories are determined
using the weighted average method. Net realizable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and

costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange

for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at
the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on

acceptance of the goods by customers.

(b)  Provision of services

Revenue from the provision of services is
recognized over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the

benefits provided by the Group.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received
a consideration (or an amount of consideration that is
due) from the customer. If a customer pays the
consideration before the Group transfers goods or
services to the customer, a contract liability is
recognized when the payment is made or the payment
is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognized as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.

The Group’s contract liabilities are recognized as
deposits from customers which is included in other
payables.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss

in the period in which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from "profit before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognized if the temporary difference arises from

internal recognition of goodwill.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realized,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
and deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through

sale.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will

be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognized as a deduction from
the carrying amount of the relevant asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational

basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognized in
profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

S
Annual Report 2023

183



frE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

4.

EXREFBER®E)

(o)

ShEE
EREBEHNEEEBNYFHER

B AREEBNIEER (BI%E
BRENTIBEBERRNER) A
SN B (SMNEE) FTETTIOR B T)
BR 5B HHBITEXRIAERE
BEEBAR RERESHR N
SIMERBENMERERRZAR
THERSBMME - AINERE
RN FHEEARNIEEEIER -
RETAFEERPBITNESK
BHBRE UINEELRKAGE
HEERIAB AT EMARE -

EREAGEERENRESHER
BEEMELZBEOHRELHH

FEiEE R -

REJGAMBHREAMS &E
ERNEENABOERRSEH
RHBITEXRRESAEENZ
g (MARE)  MERAR
XA B BIRE AR T E KR
B EEEERRFEAKRERB R
Sh - EULBER T BIAR 5 B #
MBITERRE -FAELWER
Z8 (WA SREMEEKER
ERWNERA THRERHE (R
BRI (@A) Rat -

ARBEEEERmMELNEER
FrRRE R BRIl EEN A FEER
BNGEZEBEENEELRR
B WREREMROBITEE
ENBRE -MEANELEZRE
Hoth 2 Y ek HERR

184 EHEMBRERERLAA
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency

are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognized in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
group entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on acquisitions of group entities
are treated as assets and liabilities of that group entities
and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences

arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that
contains a lease component and non-lease
components, the Group adopts the practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components and to account
for the lease component and the associated non-lease

components as a single lease component.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land and buildings ~ Over the lease terms plus

extension option period
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated

useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognized as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other
payables and other long-term payables.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases that are considered to be of low

value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognized as an expense

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of

its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognized as revenue in the period in which they are

earned.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value

through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the

policies set out for “Revenue recognition” above.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortized cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortized cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit

or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognized on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets

depends on their classification as follows:
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized,

modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognized in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognized in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognized in other comprehensive income is recycled

to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an

instrument-by-instrument basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
(Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Dividends are recognized as
other income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12 month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including

historical and forward-looking information.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortized
cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as

detailed below.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12 month ECLs

Stage 2—  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3—  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.

S EEY 2
Annual Report 2023

193



frE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

4.

EXREFBER®E)

(s)

BUHBRATMEE
EEUREERSREZANE
MERE - S E S RBEE N
FEEMBRZERNE D ER M
EHREB TS —HEK AKHE
TEBREREMEE -

TERERATREER EE
FREESED KRN ERKEER
Bz ZR N BETER -

EREE
AL ER R 2

TRBERTLRERASF R BER
BRAFEESABaENEREE -
ERLEE  BNRBAIXRER
HihhmEERE M IANITATL
A(BBERME)

EZRAEBNHREAFEERE
B B el 7% B R B B BRA B A R
R BB EERIERAKA

AEENEHMABERENES
TR - HALEA R - KA JRE
BERNER RITERLHAM
R FOR -

HE 8

B HK AT BRI MR &
RAATER R - RITEREER A
BERMEBERBIHRAE K
FIFMTEMTRE AR A
SRR - BUBMER BERIZERA
KABEBREPELENBRSER
= NHER

194 FEHEMNBEERBRAT
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of

the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective

hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,

net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables, loans from non-controlling

shareholders, bank loans and other long-term payables.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

After initial recognition, bank loans are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognized as well as through the

effective interest rate amortization process.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost (Continued)

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortization is included in

finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized
and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in

profit or loss.

Provision

A provision is recognized when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognized for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

Provision (Continued)

Provisions for the Group's obligations for environmental
restoration are based on estimates of required
expenditure at the mines in accordance with the rules
and regulations of the PRC. The obligation generally
arises when the asset is installed or the ground
environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final environmental
restoration and mine closure based upon detailed
calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditures to perform the required work. Spending
estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. When
the liability is initially recognized in other long-term
payables, the present value of the estimated cost is
capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the

mining rights.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the
change in the present value based on the appropriate
discount rate. The periodic unwinding of the discount is
recognized within finance costs in profit or loss. The
asset is amortized using the straight-line method over
its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or
changes in estimates (such as mine plan revisions,
changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the
performance of reclamation activities) will be recognized
as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and
environmental restoration liabilities when they occur at

the appropriate discount rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w)

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans, government-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognized as an expense when employees have
rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Provisions for other employee benefits are recognized
when the Group has a present obligation to provide
such benefits to its employees and are measured at the
Directors’ best estimate of the future obligations
discounted to their present value where the effect is

material.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of the
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group.

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of

the same group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

(iiiy  the entities and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.
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4. BREEEEG) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(x) PBEEERE (8 (x) Related parties (Continued)
b) ZAAB/FAE T HEM R (b) the party is an entity where any of the following
g5 (&) conditions applies: (Continued)

ivv —BERBARFEF=7F% (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
BHEeERE M5 — and the other entity is an associate of the
BAEBRZE=FE third entity.

R0k NI

v ZERBAANEEIYHNA (v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
rEEEHEBAE for the benefit of employees of either the
BRAMKRZBOERKE Group or an entity related to the Group.
HMEHE -

(vi) ZEBXZ@@FTERA (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
TS sk L R HE I o by a person identified in (a).

(vii) @OFTEAATHZE (vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
BREEAFENXE influence over the entity or is a member of
ZER(AZEBYN the key management personnel of the entity
RANWMEZEEREEA (or of a parent of the entity).

Bz—-

(vii) ZERIXZERBME (viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
LEHERKE QA which it is a part, provides key management
REEBEXEAEEN personnel services to the Group or to the
AEEEFEER parent of the Group.

A B R -
5. HERMEFTHAPEENETER 5. KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND

R ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

o) BEEEEFEEEREHYNZH (a) Significant judgement in determining the lease
B2 B KA term of contracts with renewal options
rEBEETHAEERER RKIE The Group has several lease contracts that include
EEENHESD REEER extension and termination options. The Group applies
HRGITFEEREETEANR judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
IHHERERHAE BEEEE option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
TEEENRIEENSESFEN considers all relevant factors that create an economic
FEREEZ - RHEEMK A incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
B MEBEEEEGSHSGEEANEKRE termination. After the commencement date, the Group
B iERE  HAREEITHEK reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
TR EBNRILERENRE D or change in circumstances that is within its control and
BRTE AAEEGEHTML affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
HEH - option to renew or to terminate.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. The estimation uncertainty mainly included gross

margin, discount rate and growth rate.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts
of goodwill were RMB2,067,888,000 and
RMB2,162,554,000 (Restated), respectively. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
Note 20.

Deferred tax assets

The realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less
than or more than expected, a reversal or a recognition
of deferred tax assets would be recognized in profit or
loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year in which such a reversal or
recognition takes place. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets were
RMB791,895,000 and RMB787,119,000 (Restated),

respectively (see Note 23).
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KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(d)

Expected impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on the
aging days for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography,
product type, customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., GDP) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-

looking estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in Note 26 to the
financial statements. The changes in ECLs resulted from
the changes in the historical observed default rates and
forecast economic conditions as at 31 December 2023
have had no significant impact on the profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables were RMB1,719,622,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB593,915,000) and
RMB2,591,078,000 (Restated) (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of RMB616,747,000 (Restated)),

respectively.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that
the carrying amounts of the fixed assets may exceed
their recoverable amounts. The Group’s determination
as to whether the fixed assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the assets. The
Directors exercise their judgement in estimating the
recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. The Directors conducted a review of the Group's
production assets and determined that during the year
ended 31 December 2023, impairment loss of
RMB2,627,000 (2022: Nil) has been recognized in

respect of those fixed assets (see Note 16).

Provision for environmental restoration

Provision for environmental restoration is based on
estimates of future expenditures incurred by
management to undertake environmental restoration
work which are discounted at a rate reflecting the term
and nature of the obligation to their present value.
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in
determining the provision for environmental restoration
as there are numerous factors that will affect the
ultimate liability payable. These factors include
estimates of the extent and costs of environmental
restoration activities, technological changes, regulatory
changes, cost increases and changes in the discount
rate. Those uncertainties may result in future actual
expenditures differing from the amounts currently
provided. The provision at the end of the reporting
period represents management'’s best estimate of the
present value of the future environmental restoration
costs required. Changes to estimated future costs are
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position by adjusting the environmental restoration
asset and liability. The carrying amount of provision for
environmental restoration as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB564,188,000 (2022 (Restated): RMB527,005,000) (see
Note 32).
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6.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of
different products in internal management reports which are
prepared in accordance with accounting policies conformed
with HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the chief
executive officer in order to allocate resources to the

operating segments and to assess their performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as

follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related

products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related

products

Aggregates and others — manufacture and sale of
aggregates, engineered stones, natural stones and other

products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for

goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
Directors’ salaries, share of results of associates and joint
ventures, interest income, finance costs and exchange

differences.

All of the revenue in cement segment, concrete segment and
aggregates and others segment are from sale of goods,
which are recognized when the goods are transferred at a
point in time. The performance obligation is satisfied upon

delivery of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

6. EXFBRIIER(E) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
DERBERETIMT The information of the segment results is as follows:
BE-Z-_=F+=-A=+—-HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023
K BET BRREM 54 ok
Aggregates
Cement Concrete  and others  Elimination Total

ARBTRT AR®TR AR®TR ARMTR AR%Tx
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BXE—2BhA TURNOVER — SEGMENT
REVENUE
HoMAE External sales 18,885,692 3,423,245 3,240,711 - 25,549,648
DE 2 R E Inter-segment sales 550,272 2,398 309,505 (862,175) -
19,435,964 3,425,643 3,550,216 (862,175) 25,549,648
HE 2 FHE HIRMITHIGERETE o Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
ES | RESULTS
DEEE Segment results 814,698 129,434 815,636 - 1,759,768
B UA Interest income 77,759
EHEE Exchange loss (1,022)
S E R Finance costs (535,814)
AABARFHZ Unallocated net corporate expense (332,019)
R E AR ER Share of results of associates (101,465)
EEeeRnrEE Share of results of joint ventures 46,616
BRI A& A Profit before taxation 913,823

—EIC-EER
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HEZZTZ=F+ZA=1+—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

6. EXHRIEER @) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
HE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—BHLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated)
(g &%)
KR RERT R REM #iH ok
Aggregates
Cement Concrete  and others  Elimination Total

AREBTL ARETT ARBTE ARBTL ARETL
RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000

EEHE— BB TURNOVER — SEGMENT

REVENUE
HIMHE External sales 23124939 4537226 1,670,270 - 29332435
DE 2 FRHE Inter-segment sales 604,803 2,411 155,318 (762,532) -
23,729,742 4539637 1,825,588 (762,532) 29,332,435
DEZ RHE HIRBITHISERTE - Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
£ RESULTS
DERE Segment results 1,942,553 51,842 194,355 - 288750
FIEWA Interest income 100,419
fEHER Exchange loss (50,757)
HBER Finance costs (301,236)
ROBEAFFRA Unallocated net corporate income 5,636
[EIEBME R EE Share of results of associates 15,244
EIEAEARIER Share of results of joint ventures (60,792
BRI A 2R Profit before taxation 1,897,264

204 EREMNRERERAE
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



6.

EXRARDBER (B

N

ok

s

¥

EEDFRENENFHIIMT

e M RRME

6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZEZT=F+ZA=1T—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities is as

R+=—HA=+—H
As at 31 December
—E=F —F-—
2023 2022
ARETRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000
($&&E3)
(Restated)
BE Assets
DEEE Segment assets
— K — Cement 30,442,435 31,931,904
— BRE L — Concrete 2,389,759 3,129,614
— BRI EA, — Aggregates and others 25,415,153 22,407,660
58,247,347 57,469,178
KB 2R BB RERS Interests in associates 5,438,225 5,578,126
RE &R ER Interests in joint ventures 1,964,381 1,796,406
RIEHIEEE Deferred tax assets 791,895 787,119
AR TR I8 Taxation recoverable 60,957 74,869
AOBERAREE (7fa) Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 6,289,432 6,150,242
A EERT Consolidated total assets 72,792,237 71,855,940
&fE Liabilities
DEEE Segment liabilities
— K — Cement 5,266,932 5,528,993
— BR L — Concrete 1,119,330 1,888,189
— BRI EAD, — Aggregates and others 3,434,207 2,983,803
9,820,469 10,400,985
ELERIBRE Deferred tax liabilities 327,650 430,501
FEA BB Taxation payable 83,993 216,553
AHEARBE(Eb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) 16,812,956 15,547,784
FeRERRE Consolidated total liabilities 27,045,068 26,595,823

iz

a. AODMAREERRE RRITHEH BEM  a
RITFR - TAERANERREIEE

b. ADBERAFRBEERITER
%E’]E K% 4 ED B L At FE S 5ROR - R RVERTT
REKBFEERBEROERAAEEY
*BF“?EEP B MR ERIAEE S

[ANSIRER

CREFEEER b

D RARD

notes:

function of the Group.

deposits, loans to joint ventures and assets of the headquarters.

—E-=EEH

Ann

ual Report 2023

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged bank

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, loans from non-
controlling shareholders and other payables of the headquarters. The bank
loans and loans from non-controlling shareholders are classified as unallocated
corporate liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury

205



e M RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

6. BEHNDPHER (B 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Hftto HMEH

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Kife BET EBHRREM AFAEE 2 SE4H
Aggregates  Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete  and others level total
AR%THn AR%Trn AR¥Tr AR¥Tx AR%Tx
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
NEETEE Additions to fixed assets 2,108,235 130,271 2,858,755 3,681 5,100,942
REERE Additions to mining rights 529,906 - 554,263 - 1,084,169
EREEEEM Additions to right-of-use assets 233,616 39,839 401,735 - 675,190
EEEEN® (Decrease) increase in deposits
ORA) & for acquisition of assets (430,751) 7,604 (788,498)  (770,362)  (1,982,007)
RigEs s Amortization of mining rights 189,988 - 159,971 - 349,959
RIZE (BHEEE)EHE  (Reversal of) allowance for
doubtful debts (1,618) (28,278) 22,695 - (7,201)
H b EU A RE R Allowance (reversal of allowance)
B (AR &E) for doubtful debts of other
receivables 8,873 (8,745) (23,002) 96,974 74,100
ETEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,597,614 93,755 294,908 3,268 1,989,545
BREAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 117,934 27,149 76,071 16,823 237,977
HERTEE (Gain) loss on disposal of
() B#E fixed assets (258) (22,480) (101) 2,504 (20,335)
HEFRAREENKR Gain on disposal of right-of-use
assets (931) (4,573) - - (5,504)
GEENAE! Impairment of goodwill 35,669 6,667 35,759 - 78,095
EEEERE Impairment of fixed assets 2,627 - - - 2,627
FERE Impairment of inventories 3,805 - 1,115 - 4,920

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

EEERIBER B 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

HibhpEER (&) Other segment information (Continued)

HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_HA=1T—BHLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated)

(&&:75))

KR BET BRRAM  RARAEE W SGeRH
Aggregates  Corporate Consolidated

Cement Concrete  and others level total
ARBTFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NEBETEE Additions to fixed assets 2,546,428 108,671 2,130,636 14,748 4,800,483
R m Additions to mining rights 762,493 - 2,899,685 - 3662178
FREEELN Additions to right-of-use assets 667,378 58,786 163,433 18,359 907,956
BEZES(AD)EM (Decrease) increase in deposits

for acquisition of assets (750,282) 3,275 938,326 (150,822) 40,497
RERE Amortization of mining rights 200,837 - 25,248 - 226,085
RZOE (BEEE)EIK (Reversal of) allowance for

doubtful debts (5,558) 219,014 26,091 - 239,547
HEMEWFIERZEEE  Alowance (reversal of allowance)

(R ) for doubtful debts of other

receivables 640 (274) (2,164) (1,142) (2,940)
EEEEME Depreciation of fixed assets 1,552,812 88,315 114,771 218 1,756,116
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 94.614 24125 48,566 25,287 192,592
HEEFEEE Yz) BE  (Gain) loss on disposal of

fixed assets (10,174) 593 (12) (338) (9,931)
HEGRREENKS Gain on disposal of right-of-use

assets (7,907) - - - (7,907)
FERERD Reversal of impairment of

inventories (391) - - - (391)
FBEXEEFNEHR Information about major customers
REZMEFEARN - RNEBHERE S8 No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of
HERNBEERARAEBEHERBED the total sales of the Group for both years.
10% °
wEER Geographical information
AEBOMEBERARERBDEEEER All revenue and non-current assets of the Group are arisen in
NMARFPBE R REE - and located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.

—EIC-EER
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

7. HMA 7. OTHER INCOME
—E-= -
2023 2022
ARBTR ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000
€<=27))
(Restated)
BT 82R (71) Government incentives (note) 54,312 83,789
B WA Interest income 77,759 100,419
e WA Rental income 21,531 38,445
KERBEEE Compensation received from insurance 3,522 2,595
REHENREFHEEE Compensation received from suppliers

and customers 63,256 33,630
HEBRTEEER RS Gain on disposal of fixed assets 20,335 9,931
HECAEEE = Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 5,504 7,907
BEENE R RS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 163,616 193,944
RERE —KEE QAW Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 980 -
BRE—REE R AW Gain on disposal of a joint venture - 15,184
Hith Others 161,027 88,663
571,842 574,507

i BREREEEMFBENRT - £EWHE note: Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating

K BERER &) B2 o subsidies and energy reduction incentives from local governments.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

e MBERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZTZZ=F+=-A=1+—HIFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

AT EENFE
RITER
KE—FKERZERARHER

KAFFEBRBERNER
RIGEERE
HERE
BEEERNNE

B EENMERETEENT R

Interests on:

Bank loans

Loans from an intermediate holding
company

Loans from non-controlling shareholders

Provision for environmental restoration

Lease liabilities

Payable for acquisition of assets

Less: Amount capitalized to fixed assets

528,441 324,443
- 13,257

7,509 9,734
27,882 24,450
11,865 9,438
61,786 -
637,483 381,322
(101,669) (80,086)
535,814 301,236

—g-=EEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

9. BRBIAIZER

BRABNENE GEA) X TRIE:

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging

(crediting):
—E-=F T
2023 2022
ARBTRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB'000
(&=E5)
(Restated)
EE=WE (K 10) Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) 3,812 4,870
BT (TBIEESE)RIKEMA KR Pension costs and mandatory provident
wElE A E e R fund contributions for staff, excluding
Directors 261,067 267,442
HAh 8 THRA Other staff costs 2,792,020 2,799,392
B TARALER Total staff costs 3,056,899 3,071,704
RIBER (BB D) 1R (Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts (7,201) 239,547
H Ath JE B RIEE R E IR Allowance (reversal of allowance) for
(3 mE) doubtful debts of other receivables 74,100 (2,940)
PR 1 3 Amortization of mining rights 349,959 226,085
1% S5 B i B Auditor’s remuneration 5,000 7,413
BEEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,989,545 1,756,116
PHEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 237,977 192,592
GFERECRERE) Impairment (reversal of impairment)
of inventories 4,920 (391)
HEREE Impairment of goodwill 78,095 -
BT EERE Impairment of fixed assets 2,627 -
REAHEERR Short term lease payments 21,021 20,509
AEHEENRK—RE Variable lease payments — motor vehicles 312,908 440,230

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

10.

BE-_R-_=Ft+-A=1+—-HILFE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BIRERA
RS
ESHe HeRREE QAREMR  BBERA @t
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries  provident
Directors’ and fund Discretionary
EEpE Name of Director fees  allowances contributions bonus Total
ARBTE AR®TR AR%TR AR%TR AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HITEE Executive Directors
fRA JI Youhong - 1,567 205 - 1,772
StE” JING Shiging’ - 868 128 - 996
P Sub-total - 2,435 333 - 2,768
HHITEE Non-executive Directors
KF ZHU Ping - - - - -
FHR YU Shutian™* - - - - -
B ZHOU Bo™ - - - - -
BRE YANG Changyi - - - - -
BRI CHEN Kangren* - - - - -
Na Sub-total - - - - -
BUFHTEE Independent non-executive
Directors
EHg IP Shu Kwan Stephen 261 - - - 261
A8k SHEK Lai Him Abraham 261 - - - 261
28 ZENG Xuemin 261 - - - 261
RipE NG Kam Wah Webster 261 - - - 261
EE Sub-total 1,044 - - - 1,044
1,044 2,435 333 - 3,812

R-ZE_=FNA+NAEZRE-

* RZZEZ=F A+ NBRIE-

RIBE-_=ZFAA-_T_REZE-

*

Appointed with effect from 18 April 2023.

Retired with effect from 18 August 2023.

Appointed with effect from 22 September 2023.

TECZFER
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HEZZ-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

10. EEME (®)
BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—RHIEE

10. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Restated)

(L&)

HITEE Executive Director
fERAL JI Youhong - 1,504 191 1,985 3,680
FHTEE Non-executive Directors
FRRM LI Fuli - - - - _
®F ZHU Ping - - - - -
BREC CHEN Kangren - - - - _
BRR YANG Changyi 196 - - - 196
g Sub-total 196 - - - 196
BUHHITEE Independent non-executive
Directors
31 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 248 - - - 248
RigH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 248 - - - 248
L2 ZENG Xuemin 248 - - - 248
RigE” NG Kam Wah Webster" 127 - - - 127
WE R LAM Chi Yuen Nelson** 123 - - - 123
et Sub-total 994 - . . 994
1,190 1,504 191 1,985 4,870

* RZZEZ_FRANAEE- * Resigned with effect from 6 May 2022.

" RZTEZZ_FRAZTHREZE- " Appointed with effect from 29 June 2022.

* RZTEZZFRAZTABEE - ** Resigned with effect from 29 June 2022.

EBHEMBREZERERLA
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e R R R A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid

for their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors

shown above were paid for their services as directors of the

Company.

11. EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2023 included one
Director (2022: one) whose emoluments are included in the

disclosures in Note 10 above. Total remunerations paid to the

five highest paid individuals are:

—E-= S —
2023 2022
AR¥BTRT AR%TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&)
(Restated)
e MERL Salaries and allowances 5,891 6,103
BB TEAL Discretionary bonus 1,359 6,750
IRRE B F 58 il 1 Pension costs and mandatory
NESHET provident fund contributions 853 866
8,103 13,719
BENFHNN TIATEE : Their remunerations were within the following bands:
—®&—-= —=E=——
2023 2022
1,500,001 7% 7T Z 2,000,000 7% 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 4 -
2,000,001 % 7L & 2,500,000 % 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 -
2,500,001 % 7T & 3,000,000 % 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 3
3,000,001 % 7T & 3,500,000% 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 - 1
4,000,001 7 7T & 4,500,000 7% 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 - 1
5 5
—E=ZEER 213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

12. B\ 12. TAXATION
2023 2022
AR TR ARBTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
€<=27))
(Restated)
RVER#H I8 Current taxation
BHENEM Hong Kong Profits Tax 14,870 11,449
H B 3 7R R PR ASA Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax 418,246 844,589
433,116 856,038
RBAFEBRETZ Underprovision (overprovision)
(EBRRRE) in prior years
ERMER Hong Kong Profits Tax 33 (50)
FEAEMER Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax (24,059) (68,736)
(24,026) (68,786)
IEIERLIB (K2t 23) Deferred taxation (Note 23)
BB Hong Kong 2,048 101
A i Chinese Mainland (115,855) (441,848)
(113,807) (441,747)
295,283 345,505

EBMEHIEWE N G EREF
A 16.5% TR H -

B A b 1 S FTAS I B 4R P E 6 T2 AR
BEPEALEEERNERT KRR
5%t BRI TS - IW5%TE M P
M3 AR B IR B A R IZ 5%t B ey
M BRBRADIRNBEE —KEE
R A A ERAER ©

B A A SR B 3R A 12 o FR A = SR AV B (B B
M BERREEITETISRAERLNR
R - P B A S KT B A B R
—E-=F+ - A=+—HFRERNK
APERBBAEEHBREEEARYE
34,982,199,000 L (ZE = —F (K&
H) + AR ¥534,810,760,000 JT) -+ I 4
A BHREPUEERBEEED
I

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax includes the income
tax calculated at 25% on the taxable income of the group
entities in the Chinese Mainland, the withholding tax
calculated at 5% on dividends in the Chinese Mainland, and
the deferred tax calculated at 5% on the intended distribution
profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding

company in Hong Kong, for both years.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of RMB34,982,199,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022
(Restated): RMB34,810,760,000) earned by the subsidiaries
established in the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE

12. BLE ()

12. TAXATION (Continued)

ZEZ=F+ZA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

NEE A AT E R AT BT E AR The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated
UM profit before taxation as follows:
—E=F —T-—
2023 2022
AR%®TR AR®TET
RMB’000 RMB'000
($&&E5)
(Restated)
B 5 BT &L F Profit before taxation 913,823 1,897,264
LB A ZEREN Tax at the Chinese Mainland Enterprise
13 R 25% B 5% Income Tax rate of 25% 228,456 474,316
B F FE R B AR H R 9 Tax effect of expenses that are not
BERAMNBGE deductible in determining taxable profit 52,579 34,458
EERANBN RS TR Tax effect of income that is not taxable in
WA IS & determining taxable profit (46,157) (98,203)
AT HREANHHEAFERIIE  Tax effect of tax exemptions granted to
HEmBBEE certain Chinese Mainland subsidiaries (29,127) (18,348)
RERBRGEENBETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognized 85,655 76,657
FARARERNRIEEEL Tax effect of utilization of tax losses
M2 previously not recognized (538) (5,048)
JEEEE & N R EENTR ST E Tax effect of share of results of associates 25,366 (3,811)
RIERERAIXENRBTE Tax effect of share of results of joint
ventures (11,654) 15,198
EEHMBNEEBEEEHM B AR Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
M ARMENTE operating in other jurisdictions (10,214) (5,358)
AR B R E A &R Tax effect of distributable profits of
M E Chinese Mainland subsidiaries 14,176 (58,235)
RIS & A IR RE B Withholding tax of dividend paid by
TE Chinese Mainland joint ventures 2,610 2,665
HAEANHHEATMEEWZ Withholding tax of disposal gain of
COREER Chinese Mainland subsidiary 8,157
BT FEBERE Overprovision in prior years (24,026) (68,786)
AEFEMTEHZ Taxation expense for the year 295,283 345,505
—E=FEER
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

13.

iR K8 R 5T

BB A 2 AR E M RUE HFURIK
e 2 mast B E (e
RTEREE) - RERFENRTENE
ERBVERESEBRE - HEng
BIOAEEEAFENBEETEN L RE
£ WRERAZEWRERT N - BB
B 8 EEZ A ERDR YRR LR
EARASENOER REREHPR - LE
ERSENOREARKRMHER - &HIMER
B3 THEERARENEELESR
REARZEGI THESHHFE - AEH
kERBERARSGIEAERBIHK -

AEEEPEANMNEEDENPEA
& B 77 R R A BUN B IR KR
METEIMK R - AEBEZARRKREFG
BN TERE B LN ERERER
BEd  ARBERZSFAETHE—RE
RTRFEHR o AR E R T B A
BEMERH2EAEEFRHETRNK
FHE -

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF"). The assets
of the defined contribution retirement schemes are held
separately in independently administered funds. The amount
of contributions is based on a specified percentage of the
basic salaries of employees and is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any
forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff
leavers will be used to reduce the Group’s contributions.
There was no significant amount of unutilized forfeited
contributions at the end of each reporting period. The assets
under the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of the trustee. The Group and each of

the employees make monthly contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the respective local government in the
Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions. Employees of the Group in the Chinese
Mainland are also offered to participate in the Group's

defined contribution retirement schemes.
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HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

14. BE 14. DIVIDENDS
2023 2022
AR®BTRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(F &)
(Restated)
FADERIED KRS Dividends recognized as distribution
during the year:
ZEZ=FFEH —FR0041BIL 2023 Interim — HK$0.041 per share
ZEZZF  §R012ET) (2022: HK$0.12 per share) 263,370 720,573
ZEZZFRH —FPR0.009E L 2022 Final — HK$0.009 per share
ZEZ—F : §R028%ET) (2021: HK$0.28 per share) 56,619 1,678,500
319,989 2,399,073
RBERE BE_T_=F+_A Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
=T —HIEFE/RARESTR0.006 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of HK$0.006
Bz -_—_F#+=-_B=+—H per share (HK$0.009 per share in respect of the year ended 31
IEFEER0009ET) ERESFEZRIR December 2022) has been proposed by the Directors and is
- HEFREREERRBEFARE L subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
TR - FAEE - IRIBARRQARINAFE annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$41,898,000
WEHBEBEITROBESTENER A (2022: HK$62,846,000) of the proposed final dividend,
1% B 48 %E 41,898,000 8 T (ZF = —4F : calculated based on the Company’s number of shares issued
62,846,0007% 7T) W MR 4R & BT B R at the date of this annual report, is not recognized as a liability
NERS—HEE - in the consolidated statement of financial position.
—Eo=FER
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HEZTZZ=F+=ZA=1+—HIFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

15. BRER 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
RRARERAREBRERBA THER The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
AT EHRETE MK - the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BF Earnings
RERERBNTEHEARF] Earnings attributable to the owners of

HAEAEERT the Company for the purpose of

basic earnings per share 643,821 1,612,583

RHEE Number of shares
HERERRF TS & Weighted average number of shares for

&7 Nt 19 E B the purpose of basic earnings per share  6,982,937,817  6,982,937,817
ARARB W EES W RETEBEY No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company
ARG BWUEZ25GREERF - did not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.

EHEMBEERBRAT
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HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

16. BIE&EE 16. FIXED ASSETS
IHEREY BERRE URRE Hfh  ERIE ag
landand  Plant and Logistics Construction
buildings  machinery  equipment Others  in progress Total
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMBOO0O  RMB'OO0  RMB'OO  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
723 COST
RZZEZZF—A—H  At1January 2022 (Restated)

(m=5) 12692145 23542870 1850224 1537732 2115545 41,738,516
AE Additions 8514 354,881 33647 167263 4236178 4800483
WERBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,186,756 752,582 36,576 7,351 9,867 2,080,132
FEIRATHERE  Transfer upon completion of

construction in progress 1,022,889 1,031,940 - 31,898 (2,086,727) -
e /i Disposals/written off (33714 (285653) (78,008) (40,224) (5208 (442,827)
RENBAF Disposal of subsidiaries (1,087,425) (774,426) (50,548) (10,563) (11,900)  (1,934,862)
5 Exchange adjustments 21,070 10,647 2,681 1911 - 36,309
R-B-—%F+-R At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

=+-RA(8&7) 13810235 24632841 1794572 1695368 4344735 46277751
AE Additions 822,046 138,268 34,429 71642 4034537 5100942
FRIRBTHEER  Transfer upon completion of

construction in progress 1,678,661 1,463,222 11,677 84502 (3,238,062 -
gaRanx Transfer from investment property 116,125 - - - - 116,125
e /i Disposals/written off (16722)  (397347)  (116,729) (14,859) (3100 (545963)
REWBAA Disposal of subsidiaries (21,330) (12537)  (118,448) (3,989) - (156301)
% Exchange adjustments 4,887 2,095 867 608 - 8457
RZEZ=ZFF+ZF  At31December 2023

=t+-R 16393902 25826562 1606374 1833273 5140900 50,801,011
RMEERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

AND IMPAIRMENT
RZZZZF-A—B  At1January 2022 (Restated)

(m=3)) 3319279 12292204 936,556 822,834 20253 17573416
FERZ Charge for the year 42175 1,196,004 64,322 73,615 - 1756116
e /i Disposals/written off (28661)  (269,035) 65,538) (34,456) (5228) (402,918
REMBAT Disposal of subsidiaries (291,114)  (445587) (33,844) 9,060) - (779,605)
5 Exchange adjustments 8,845 8,100 2,703 1677 - 21,325
RZB-—%F+-R At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

=t+—RA(8&7) 3430524 12,781,706 904,199 854,610 197,295 18,168,334
ERRX Charge for the year 517907 1238328 113703 119,607 - 1,989,545
REEEWZ) Impairment losses (note) - - - - 2,627 2,627
e /i Disposals/written off 0777)  (362,268) (99,274) (10,939) (3100 (482,568)
REMBARF Disposal of subsidiaries 9,765) 9,539) (31,904) (2517) - (53725)
5 Exchange adjustments 1,604 1,553 494 27 - 3,888
RZEZ=%+=A At 31 December 2023

=t+-R 3930493 13,649,780 887,218 960,998 199612 19,628,101
REE CARRYING VALUE
RZZE-=£+-f At 31 December 2023

=1+-H 12463409 12176782 719,15 872275 4941288 31,172,910
RZZE--F+-A At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

=+—-H(EE5)) 10379711 11,851,135 890,373 840758 4,147,440  28,109417

S EEY 2
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

16. BIEEE (®) 16. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
EMEZRERAGEMERERBES Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and
EEE- leasehold improvements.

i BEZ-=FR-E-_F+ A=+ note: During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Directors
BIEFERN EEHUAREENEETEEEE conducted a review of the Group's production assets and determined
TG ETRZEEERRNRESER that impairment loss of RMB2,627,000 (2022: Nil) has been recognized in
ARM2,627,0007C (ZTZZ4F : ) © respect of these assets.

17. EAEEE HEAE 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) FHEEE (@) Right-of-use assets
AEEFHAREEENREERS The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
NEBWT and the movements during the year are as follows:

=+ ih EEEY) st

Land Buildings Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AZEZZF—H—H Asat1January 2022 (Restated)

(F&E5)) 3,396,902 139,493 3,536,395
RE Additions 600,460 307,496 907,956
g1y EYNG] Acquisition of subsidiaries 474,941 1,969 476,910
HE Disposals (4,945) - (4,945)
EEMB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (139,992) - (139,992)
HEERT Lease modification - (2,714) (2,714)
FEMRAX Charge for the year (140,021) (52,571) (192,592)
ME 5, 55 B Exchange adjustments - 314 314
R-E-_—F+=H As at 31 December 2022

=t+—H&E)) (Restated) 4,187,345 393,987 4,581,332
NE Additions 647,599 27,591 675,190
W B8 — R M B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 16,224 - 16,224
BENEB AR Disposal of subsidiaries (37,009) (13,004) (50,013)
MEEaT Lease modification (24,709) (36,022) (60,731)
FERX Charge for the year (181,911) (56,066) (237,977)
M 58 B Exchange adjustments (44) 619 575
RZZTEZ=%F+=A As at 31 December 2023

=+—H 4,607,495 317,105 4,924,600
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HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

17. ERREEE HESG %) 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)
b) HEAE (b) Lease liabilities

HERGBMKRAE GIARBEN
AR A A R B OR) RER

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

other payables and other long term payables) and the

FEmT movements during the year are as follows:
—=EB== =
2023 2022
ARSTR ARETE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
(geE7)
(Restated)
FAHEH Balance at beginning of the year 227,289 182,588
0 Additions 184,591 110,659
L B B B8 A A Acquisition of subsidiaries - 4,669
FMERX Interest expense 11,865 9,438
BEEKEAF Disposal of subsidiaries (3,735) -
(EN Payments (62,342) (77,782)
HEERT Lease modification (66,235) (2,736)
bEE 34 3 B Exchange adjustments 660 453
FRER Balance at end of the year 292,093 227,289
Pakilv= 1 Analyzed into:
BVER &L 5 (KA 31) Current portion (Note 37) 150,625 69,793
SERNEAER 5 (F77E 32) Non-current portion (Note 32) 141,468 157,496
292,093 227,289
(0 EFHHEEMRsRIERERE (c) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note
BB SRR M 5T 4200) F - 42(b) to the financial statements.
—EBI=EER 221
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

18. REWH 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
2023 2022
AR¥BTRT AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000
(FE7)
(Restated)
FHEE Balance at beginning of the year 116,125 106,288
i A\ BT EE Transfer to fixed assets (116,125) -
HE H, B Exchange adjustments - 9,837
FRES Balance at end of the year - 116,125
AEBRBELEHEAFEUARRESH All of the Group's leasehold interests in land held under
FrE i EED  DHEIBAKRE operating leases to earn rental are classified and accounted
MENIAREMEANER ° for as investment property.
REBREAEFEREME -R=2F The Group held investment property in Hong Kong. The fair
T A=T—HHNAFEEDR value as at 31 December 2022 has been arrived at on the
BRHEAEEVEMSENBEYISERE basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by
EHEMBERITAERARNEHBE S Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified
Bk B - professional valuer not connected to the Group.
RZBZZF+ZA=1T—HBHRATFE The fair value as at 31 December 2022 was determined based
BENREBETISHEELEEETE on the market sales comparable approach.
R ZEMENRTEBER & In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and
REEANMERKREERMEANYE - best use of the property is their current use.
RZEZZF+ZA=+—10 &EH Details of the Group's investment property and information
BREDNENHBLAEBAFTEESZRD about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 was as
BREHINNT - follows:
NEEE
Fair value
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000
(FE7))
(Restated)
DERE_BNREME Investment property classified as Level 2 116,125
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. BREE 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
meE BRiERE et
Goodwill  Mining rights Total
ARETT AREKTT AREKTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
%N COST
R-ZE-——F—H—H At 1 January 2022 (Restated)

(&) 1,159,876 9,979,539 11,139,415
NE Additions - 3,662,178 3,662,178
WM E A ) Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,072,296 3,229,633 4,301,929
BRE—RMERA Disposal of a subsidiary (15,972) (91,078) (107,050)
R-TBE-_—_F+=-H4 At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

=t+—HB#&E5)) 2,216,200 16,780,272 18,996,472
NE Additions - 1,084,169 1,084,169
HEZHHFE Adjustment for change in

consideration (16,768) - (16,768)
ME W S Exchange adjustments 197 - 197
M_E_= At 31 December 2023

+=-—A=+—H 2,199,629 17,864,441 20,064,070

Rt @ RRE ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
WZZE-—%—H—H At 1 January 2022 (Restated)

(5&E5) 69,618 1,004,687 1,074,305
FEMAX Charge for the year 226,085 226,085
BRE—RHNEBEAQA Disposal of a subsidiary (15,972) (21,393) (37,365)
RZEZ_ZF+=H At 31 December 2022

=+—H&E5)) (Restated) 53,646 1,209,379 1,263,025
FERXZ Charge for the year 349,959 349,959
RIEEE Impairment losses 78,095 - 78,095
RZEZ=F At 31 December 2023

+-A=+—8 131,741 1,559,338 1,691,079
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-=#F At 31 December 2023

+-A=+—8© 2,067,888 16,305,103 18,372,991
R-TBE-_—F+=H4 At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

=+—B#&EY) 2,162,554 15,570,893 17,733,447

RiE#a A ERFHNTRI0FE50F

SNEE o

=T

S
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The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.

223



frE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20.

AR ER A

EIEETERYHEETRERD - BE
AADERDEBENSERSELE
(VAOIIR QEI at= sRe ey e A B
EE@REERAEE(ERERD
BEF WMACELBUNHAIKEEER
EREREE  AIERBRESE -mED
REARKBEREGHEEGMBRNNRTE
HEEBRIMNT

20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

Management regularly performed impairment testing on
goodwill. The impairment test is based on the recoverable
amount of the respective CGUs to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount of the CGUs was
determined based on the value in use (“VIU") calculation.
Where the recoverable amount of the CGUs is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. The
goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs identified

according to nature of businesses as follows:

2023 2022

AR¥TRT AR%T

RMB’000 RMB’000

(FRE7)

(Restated)

KIJE Cement 1,490,247 1,542,487
ZEEERBE BN Multiple units without significant goodwill 577,641 620,067
2,067,888 2,162,554

HE - Z-_=#%+-_A=+—8I%F
B BECREB AN REEEARE
35,669,000 7T JA F2 B % (] fE 51| 3F & K &
iz 18 B 19 3 E B 18 A R 42,426,000 7T
RI—RBRITHRER]FRER - ARRS
EXEBNEREANKE SR - FMAE
H ] g [el & 58 R BT A RRER 9 T F) 2L 1S
BYE—THRERE -

ZAERARBEREIENMEEE
AR &R EAITIEEIO%E14.6%
—E - F 1 13.0%) #TT AFHE
RS RERA 2% RREITHS -
ZMEREDENTEERBAEE T
HBBBATENTHRMIERE -

ARReELBENNERBENG &
BREMRE ZEBRROBEFMSENT
EEENEHTSERSELEMMNE
H{EBBE AW E S -

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

The impairment loss of RMB35,669,000 related to Cement
business and RMB42,426,000 related to several individual
immaterial units is recognised in “General and administrative
expenses” during the year ended 31 December 2023. As the
CGUs have been reduced to its recoverable amount, any
adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation of

recoverable amount would result in further impairment losses.

That calculation uses cash flow forecasts based on financial
budgets approved by management with discount rate range
from 9.0% to 14.6% (2022: 13.0%). The cash flows beyond the
five year period are extrapolated using 2% as growth rate.
This growth rate is based on the industry growth forecasts
and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for

the relevant industry.

With regard to the assessment of the VIU of the CGUs,
management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying

amounts of the CGUs to exceed recoverable amounts.
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21. REFE R RN 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2023 2022
AR%T ARBFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
(&=:75)
(Restated)
R &R R E KA Cost of investments in associates 5,778,223 5,754,423
BB Impairment (454,000) (454,000)
HHIER AR K& Share of post-acquisition profits and
HEih2EUA - RAR B other comprehensive income,
net of dividends 114,002 277,703
5,438,225 5,578,126
BERNRRRREERRERRERS Included in the carrying amount of interests in associates is
REAMEENEEBREARE goodwill with a total amount of RMB584,762,000 (2022
584,762,000 (ZZE - —F (K EF) : (Restated): RMB584,762,000) arising from the acquisitions of
AR #584,762,0007T) ° associates.
“EC=EER
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21. REERTINER (8) 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
REBEEHEQNRMNFBET Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows:
rEEREER
BENRERE BRI B HMER ERMEERN TEER
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of registered capital
Name of associate establishment Registered capital held by the Group  Principal activities
—E-=E —ZT_—
2023 2022
AEHEAKEROERAT  FERM AR #600,000,0007T 40.6% 40.6% KERBRL EERHEE
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
BRERM (ER)ERECRR PEAM AREE329,411,700 T 49% 49% KEREETEERHEE
Fujian Building Material Chinese Mainland RMB329,411,700 Manufacture and sale of
(Holdings) Company Limited cement and concrete
ERKEEMEERRAA HEl A AR#1,321,220,000 T 50% 50% KRROBEE T EEEEE
Yunnan Cement & Building Chinese Mainland RMB1,321,220,000 Manufacture and sale of
Materials Group Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
BAM (RZ)ROHBRAF  HERM AR 359,997,610 7T 40% 0% NERRRAABEER
mT
Universal Marble & Granite Chinese Mainland RMB359,997,610 Manufacture and
(Dongguan) Co., Ltd. processing of

engineered stones
and natural stones

BEHE(LE)MURREN  TEAW ARH700,000,0007T 34% 34% FFRERH
BARRA
Haiken Runfeng (Tunchang) Chinese Mainland RMB700,000,000 Mining of aggregates

New Environmental
Protection Building
Materials Co., Ltd.

BEEZA FEN B AE BB L A The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
T U EEEAS B SR A opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
B EEFENESB G year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group.
gEipa . AEENBEL AT S BER In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group
WAEEMMSAREA - 5EAEEE are all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate
(2 S B A ] ) B4 TR L At B T A financial information in respect of the Group's shares of these
A M B ERHERNEA 2 ERSE - associates’ results and other comprehensive income is set out

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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22. REERAINRER 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
:E: = =
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(m=3)
(Restated)
REZLRARIKEKA Cost of investments in joint ventures 1,591,586 1,406,586
PE A Exchange adjustments (31,162) (24,750)
HYIER AR FRRE Share of post-acquisition profits net of
dividends 403,957 414,570
1,964,381 1,796,406
RZE_=ZF+_A=+—H &%2Q As at 31 December 2023, included in the cost of investment in
AINRER AT BEEKES E QAR joint ventures is goodwill of RMB127,991,000 (2022 (Restated):
EENEHEAR® 127,991,000 (ZF RMB126,161,000) arising from the acquisitions of joint
TZF(EFE))  AR®126,161,000 ventures.
JT) °
REBETEZRERRMFBET : Details of the Group's principal joint ventures are as follows:
BENAEE o 1 % L 3 26 BRETEEREE AEESARMEEMNLH TEEK
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value of
Place of of issued shares held
Name of joint venture incorporation ordinary shares by the Group Principal activities
—E-=F —ZE-__F
2023 2022
HEEKEER A A BRE 26,290 7T 50% 50% KR RORE T EEERHEE
China Century Cement Limited ~ Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of

cement and concrete

AEKEBRAR BB 10,000/ 7 50% 50% KRAELHE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement

TECZFER
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22. REERTHES (B 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
EERRLRIENEAEENEGER The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
Al -HFEXEREZXBENEBHRAE the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of
ErEEFENEZMD - the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group.
EERE AEBENFEEERAER In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the
RTIEXR - BRLEEEEZZFEER Group are individually not material. Aggregate financial
AIMERENMEMEEBANE HYBE information in respect of the Group's share of these joint

BHENGREe 2EREE ventures' results and other comprehensive income is set out

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

23. EEHIE 23. DEFERRED TAXATION
AT AREEMERNEZRERIE (8 The following is the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
B)EERERAFEANET - recognized by the Group and movements thereof during the
year.

EBAR  RENE  HERR

NERERE AYEERE AYEELRD REfM BH @t
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax
tax  onbusiness investment losses ~ Withholding
depreciation combinations property  and others taxes Total

ARBTE ARETL ARBTE ARETL ARBTT ARETR
RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBIOO0

RZE--%—-fA—H At 1 January 2022 (Restated)

(mE3) (17,734) (64,303) (15,084) 437737 (249,610) 91,006
REE(BR)FA (Charge) credit for the year
(Hit12) (Note 12) (60,857) 8,177 - 288,286 206,135 441,747
WEHB AT Acquisition of subsidiaries (4,545) (229,676) - 66,824 - (167,397)
RENBAF Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (6,098) - (6,098)
fE R % Exchange adjustments (1,614) - (1,396) 370 - (2,640)
RZZZZE+ZA=+—H At31 December 2022
(m=5)) (Restated) (84,744) (285,802) (16,480) 787,119 (43,475) 356,618
REE(HR)FHA (Charge) credit for the year
(Mit12) (Note 12) (160,603) 20911 - 204,374 29125 113,807
REMFE\ETEE Transfer of investment
property to fixed assets (16,480) - 16,480 - - -
WEMRB AT Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 257 - 257
REMBAE Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (5938) - (5,938)
B aE Exchange adjustments (563) - - 64 - (499)
RZZZ=F+-A=1—H At 31 December 2023 (262,390) (264,891) - 1,005,876 (14,350) 464,245
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23. EERHIE (&) 23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
—=-= —E-—
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
€<==27))
(Restated)
BEEMIEEE Deferred tax assets 791,895 787,119
BRERIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities (327,650) (430,501)
464,245 356,618

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 RHEE
BAREET7274740000 (2T = —F (&€
=5) + AR#403,069,0007T) B & K
BT R ETER - W AR AR
MBEE ZELAEREESRBE
EFEERAFTREE-

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax asset has been
recognized in respect of the tax losses of RMB727,474,000
(2022 (Restated): RMB403,069,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams, which will expire within 5 years from

the year of origination.

24. REEBWRIA 24. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

ZREETEREARERANEEEE T
NFRERBBFNEREEREZE
EREREEEESNNEE -R—FR
FEU B R IR B FT A M FEUCGROR -

The amount mainly represented advances paid to the local
governments in the Chinese Mainland for facilitating the
transfer of land to the Group and deposits paid for
environmental restoration in relation to the construction of
production lines. The amount due within one year was

included in other receivables.

25. & 25. INVENTORIES

—_E-= =
2023 2022
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
(&&E751)
(Restated)
R L X B R S Raw materials and consumables 719,806 1,191,060
ERE Work in progress 563,553 673,713
4P Finished goods 612,668 575,822
1,896,027 2,440,595

—EIC-EER
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26. EWWE F R 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

BRE=ZFHNESER Trade receivables from third parties 1,540,201 2,507,186
JENEARE U E SRR Trade receivables from related parties 179,421 83,892
1,719,622 2,591,078
AEEEETHEEFPERHLBERAHR The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period
FTOZE60 B M T EEHAIEER - of 0 to 60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its
customers.
T AREREHRBEEZAHIIR The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
WEKE Z R (R REZREE) N allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice
BT © date at the end of each reporting period.

0&90H 0 to 90 days

91&180H 91 to 180 days

181 £ 365 H 181 to 365 days

i@ 365 H Over 365 days
EREMNRERERAE
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1,104,190 1,224,946
162,018 379,873
148,680 520,069
304,734 466,190

1,719,622 2,591,078
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26. BWE B RN (8

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

RIFREE N E S Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

:g:E =
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARBTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
€<==27))
(Restated)
FHIEER Balance at beginning of the year 616,747 382,293
RIERR (B ED) HiR (Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts (7,201) 239,547
871 ] U 1Bl FRIE Amount written off as uncollectible (132) (5,105)
BEEMNB AT Disposal of subsidiaries (15,589) -
ME S Exchange adjustments 90 12
FRER Balance at end of the year 593,915 616,747

RZZEZ=F+ZHA=+—8H " ' KEH»
HIREENK AT ENERE SRR EER
T EA AR 134,102,0007T * R AR
#98,619,0007L 2 —F A HHEES
BENT4%ZE7% + T AR 35,483,000
ThA—FUE EHEEEEXR
100% - AR-—E-_=F+=-_HA=+—8
BER T O EIREBIEN AT ENERKE S
RN BEEEARARE1,281,356,000
gL H & AR #587,520,000 7T & — F
N FBEHEEBEENT3I%E4A% ' A
R 693,836,0007C & —F LA L - TEHIE
BEEBENTI8HEI0% BT
Z=F+ZA=+—H EFHEREMD
HIREER AT ENERE S ERBE
T EAARE470,964,0007C - R AR
#5344,789,000 05— F N - EHIEEE
BENTFI%ZE8% M AR
126,175,000t 8 —F A £ - BHEEE
BENTF11% 2 100% °

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for cement segment
was RMB134,102,000, of which RMB98,619,000 was within one
year with an ECL rate ranging from 4% to 7% and
RMB35,483,000 was over one year with an ECL rate of 100%.
As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for concrete segment
was RMB1,281,356,000, of which RMB587,520,000 was within
one year with an ECL rate ranging from 3% to 4%,
RMB693,836,000 was over one year with ECL rate from 38% to
100%. As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of
trade receivables measured at amortized cost for aggregates
and others segment was RMB470,964,000 of which
RMB344,789,000 was within one year with an ECL rate ranging
from 3% to 8%, RMB126,175,000 was over one year with ECL
rate from 11% to 100%.

TECZFER
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26. BEREZERR (@) 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

RERBENRE (B)

RZEZZF+ZA=+—8" ' KEH
IR B R AT E N EUE 5 R ARE
{8 A5 AR122,318,000 7T (K&EF) -
Hrh AR#91,6150007 (REF]) A—
FR BHEEBBENTIE6%
im A R #30,703,0007C (&£ E5|) A—F
AE - EHREEBIEEA100% - RZE
TCFEFT A=+ —H  REREHIRK
BHEAAHENERE ZREREETE
A AR #2,335422,000 7T (KREF]) - &
th A R 1,457,326,0007C (REFI|) B —
FR - EHREEEEENTI%E4.5%
A R #878,096,0007T (F&EF) B—F
LE EHEEEBRENT4%E
100% - R—_E-_—_F+-_HA=+—8"
Bt I E b o> SR i SH AR AN FT 2 /Y FE UK
B 5 EFBREER AR 347,143,000
JC (&Y » BErp ARM 242,185,000 7T
(EEY)) B—FRN BHEEEBEEBEN
F3%ZE5% * M A R 104,958,000 7T
(BEY) B—FU L FBHEEHIEXR
N F 9% 2 100% °
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Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for cement segment
was RMB122,318,000 (Restated), of which RMB91,615,000
(Restated) was within one year with an ECL rate ranging from
3% to 6% and RMB30,703,000 (Restated) was over one year
with an ECL rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2022, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables measured at amortized
cost for concrete segment was RMB2,335,422,000 (Restated),
of which RMB1,457,326,000 (Restated) was within one year
with an ECL rate ranging from 3% to 4.5%, RMB878,096,000
(Restated) was over one year with ECL rate from 41% to 100%.
As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for aggregates and
others segment was RMB347,143,000 (Restated), of which
RMB242,185,000 (Restated) was within one year with an ECL
rate ranging from 3% to 5%, RMB104,958,000 (Restated) was
over one year with ECL rate from 9% to 100%.
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27. OTHER RECEIVABLES
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—E-=F —F-—
2023 2022
AR®T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
(K& =E51)
(Restated)
B R 2 Prepayment and deposits 26,703 76,221
ERRMEHEER ST ® Deposits paid to suppliers of raw materials 333,211 355,599
(8 5 Ko E A A Uk B 7 IR Value-added tax and other tax
recoverables 249,386 211,637
£ B e YR IE 89 BN BRER 19 Current portion of long term receivables 107,743 137,743
JE Ug Bt 2 N BIFRIA (7t a) Amounts due from associates (note a) 40,259 139,484
JEUR & &N BFIE (3 b) Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) 51,451 158,968
JE W SE 1 AR AR SRR3R (72 ¢) Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders (note ¢) 20,820 117,301
REMNB AR ERRE Consideration receivables for disposal of
subsidiary 195,360 -
Hity Others 385,067 286,159
1,410,000 1,483,112
Fr notes:
a. FEULEE &N B FIE A EIE L EESREE - a. The amounts due from associates are unsecured and repayable on

HApEt8En B AR18,269,0007T (ZF
ZZF+ZA=+—B (BEY) : AR
97,727,0007C) °

&

fiE )

EREERRRBEATHE  BEMRER

k&

_‘.

°

FEYGER B R RIBE AT R EIER K&

demand, of which RMB18,269,000 (31 December 2022 (Restated):

RMB97,727,000) is interest-bearing.

b. The amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, unsecured and

repayable on demand.

c. The amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are interest-free,

unsecured and repayable on demand.

S EEY 2
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28. EEHBRITHER 28. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

mE Current - 45,945
JERE Non-current 445,150 417,450
445,150 463,395
29. B RBITHER 29. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
AR RBITEABRNAZTEEEER Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts
HRE EEE AN BB EFHER BN T © denominated in currencies other than the functional

currencies of the respective group entities.

BT HK$ 168,123 294,363
ETT us$ 1,082 1,201

IRITHEEREVE R K& E Range of interest rates of the bank

balances (per annum) 0.01-4.90 0.01-3.85
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30. ENEZERR 30. TRADE PAYABLES

ERE=FTNEFER Trade payables to third parties 2,882,184 2,799,790
JEREAB T E SRR Trade payables to related parties 96,435 96,025
2,978,619 2,895,815
REBEBEEEHEENSFIOE0H The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days
EEH -UTARSREMARBERE from its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
HEASREEN B 5 R RAIBRE D AT o payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of

each reporting period.

0Z90H 0to 90 days 2,886,361 2,713,267
912180 H 91 to 180 days 39,912 106,729
181 %365 H 181 to 365 days 29,491 66,663
838 365 H Over 365 days 22,855 9,156

2,978,619 2,895,815
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31. EMEMSNRIE 31. OTHER PAYABLES

—E-= -
2023 2022
AR¥BTRT AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB'000
(r=E751)
(Restated)
e RERFRIERWEEERN Payables to constructors and for the
FES 5K acquisition of assets 1,756,165 1,856,373
WHEMB AR Ba m R Consideration payables for acquisition of
SERNRIMNEMNKE subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures 676,850 1,065,852
KEBFPWET® (Mita) Deposit from customers (note a) 497,754 771,514
FESFEET T& RIEAT Accrued wages and bonus payables 698,363 777,986
KEHEFHNRER Guarantee deposits from suppliers 417,598 491,300
o fth e IR Other tax payables 422,501 348,796
HERBEMZ17) Lease liabilities (Note 17) 150,625 69,793

A BRIEE TR (H it 32)

Payables for environmental restoration

(Note 32) 6,994 6,975

Amounts due to non-controlling

e IRAE B BCR 50R (HYiE b)

shareholders (note b) 29,813 51,870
HAf Others 842,947 1,057,610
5,499,610 6,498,069
it notes:
(a) N—E__F+_A=Zt+—HBHWHANERE (a) The balance of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 were fully

BHN T ZFREHRR/WA

recognised as revenue in 2023.

(b)  RENIEERBRRGAREER TSR (b)

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.
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32. HRENRIE 32. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES

HEBBMT17) Lease liabilities (Note 17) 141,468 157,496
RIBEERE Provision for environmental restoration 557,194 520,030
g B8 & EE R 308 Payable for acquisition of assets 1,080,437 1,133,565
HAth Others 94,659 64,422
1,873,758 1,875,513
BRESERBENED Movements in the provision for environmental

restoration

FEE Balance at beginning of the year 527,005 418,634
b2pill Additions 30,728 73,187
st i B 8 1 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries - 31,642
BEE—XWBAR Disposal of a subsidiary - (10,225)
FEF X (K7E8) Interest expenses (Note 8) 27,882 24,450
[RE:S Payments (21,427) (10,683)
FREH Balance at end of the year 564,188 527,005

DA Analyzed into:
mE (KiaE31) Current (Note 31) 6,994 6,975
JERED Non-current 557,194 520,030
564,188 527,005

—g-=EEH
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33. REFERBRRNER 33. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS
AR T 5 EAREME R 09 2K B SR IR AR &Y Loans from non-controlling shareholders are repayable as
B follows:
—E-= - —
2023 2022
AR¥BTRT AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000
(r=E751)
(Restated)
—FAFARDERE Within one year included in current
liabilities 144,325 413,485
—FREMFAN After one year but within two years 47,000 119,511
191,325 532,996
KB R R A B SRR B MR TE The loans from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured
BEtE . and bear interest at fixed rate.
34. RITEXR 34. BANK LOANS
—E-=F ===
2023 2022
ARBTRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000
(FE7))
(Restated)
AR T HEEENIRITE © Bankloans are repayable as follows:
—F R Within one year 2,273,388 3,649,220
—FREMFA After one year but within two years 7,238,646 806,318
MEREBE=FA After two years but within three years 1,378,957 6,999,455
=FRENEFA After three years but within four years 841,203 502,059
MEZBREFR After four years but within five years 805,478 474,698
hF & After five years 3,552,441 1,714,626
16,090,113 14,146,376
B ETARBEBER —FR Less: Amount due within one year included
2B 3RIR in current liabilities (2,273,388) (3,649,220)
—F 15 BB Ay FR I8 Amount due after one year 13,816,725 10,497,156
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BE-_Z-_=H+-_A=+—RHIEE

34. BITERE)
BEBRZERHEMRTERNT :

For the year ended 31 December 2023

34. BANK LOANS (Continued)

Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as

follows:

ERAER

ST g fi Tk
FBER

He—_Z2-_ZF+-_A=Z+—HILF
B AKENRITEXOERFERNEN
FO01%E50% (ZEZ—F : 1.0% &
8.0%) °

AEBNRBRITERIG BEIEM -

35. A&

Fixed rate borrowings 2,992,995 4,259,750
Variable rate borrowings 13,097,118 9,886,626
16,090,113 14,146,376

The effective interest rates of the Group's bank loans ranged
from 0.1% to 5.0% per annum for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 1.0% to 8.0%)

All of the Group's bank loans were unsecured.

35. SHARE CAPITAL

FREECI0E LA
Eelidn
EIE
RZE-_—_F—F—H =
EoFR-E=F

Authorized:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

At 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022 and 2023

+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRHE Issued and fully paid:
RZEZZF—HF—H =  At1January 2022,
ToERZIT=F 31 December 2022 and 2023
+=-—A=+—H 6,982,937,817 698,294 617,812
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36. REMEB A A
BE-ZE-_=F+=ZH=+—AHL

FE

(a)

ZRKF (M) ER LA
([FEMAKIES)
HE-_Z-_=-"+-H=+—H
HFE AEEUNBRBARKE
239,000,000 7T H & 1@ M 7K e K A
FRAEREEBRMKEBREZAR
125,546,000 7T °

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(a) China Resources Cement (Fuzhou) Limited
(“Fuzhou Cement”)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed Fuzhou Cement for a total consideration of
RMB239,000,000 and the gain on disposal of
RMB125,546,000 was recognized during the year.

ARBTT
RMB’000
REEEFE : Net assets disposed of:
BEEEE Fixed assets 94,410
EREEE Right-of-use assets 14,572
H b e W sk I8 Other receivables 4,492
R RIRTTHES Cash and bank balances 344
BN AREEFIE Amount due to the Group (43,640)
b < 5B Other payables (364)
REEEFE Net assets disposed of 69,814
B B W Gain on disposal:
REEEFE Net assets disposed of 69,814
BERRER Assignment of shareholder’s loan 43,640
B B W a Gain on disposal 125,546
BRE  RBRed Total consideration, satisfied by cash 239,000
REESNRSIMAFRE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
BeRE Cash consideration 239,000
J T AEMEWFIER SR Less: Amounts included in other receivables (195,360)
B RBR S RIRITES Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of (344)
43,296

REE-_ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—
BIEFE  @MNAKRYE AR E
EABREAEERANERIEN
BF UAAEENSERSR
EERPVERESRE -

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

Fuzhou Cement contributed insignificant profit to the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company and contributed
insignificant cash flows to the Group's operating cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BHE—

36. REMBLR (®)

BE-_Z-_=%+=-B=+—HL
FE(E)

(b) REEHEHERLTERAA

([R=ZEHEL])

HEZZT-_=F+=ZA=+—H
HFE AEENBRBARK
73,749,000ﬁﬁ&$gﬁ\/§éi&#
FANEREE R BRI

R 39,456,000 7T °

“=F+ZA=1T—HI%FE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

(b) China Resources Concrete (Dongguan Fengcheng)
Limited (“Dongguan Concrete”)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed Dongguan Concrete for a total consideration
of RMB73,749,000 and the gain on disposal of
RMB39,456,000 was recognized during the year.

ARBTT
RMB'000
REEEFE : Net assets disposed of:
BEEE Fixed assets 8,166
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 35,441
HMIEmBEE Other non-current assets 810
REHIBEEE Deferred tax assets 4,552
BE Inventories 673
FEUE Z R Trade receivables 61,186
H b U s 8 Other receivables 1,378
Re RIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 5,224
JERTE SR Trade payables (68,372)
H fth & < 5RIE Other payables (11,014)
JE TR Tax payables (16)
HEARE Lease liabilities (3,735)
REEEFE Net assets disposed of 34,293
Be B W Gain on disposal:
BEEEEFE Net assets disposed of 34,293
B B W Gain on disposal 39,456
BRE RexX[ Total consideration, satisfied by cash 73,749
BREEFNRSRAH Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
BWIRESRE Cash consideration received 73,749
B EEIRE RIRITHER Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of (5,224)
68,525

RBE-_ZT_=F+t_-A= +*
HIEFE REERIHARQ

3‘?&7@/\}*{5$'§I7§5ﬂ,\1§k4‘
MEBER YAXEENKELERSE

REEEILERERE -

Dongguan Concrete contributed insignificant loss to
the Group's profit attributable to owners of the
Company and contributed insignificant cash flows to the
Group's operating cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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37.

38.

EXEBER 37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
REEEBEEAR  UERAKENE The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
BEAIAFELE  WERELLEER Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
ESEAR RN EBRKRZALR - KM maximising the return to stakeholders through the
BFEE AEENERBEBERITH - optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged for both years.
AEBNEAEREREEL (HThEHE The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
e33R R B IR BE R ER - Wi includes loans from non-controlling shareholders in Note 33,
BAMIRITER) AR R R A ARG bank loans in Note 34 and equity attributable to owners of
= (BEEBITRARGER) the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
ARG EBBBYFER —RERRE The management of the Company reviews the capital
weoERLERZN D BEEGE structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
BERAKAREZBEMNEREENR management considers the cost of capital and the risks
R REEBRETEENER BB associated with each class of capital. Based on
SRR S FTAREET - BB AR (D DA R B recommendations of management, the Group will balance its
THEKIERIRAESRKFEEERE overall structure through the payment of dividends, new share
2_iE - issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.
HAREE 38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—EC=HF =F==
2023 2022
ARBTRT ARETET
RMB’000 RMB’000
(FE7))
(Restated)
PEEE QR REE QR ERS Guarantees given to banks, in respect of
RITERBEEMARITED banking facilities granted to associates
B FE R and joint venture
— ERe® — amount guaranteed 2,747,500 2,109,192
—EPRAEE — amount utilized 1,826,695 1,360,332

BERA ERABHASNATEE
YTEA -

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the

guarantees at grant dates were not significant.
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39. EXREIE 39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
REEREZEEMNSREARER Capital commitments for purchase and construction of assets
BITHE AN outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as

follows:

BETXEREE Contracted but not provided for 3,513,302 5,324,949
40. €T A 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(@) EMIEKNEHR (a) Categories of financial instruments

SRMEE Financial assets
HHH AR 2 & EE  Financial assets at amortized cost 5,035,012 5,593,221
BRAFEEFAREMEE Financial assets at fair value through
Wz emEE other comprehensive income 445,314 438,102
5,480,326 6,031,323
=R Financial liabilities
B SH PR AN Amortized cost 23,513,013 22,401,436

—g-=EEH
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40. €T R (%)

(b)

THEAREENERREE

AEENTECREERABEER
BETAERRMNER BKES
ARAK - B EURIE - REIEWR
RE BEERRTER B2 R
RITHESR HEERAEAFEER
AHEmK S ENERRE
FE I8 5 BR 5%~ E At FE A SRR
RITER KAFEBRBRRNE
RAEEMEHRENRE - ZF 2
BT AMNFBECRERMEARR
B-EzSeR T AMRBNRR
Ko R a] IRk 1K 5% 5 R B B0 BOSR B R
TX -EEEBEERERZFRE
B DARE R BE M B B A SR BUE
BHFENE

TR [ 2

AEBRHRERE BNEESD
FEMMBEEMNEMNRE X
B IR AR R & B R E T A &
RITER (BEHBREME7
31+32-33%34)mMEBEAFEE
MERRB -AEBEEERAELE
BERKBDERBZENE - K
EERFIEFEEHRBR A
m-EREEeELEMNERR I
RN ERE B REROFE
[E B e

AEEEBERTBHNRRETE
ROREREMNEA R (BREFE
FMiEE34) -

AEEReREEREHMAEMN
T B B ) R B R A K R B A
TRRBREE -—SHAFL  AKE
MEERENEZEREIEETR
AEBEABTEHENBRAELS
MEBRITRAEFEKBLET
RAARBEOBKAEED
REARRITEENERKEF

FEHEMNBEERBRAT

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group'’s major financial assets and liabilities include
loans to joint ventures, trade receivables, other
receivables, long term receivables, pledged bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, trade payables, other payables, bank loans,
loans from non-controlling shareholders and other long-
term payables. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies about
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to lease liabilities, payable to constructors and
for acquisition of assets, loans from non-controlling
shareholders and fixed-rate bank loans (see Notes 17,
31, 32, 33 and 34 for details). The Group aims at keeping
as much of its borrowings at variable rates as possible.
The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank loans (see Note 34 for
details).

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity
risk management section of this note. The Group's cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate arising
from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar and People’s Bank
of China Base Rate arising from Renminbi denominated

borrowings.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been
determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
variable-rate bank loans outstanding at the end of the
reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 would be
decreased/increased by approximately RMB50,000,000
(2022 (Restated): RMB37,948,000).

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.
Accordingly, no interest rate sensitivity analysis is
prepared.

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to
the cash and bank balances which are denominated in
the currencies other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they are related (see Note 29 for details).
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure.
However, management monitors the related foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's exposure to currency risk in relation to the
cash and bank balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no

currency sensitivity analysis is prepared.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each reporting period in
relation to each class of recognized financial assets is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position, while the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk due to
financial guarantees provided by the Group is the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note
38. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has formulated a defined credit policy and
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to

recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment of trade receivables measured at amortized
cost. Financial assets including loans to joint ventures,
trade receivables measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, other receivables, long term
receivables, pledged bank deposits and cash and bank
balances, are classified within stage 1 for measurement
of ECLs.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
Group's bank balances are deposited with banks of high
credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a number of

counterparties and customers.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management also regularly
monitors the operating cash flows of the Group to meet
its liquidity requirements in short and long term.
Management monitors the utilization of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
available unutilized banking facilities of approximately
RMB22,076,000,000 (2022 (Restated):
RMB12,102,000,000) to meet the Group's future
expansion and satisfy its existing liabilities. Management
is also in the process of negotiating with the banks to
refinance its short term banking facilities to long term.
In addition, the Company has an intra-group lending
agreement among companies of the China Resources
Group whereby borrowings which may be made will be
guaranteed by its intermediate holding company.
Taking into account the cash and bank balances, the
unutilized banking facilities, the expected future
internally generated funds, the new banking facilities
and other sources of financing to be obtained,
management is confident that the Group will be able to
meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the

foreseeable future.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial

liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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40. €T A () 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b CTHREREENEERBEE) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
REELEE (E) Liquidity risk (Continued)

248

MEE T KT F R iz &%

Liquidity and interest risk tables

-ENE RENL Al
BFgR BT AERRE
FEHE —£R k3 B BEIE  RE4E Kaf
Morethan ~ More than Total
Tyearbut 2 years but contractual
Average Within -~ lessthan ~ lessthan ~ Morethan undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
ARETR  ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-EZ=E+-f=1-H As at 31 Decernber 2023
ERBHEN Trade payables - 2978419 - - - 2918819 2978419
HitERTE(IREESR) Other payables
(excluding lease ligbilities) - 2,880,426 166,990 424514 648432 4,120,362 3,960,863
BIER Bank loans
—FBE — Variable rate 31 803129 650729 3512920 3808380 14631658  13097,118
—EEdE — Fixed rate 23 19319 1143864 4,806 - 3085789 2,9929%
REFERRROER Loan from non-controlling
shareholders
—EEHE — Fixed rate 45 152905 49,108 - - MW 191325
HEAR Lease liabilties 48 154,609 3555 56,798 2127 339,086 29209
8906807 7902743 3999038 4548939 25357527 23513013
R-E--F+-A=1-H As at 31 December 2022
(E3) (Restated)
EREHE Trade payables - 289815 - - - 2895815 2895815
HEAFEMBEEAR)  Otherpayables
(excluding lease ligbilities) - 346539 167,090 166990 1072946 4872421 459960
BRITER Bank loans
—EBHE —Variable rate 25 892621 M3 TI0M9 1839939 10828458 988662
—EEHE — Fixed rate 24 3108268 95450 121873 - LM TN
REFERRROER Loan from non-controlling
shareholders
—EFfE — Fixed rate 43 42379 124,401 - - g1y 5329%
HEEE Lease liabilities 48 71730 4843 64970 92,992 24,535 201,289
10857631 1405227 8573132 3005877 23841867 22401436

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
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“=F+ZA=1T—HI%FE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

41.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023 are included
in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, whereas trade receivables
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 are included in Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy.

The fair value of trade receivables classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income is
estimated as the net present value of cash inflows calculated
based on the receivable amounts, due dates of the trade
receivables as well as the risk-adjusted discount rates, which

are observable in the market.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair

values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
. REHERERMT 42.
(a) THRHAINAEEBEBELTHELD (a)

REZE (BRAS MRS EH)
ER-BMEEHELNAERE
fﬁimg‘ﬁiﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ’\

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

rEBGaRERERTHA cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
BERELNTREREN Efﬁ ° statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
RE
-RE& XE
BRAT  FERRR
HEAE HER HER  BAEXR &zt
Loansfroman  Loans from
intermediate non-
Lease holding  controlling
liabilities ~ company ~ shareholders  Bank loans Total
ARETT  ARETT AREBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Kizt17) (Wits3)  (Wix)
(Note 17) (Note 33) (Note 34)
RIBZZF-F—BE3)  AtlJanuary 2022 (Restated) 182588 1,367,602 14850 6998084 869679
BARENE Financing cash flows (17782 (1443212 (28,629) 6,209,698 4,660,015
WENRBAR Acquisition of subsidaries 4669 - 38,779 692318 1,045,766
Lyl Additions 110,659 - - - 110,659
fER% Interest expense 9438 - 9734 - 19172
ERFEERRR RS Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders - - 54,592 - 54,592
HEEi Lease modification (2736) - - - (2736)
ERHE Exchange adjustments 453 75,610 - 246,276 32239

i i i oy At 31 December 2022 (Restated)

(&E5)) 21289 - 53299 14146376 14,906,661
BEBERE Financing cash flows (62,342) - (236,618) 1915517 1,616,557
Em Additions 184,591 - - 184,591
faRY Interest expense 11,865 - 7,509 - 19,374
ERBRER Conversion of debt into capital - (112,562) - (112,562)
RERBT Lease modification (66,235) - - - (66,239)
RENBLA Disposal of subsidiaries (3739 - - - (3735)
BHEE Exchange adjustments 660 - - 28220 28,880

R-F-=F+-A=t-H At 31 December 2023 29209 - 191325 16090113 16,573,531

EREMNEERERLT

250 China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited




e M RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

42. MEBRERERHT @)

(b)

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
HERERHEAEE (b) Total cash outflow for leases
SFAMREReRERNEERS The total cash outflow for leases included in the
MEOBEENT consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:
—E-= - —
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
(&E:5))
(Restated)
LEEEIA Within operating activities 333,929 460,739
MEEHA Within financing activities 62,342 77,782
396,271 538,521
BEXHBEERS () Major non-cash transactions:

(a)

BHEz_ZT_=+=-A
=+ —HIEFE  mIEER
BREEINZ2BREARE
18,592,000 7T J5 % i@ J& 1 3E
ERRRFIBLEE -

HE_T-_=F+=H
=+ —BILFE  FEERRK
& AR112,562,000 7T
TERREFERREHE

4
K °

HE_Z_=%+=_H
=+t—HLEFE FAEA
A B FA R ¥ 185,000,000
ThBEREEERENKRE

4=

==

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2023,
dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
amounting to RMB18,592,000 were settled
through amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders.

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, capital
contributions from non-controlling shareholders of
RMB112,562,000 were settled through loans from

non-controlling shareholders.

() During the year ended 31 December 2023, loan to
a joint venture of RMB185,000,000 was settled

through investments in joint ventures.

—EIC-EER
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43. BB AERS

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) BZEHZAVBHIRERFEMEE (a) Apart from the transactions and the balances with
B TR S KA ﬁ??h IS related parties disclosed elsewhere in these
E@$¢F7‘]’E§@F‘§E HTT A consolidated financial statements, the Group also
TEAR entered into the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year:
—E=F T
2023 2022
AR%®FTR AR%KTET
RMB’000 RMB'000
($&&E5)
(Restated)
mMETHEARHEER Sales of goods to certain associates 85,776 82,060
mETaERAaEEEm Sales of goods to certain joint ventures 518,549 578,786
METRRMMBARHEEEMR Sales of goods to certain fellow
subsidiaries 185,864 66,932
mETRRMEARIRESM Purchases of goods from certain fellow
subsidiaries 125,605 40,029
METRZRMEBAFTRES S Purchases of electricity from certain
fellow subsidiaries 668,458 1,165,707
maE TRRMB A ARER  Purchases of service from certain
fellow subsidiaries 145,823 28,384
& T & A HEEm Purchases of goods from certain
associates 315,793 155,074
mETaEArEBEm Purchases of goods from certain joint
ventures 1,188,194 1,395,873
EBEMRRERERAT
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43. BBAE RS (#)

(b)

RZE-ZZEF+—A+8 £&2Q
A GEBRITROBR AR
([FEBRTT ) BT BB & 1E ez
B EHRITERASEREMR
—RBITRB (REERAEEME
BARTS) - BB A E R AR 5
R —F—-A—HRBHE=ZF
=+ -A=+—HitAH=
FoRZE_=ZFF+_RA=+—
H AEEREHRITNTERLE
HIBEE B AR 62,996,0007T (=
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"), pursuant to which,
CR Bank shall provide general banking services
including deposit and other financial services to the
Group. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had an aggregate balance of deposits of
RMB62,996,000 (2022 (Restated): RMB221,939,000) with
CR Bank.

On 25 October 2021, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
, Ltd. ("CR
Factoring”), pursuant to which, CR Factoring shall

Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co

provide general commercial factoring services including
factoring financing and other financial services to the
Group. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 25 October 2021 to 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had an aggregate balance of RMB14,000,000 (2022
(Restated): RMB3,140,000) with CR Factoring.

The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 10.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material

interest at any time during the year.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited, which is
controlled by the government of the Chinese Mainland.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company
and its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other
notes to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group also conducts businesses with entities directly or
indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the Chinese Mainland
government (“stated-controlled entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. The Directors consider those entities
other than the China Resources Company Limited
group are independent third parties as far as the
Group's business transactions with them are concerned.
In establishing its pricing strategies and approval
process for transactions with other state-controlled
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the
counterparty is state-controlled entity or not. The Group
is of the opinion that it has provided, to the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of
related party transactions in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other
state-controlled entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to
ascertain the identity of the controlling parties of these
counterparties and accordingly whether the

counterparties are state-controlled entities.
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TEMBRTNFEBNT

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

December 2023 are as follows:

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

HRALR BRTRER
il PEER: EBFELE Ra/RER RAARERERERNLA TEER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Compan Principal activities
St 3
2023
E# [ Ak
Directly ~ Indirectly Indirectly
BEBRREAREERATY hERY ARH90,0000007 - 100% 1009 BERNEERHEE
Baise Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Construction Company Limited"” prefabricated construction
materials
EEKR(ZIE)ERAFD hER AR 465,000,000 - 100% 00% kELEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB465,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Anshun) Limited " cement
ZEKE(BT)ERLRP hER ARES20750,0007T - 98.4% 9%4% KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited® cement
EEKR(RR) ERATO hERA AR 2800000007 - 72% % KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd.? cement
EFKR (8 BRAFY HERH, 15,000,000 - 100% 100% KELEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited" cement
ERAR(FIL)ERAF hER AR280,000,0007T - 72% % KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan| Limited® cement
EEIRGIR) ERATO hERA ARE1 455718631 T - 100% 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,455,718,631 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited " cement
EEKR(E)ERATO hER 261,848 00087 - 100% 0% kELEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$261,848,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited cement
ERKR(BE)ERAAD hER NRHE859547 61970 - 100% 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMBB59,547,619 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited cement
EFKE(RR) ERARY hERA AR 35000000070 - 100% 100% KREEEEE
China Resources Cement (Hepu) Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement

—e-=x%H
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44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HAMALR BRTRER
il PEER: EBFELE Ra/RRER RAABERARRRNLA TEER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
9=k it 2
2023 2022
E# 5 B% B
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKE(BE)BRAFY RER AR 230,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heging) Limited cement
EEKE (BN ERAFY RERY 7050000078 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$§70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited cement
ZEKEOIRN) BRARO RER 55,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$55,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited"” cement
ERKE(2D)BRAFY RER AR 2815228007 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB281,522.800 Manufacture and sale of
(Jingha) Limited ! cement
EEKR(BI)ERAAD RERH ARES51,0000007 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited ! cement
BITEIKERRRA" hEIRA AR 47000000070 - 100% - 100% kELEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB470,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited” cement
ERKR(EE)BRAFY HER, AR 225968357 - 100% - 100% KEAEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB225,968,235 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited " cement
ERKR(EEEZ)BRAR RERH 480,000 00087 - 100% - 100% KEAEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
ERR(EERER) ERAR hERA 304000057 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 15$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited” cement
EFKREN)BRAFY HER, AR 244,190,000 70 - 100% - 100% KEAEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited " cement
ERR(EE)ERAFY RERY 280,000 00087 - 100% - 100% KEAEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited" cement

FEHEMNBEERBRAT
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings Limited



e R R R A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual Report 2023

HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023
44. TEMB LT (&) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
HEMALR BRTRER
il PEER: EBFELE Ra/RRER RAABERARRRNLA TEER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
ZECZE “F-
2023 2022
E# i B% B
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EEKR(BE) ERATY hER AR 2300000007 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited @ cement
ERR(BE)ERAF0 hER AEE41,127597 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMBA411,112,759 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited cement
EEKR (TA) ERATO hERA AR1,087.9034007T - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,087,903 400 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited ! cement
ERKR(RMBRAF RE A, 3280000% T - 100% - 100% KEAEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited ! cement
EEKR(LR)ERAFD hER B 568,522,100 - 100% - 0% kEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB568,522,100 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited cement
EEKRCLE) ERATO hERA AR 21000000070 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited"” cement
EEKR (AR ERATD hER AR 366,248 46270 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB366,248,462 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited cement
ERAR(AE)ERAFD hER AEE371,702688 70 - 100% - 0% kECEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB371,702,688 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited " cement
EEIR (R ERAFY hERA AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited cement
ERKR(GE) ERAFD REA 3500000007 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited cement
ERAROKE)ERAFD hER B 238,362,868 - 100% - 0% kECEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB238,362,868 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited cement
—E=FFHR
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44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HAMALR BRTRER
il PEER: EBFELE Ra/RRER RAABERARRRNLA TEER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
“ECZE —E_f
2023 2022
E# 5 B% B
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKR(EL)ERAFD hERA 200000057 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited cement
ERR(ET)ERAFN RERY AR 133,600,000 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB133,600,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangping) Limited" cement
ERKRER (55 ERAT B 100007 100% - 100% - FEMELARE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidlaries
EFKEREBRAR (KR mElR 10667703005 T - 100% - 100% BENBARRA
ERRMMRBRAF)D
China Resources Cement Investments  Chinese Mainland US§1,086,770,300 Holding investments in
Limited (subsequently named as subsidaries
China Resources Building Materials
Technology Limited)
ZERRT(FE)ERAFY hERA 200000007 - 100% - 00 FRLEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited"” concrete
ZERELT (L) ERRAY hERH 3200000077 - 100% - 100% FRIEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited concrete
LEEREEL (AR ERAAY  RERM 200000003570 - 100% - 100% ERLEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited concrete
EEREL (BB ERRAY hERA AR 25,000,0007T - 100% - 00 FRLEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Binyang) Limited concrete
EERRL(RESTARRAY hERH 24000000772 - 100% - 100% FRIEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited " concrete
ERBRL(REEN) ARLAD hEIR AR 320000007 - 100% - 1000 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited! concrete
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44. TEMBE QT () 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ERRIR BRTRAR
KELAER FRAEDE B/ dRER ADAREHERERALS £33
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
St 3 i 3
2023 2022

BE 53 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly

ZEREL(RB)BRAFY HElR ARE29876128 7 - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB49 876,128 Manufacture and sale of
(Dali) Limited"" concrete
ERERL(ER)ARRAD hER AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dingan) Limited " concrete
gEREL (R ARAA0 hERA 250000007 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited " concrete
EFRRL(HR)ERATY HER AR 20,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% ERLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengka Limited " concrete
ERREL(BLIER) BRAFY RERH, 350000057 - 100% - 100% RBRIEEERE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland 15$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Foshan Shunde) Limited " concrete
EEREL (N ERRFY hERA ARE10000,0007 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited " concrete
EFRAL(RE)ERAFY HER AR 276142007 - 100% - 100% ERLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB27 614,200 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited " concrete
ERERL(ER)ARRA0 hER 3400000057 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangxi) Limited " concrete
EEREL(BIL)ERAFY hERA AR 500000007 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heshan) Limited " concrete
EERRL(BN)ERATY HElR 25000000 ¢ - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited " concrete
EFRRLEMNERRTY RERH, 7,000,000 - 100% - 100% RBRIEEERE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland 1S$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited " concrete
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44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ERRIR BRTRAR
Gl Pk FRAEDE B/ RER ADAREAERERALS IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
It St 3 i 3
2023 2022

BE 3 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EEREL(IM)BRAFY RERH, 28000000 - 100% - 100% RELTEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited concrete
ERRRL(BE)ARRAD RERY 2400000057 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete (Jingxi) Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited® concrete
EREHLIORE)ERLA hEIRA 20,000 00057 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited " concrete
EERHL(ER)ERA hER ARE23,308,0007T - 100% - 1000 FRLEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB23,308,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ledong) Limited concrete
EFRRL(RD)ARAAD RERH ABE20,0000007 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited ! concrete
EFRRL N ERAT BERH, 20000000557 - 100% - 100% RELEELHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited " concrete
EERRL (R ERAAR hERA AR30000,0007T - 72% - % ERTEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited® concrete
EEERL (B ERRA0 RERH AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited " concrete
EFERL (BT ERLA BERH, 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RELEELHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited"” concrete
ERRRL (XA ARA mERH 24,000,000 - 100% - 100% RELEESHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Maoming) Limited" concrete
EFRRL(BE)ARLAD RERY 2000000057 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited concrete
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44. TEMB LT (&) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
HEMALR BRTRER
il PEER: EBFELE Ra/RRER RAABERARRRNLA TEER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
ZECZE “F-
2023 2022
E# i B% B
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
HEEERARRERIARAT0 hER 200000007 - 100% - 100% FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited " concrete
ERRRL(ER)ARRA0 hER 72000005 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland 1S$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ningbo) Limited"” concrete
EEREL(TH)ERAFY hERA ARH20,000,0007 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingqui Limited " concrete
EFRRL N ERATY HElR 20000000 - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited ! concrete
SNEESERRLARLTY hER 2000000077 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou Legou] Limited"! concrete
EFRRL(BE)ERARY hERA AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Rongxian) Limited concrete
EFRRL(KZ)ERATY HER AR 25,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% ERLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Suixi) Limited " concrete
ERERL(BB)ARRAD hER AR 250000007 - 80% - 80% EBRtLEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited? concrete
EFRRL(BE)ERATY hERA 24,000,000 77T - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited ! concrete
EFRRL(BM)ERATY HElR 24000000 - 100% - 100% RETEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited concrete
ZEREL (B ERRAY hER 11,500,00077 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HKS$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited " concrete
—E=FFHR

261



frE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ERRIR BRTRAR
Gl Pk FRAEDE B/ RER ADAREAERERALS IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
It St 3 i 3
2023 2022

BE 3 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

EFRRL(EMERAT0 HElR 24000000 - 100% - 100% RELTEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited concrete
FERRL (D) ARAR RERY 200000007 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited concrete
EERRT(BIEE) ARARD hEIRA 2400000070 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang Potou) Limited concrete
EERAT(SR)ERLAY hER 200000007 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited" concrete
ERRAL(RE)ARAAD RERH 3300000077 - 100% - 0% RETEERRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited " concrete
FREMRRLERLAY hEIRA ARE91310,1507 - 100% - 100 FRIEERHE
China Resources Dongguan Concrete  Chinese Mainland RMB91,310,150 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited" concrete
EFRRIE(BE)ARATY mElR AR 50,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% BHERELER
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMBS50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Baise) engineering
Limited®
ZERRIE(ZR)ERAAY hERH ARE50000,0007T - 100% - 100% RERETR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering engineering

(Binyang) Limited "

ERRRIE(BE)ERAR RERY AR 500000007 - 100% - 100% FRRELR

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Midu) Limited

ERRRIE(RE)ERARN hEIR ARH10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% FERELR

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Environment protection
Protection Engineering engineering

(Nanning) Limited!
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44. T EMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ARRIR BEARAR
HELAER ERAEDY B /ERER AAARBFARRRNLA TREH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
=t -5z
2023 22
BE 53 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly

ZEEANG(EZ)BRAA" hER AR 136,097,007 - 100% - 100% ERRMEEEHE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB136,097,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Ding'an) Limited ! prefabricated construction

materials

ERRENE(BR)BRAT" REML ARB 12017207 - 100% - 0% BREVIEEHE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB112,017,240 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Guigang) Limited " prefabricated construction

materials

EREENRRARRAR" RN ARB3691,700 0007 - 100% - 0% HEHELARE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RIB3,691,700,000 Holding investments in
Technology Investment Limited subsidiaries

ERRENR(IF)ARAA" REAL AR 15000000070 - 100% - 0% BRENIEERE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB150,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Jiangmen) Limited prefabricated construction

materials

ERRENR(FE)ARATY hEIRL AR 1810000007 - 100% - 100% ERRMEEEHE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB181,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Nanning) Limited " prefabricated construction

materials

FERANZ (B BRAAY hER ABRH100,0000007T - 100% - 100% ERRMEEEHE

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Zhanjiang) Limited prefabricated construction

materials

EERSAMA (RN BRDAI (N +ERY AR 181694347 - 85% - 8% ABREERNI
RENEERARARRAR)?

China Resources Runfeng New Chinese Mainland RMB181,629,434 Manufacture and processing of
Materials (Hezhou) Limited engineered stones
(formerly known as Hezhou Xubao
Mining Investment Co., Ltd.)?

EREBMEEIHERAR" RERL AR 140,000,001 7T - 70% - 0% KEIEEEE

Deging Yingqj Building Materials Chinese Mainland RMB140,000,001 Manufacture and sale of
Co, Ltd.® cement

REZENKERERAR" RENE 199,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE

Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Manufactory Co. Ltd. cement

“EBCZEER
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44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AfRIR BEARAR
) Pt ERAEDY B /EhER ARARERAREZNLA IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
-8-=F St
2023 22
BE 3 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
RERMARUMRERARY  EMM 52000000%7T - 75.3% - 53 AERRARBLERNI
DongGuan Universal Classical Chinese Mainland 1S$52,000,000 Manufacture and processing of
Material Ltd.? engineered stones and
natural stones
EXEEREERARY RER AR 600,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% FREH
Ding'an Runfeng Quarry Limited " Chinese Mainland RMBA00,000,000 Mining of aggregates
KERBEEERAT BE 2183333331 - 0% - 0% HEMELF BERARA
BRTREREHES
Everbest Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$218,333,333 Holding investment in
subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures and
transportation of
construction materials
KERHEZERAR B 3,500,000 T - 70% - 0% EHES
Ever Fortune Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$3,500,000 Trading of construction
materials
HYERAA BE 3000000277 - 100% - 0% KENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,002 Property holding
SREERAR BE 28T - 100% - 100% RENE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HKS$2 Property holding
SEERRKERAT BE 5500000787 - 0% - 0% BERS
Gold Harvest International Shipping Hong Kong HKS$5,500,000 Marine transportation
Limited
RERIERAT BE 10000007 - 0% - 0% EfE%
Greenway Buildings Materials Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS$1,000,000 Trading of construction
materials
BRERERITHRRARRA? hER AB100000,0007T - 75% - 5% AEREERMI
Guangdong Borrego New Material Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and processing of
Technology Co,, Ltd.? engineered stones
RREEFIRHRERLR? REAL ARE1925500007 - 51% - 5% HRHBLFRE
Guangdong Runyou New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB192,550,000 Holding investments in
Technology Company Limited ® subsidlaries
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44. TEMBE QT () 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ARRIR BEARAR
HELAER ERAEDY B /ERER LSNGEZ T £ b IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
=t kS
2023 22
BE [} B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
RREERATARARY hER 2597 0% T - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Guangdong Yuequn Concrete Chinese Mainland U5$2,597,440 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd." concrete
ERBRRABRLR" il ARB800000007C - 51% - 5% RREH
Guangxi Boyao Investment Co,, Ltd. ™ Chinese Mainland RMBB0,000,000 Mining of aggregates
ERZEGTKEERAAC hEmD AR 200000,0007T - 95.8% - 958% KEEERHE
Guangxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Hongshuihe Cement Co., Ltd.? cement
REEBAANEARLR" RERL AR3500000007 - 51% - 5% RREH
Guangxi Runhan New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Technology Company Limited
ERERIRAXERAR? RENE AR 38000000070 - 51% - 5% RREH
Guangxi Tianyang Jiang'an Stone Chinese Mainland RMB380,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.®
AREERERRIARLRY PEAE 91,841,298 5T - 100% - 100% RRLEEEEE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$91,841,258 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited " concrete
EHEERMARLAD RERL 8,000000% 7 - 100% - 100% RRELEEREE
Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Chinese Mainland 1S$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited " concrete
HERBKRERAR® hERD A 54,560,007 - 51% - 51% KEEEREE
Hunan Liangtian Cement Co,, Ltd.? Chinese Mainland RMB54,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
TPERRRLENERARY PEAE 24000000372 - 100% - 100% RRLEEEEE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete  Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Muzhou Limited"” concrete
TREERRLZTARARY RERL 2000000057 - 100% - 100% RRELEEREE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Tangxia Limited concrete
REZERERRLARARY RENE 200000037 - 100% - 100% RRLEEEEE
Labin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited concrete
“EBCZEER
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44. TEMBE QT () 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AfRIR BEARAR
) Pt ERAEDY B /EhER AAARBFARRZNLA TREH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
-8-=F St
2023 22
BE 3 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
REFGRIARERRAT" RERL ARB00000007C - 100% - 0% BREVIEERE
Laibin Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Construction Company Limited"” prefabricated construction
materials
RERREENLRIBRAA" REAL AR%100,00000070 - 75.3% - 7536 AEBRXRREERMT
Labin Universal Classical Material Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and processing of
Ltd. " engineered stones and
natural stones
AMEERTRRLARAR" REAL ARB31,2500007 - 0% - 0% RRTIEEHE
Liuzhou China Resources Xijiang Chinese Mainland RMB31,250,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited concrete
AEMRARAT BE 3000000787 - 0% - 0% BEEERMHEE
Mega Rich Logistics Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 Warehouse management and
fuel supply
HEZERERALARLRY R 37000000570 - 100% - 0% BRIEEEHE
Nanning China Resources Liangging ~ Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited"” concrete
EREZRERLARLDY REAL 7000 000% 7 - 100% - 00% RBRETIEEHE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland US§7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited " concrete
EHREARDA B 10,0007 - 100% - 0% #ENE
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
ERESERAT BE 100007 - 70% - 0% HEED
Prospect Blessing Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of steel pipes
nEEHERERAR BE 20000757 - 100% - 100% EENBAZRBRRS
Quality Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Building materials testing and
consultancy services
MERETERAT B 1087 - 100% - 100% BETEEREE
Realand Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
PENHEEERAT Ak 28T - 100% - 100% EH2%
Redland Construction Materials Hong Kong HKS2 Trading of construction
Limited materials
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRI BEARAR
WEARAR ERAEDY B /ERER LSNGEZ T £ b IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
ZBIZE Z%IC
2023 22
BE [} B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
BERRMAR (BT)BRAF" hER AR 52,500,0007 - 98.4% - %4% FRAELE
Runfeng Environmental Protection Chinese Mainland RMB52,500,000 Environmental protection
Technology (Changjiang) Limited"” engineering
EENBAR(FR)ARAA Ak 28T - 100% - 100% HEMBLARE
Runfeng Technology Holdings Hong Kong HKS$2 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
B (RR)SLIHARD A" RER ARH156,1300007C - 67% - 61% NEREERNMT
Runhe (Feixian) New Material Chinese Mainland RMB156,130,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co,, Ltd.? engineered stones
B (B ST HAR D A REA ARBT20700007 - 67% - 6% AEREERNMT
Runhe (Lanling) New Material Chinese Mainland RMB72,070,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co,, Ltd.? engineered stones
MEEZERNERAMAR" RER ARB850000007C - 485% - B5% FREH
Shaanxi Xinhuada Bullding Materials Chinese Mainland RIMBB5,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.?
LR EFEMHERLE? hERA AR 866,300,007 - 67% - 6% AEREERMI
Shandong Runhe New Material Chinese Mainland RMBA66,300,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co., Ltd.2 engineered stones
RITASHHHHRERAAY  DEAS AR 14200000007 - 100% - 100% HAEMBAARBEAR
RERFHHEE
Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB1,420,000,000 Holding investments in
Technology Company Limited " subsidiaries and associates
and sale of new materials
RBHEZERRAA BE 3000002787 - 100% - 100% #EM%
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,002 Property holding
HIBERMHERRAY hERD AEE500000,0007T - 99% - 9% FREH
Tongchuan Runxin New Materials Chinese Mainland RMBS500,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.?
ESBRARLT B 18,000,000 70 - 70% - 0% BHES
Wealth Bridge Trading Company Hong Kong HK$18,000,000 Trading of construction
Limited materials
RLEERRARLR" RERL AR130,0000007 - 100% - 100% FREH
Weishan Runfeng Quarry Limited" Chinese Mainland RMB130,000,000 Mining of aggregates
“EBCZEER

Annual Report 2023

267



mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

44. TEMBE QT (#) 44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ERRIR BRTRAR
Gl Pk FRAEDE B/ RER ADAREAERERALS IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
It St 3 i 3
2023 2022

BE 3 B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

RYEERRARLR" RERL AR 1600000007 - 80% - 8% FRKEH
Wuping China Resources Mining Chinese Mainland RMB160,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Limited®
DLEPEEBREMHERARY  PERN AR 2519279627 - 65% - 6% EHES
Wushan Zhongrun Desheng Building ~ Chinese Mainland RMB251,927,962 Trading of aggregates
Materials Co., Ltd.?
RLERERRARAR" REAL ARB2616809TC - 65% - 65% FFEH
Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Chinese Mainland RMB229,676,829 Mining of aggregates
Co,, Ltd.2
ERTRRIRARARD hERD AR#120000,0007T - 85% - 8% KEAEEHE
Zhaoging Jingang Cement Co, Ltd.®  Chinese Mainland RMB120,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
ERRERSERARY hER AR 450,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% FREH
Zhaoging Runsheng Quarry Co,, Chinese Mainland RMBA450,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Ltd. "
EREEMIHERAT? REAL ARE 100000007 - 6% - 65% FRFEH
Zhaoging Runxin New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Limited®
it - notes:
) ZERNAEREAMAINEBEECENT (1 These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form
AL © of wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
2) ZENTETEAMUSPINEBLEN S 2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form
KL © of Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.
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HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45.

In the opinion of the Directors, the subsidiaries of the
Company listed in the above table principally affected the
results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As further explained in Note 2 to the financial statements,
due to the change of presentation currency during the current
year, certain prior year adjustments have been made, and
certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and
restated to conform with the current year’s presentation and
accounting treatment, and a third statement of financial

position as at 1 January 2022 has been presented.
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HE_Z-=F+"HA=1+—HI5E Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

46. XD 2B BEARR R 46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
—E_=F ===
+=A +=—A —E——
=t+-~8 =+—~H —A—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
AREBTRT AREBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB‘000
(#EE5) (g£=51)
(Restated) (Restated)
EREBEE Non-current assets
BTE&E Fixed assets 14,451 14,239 318
CRREE Right-of-use asset 6,001 12,161 7,359
RETBRARRIKE Investments in subsidiaries 768,378 768,378 768,378
JE Uk B BB B FR 0B Amounts due from subsidiaries 10,708,489 10,791,862 9,293,214
11,497,319 11,586,640 10,069,269
RENEE Current assets
H ith & Ug 308 Other receivables 8,380 8,257 7,072
He RIRTTHEH Cash and bank balances 178,054 614,583 176,542
186,434 622,840 183,614
mENAaE Current liabilities
H fth fE AT 3018 Other payables 25,473 31,991 41,999
JEAS B /B A B FR A Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,985,819 7,779,171 2,514,779
KE—REEFZER Loans from an intermediate
NAINE K holding company - - 1,367,602
SRITER Bank loans — amount due
— R —F R EIH within one year - - 2,817,601
7,011,292 7,811,162 6,741,981
nEaEFE Net current liabilities (6,824,858) (7,188,322) (6,558,367)
BELERREDEE Total assets less current liabilities 4,672,461 4,398,318 3,510,902
ERFEaE Non-current liabilities
H th = HA JE < 5RIB Other long term payable - 6,507 1,974
- 6,507 1,974
BEFE Net assets 4,672,461 4,391,811 3,508,928
% 7 % 15k Capital and reserves
% < Share capital 617,812 617,812 617,812
& (Btat47) Reserves (Note 47) 4,054,649 3,773,999 2,891,116
M ARRE Total equity 4,672,461 4,391,811 3,508,928
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HEZZ-=F+ZHA=1—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

KRR Z G 47. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
RE 2 F
Retained
profits
ARBTT
RMB'000
RZE-—F—AF—B(&EE) At 1 January 2022 (Restated) 2,891,116
FEAMNEEZERALLE Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 3,281,956
—To-FREERE 2021 final dividend (1,678,500)
ZEZFHEHRE 2022 interim dividend (720,573)
RZZEZ—F+=F=+—H (K E5)At 31 December 2022 (Restated) 3,773,999
FERAMNEEERALE Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 600,639
“E-_FRERE 2022 final dividend (56,619)
ZE=FHEHRKRE 2023 interim dividend (263,370)
R-TE-_=Ft+-_HA=+—H At 31 December 2023 4,054,649

CECC=FER
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

—ThEFE —T-TFE —T-—F T —E-—=F
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(geE7) (F&E51) (r&E51) (Fe&E751)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
ES RESULTS
EEE Turnover 34,513,005 35704417 36,929,204 29,332,435 25,549,648
KNATHEA AFENL  Profit for the year
FEAEF attributable to owners
of the Company 7,610,666 8,020,227 6,442,591 1,612,583 643,821
BE ASSETS
BE&E Fixed assets 24,258,178 23,974,159 24,165,100 28,109,417 31,172,910
CHREEE Right-of-use assets 2,617,486 2,870,101 3,536,395 4,581,332 4,924,600
BEME Investment property 116,451 100,996 106,288 116,125 -
Hig& Other investment 87,067 60,846 42,033 35,160 18,199
BVEE Intangible assets 2,205,215 2,274,934 10,065,110 17,733,447 18,372,991
REFE R AIHMELS  Interests in associates 5,894,809 5,585,070 5,469,486 5,578,126 5,438,225
MREENRIEEZ  Interests in joint ventures 1,277,916 1,316,017 2,230,928 1,796,406 1,964,381
HihIERB) & E Other non-current assets 924,277 3,390,895 3,637,068 3,677,565 1,695,558
RIERIBE E Deferred tax assets 196,861 316,101 437,736 787,119 791,895
FTEERFMHER  Loans tojoint ventures - - 911,999 - -
RHIE WA Long term receivables 233,397 242,822 244,533 250,718 278,058
EEMIEITER Pledged bank deposits 194,370 230,249 260,370 417,450 445,150
B EE Current assets 16,789,385 17,317,291 13,508,983 8,773,075 7,690,270
EEERE Total assets 54,795,412 57,679,481 64,616,029 71855940 72,792,237
afE LIABILITIES
mEBE Current liabilities 10,143,306 11,986,706 17,179,814 13,673,142 10,979,935
FERBBE Non-current liabilities 6,791,060 3,590,844 2,040,269 12,922,681 16,065,133
aEHERE Total liabilities 16,934,366 15,577,550 19,220,083 26,595,823 27,045,068
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This annual report and corporate communications of the Company
(the “"Corporate Communications”), in both English and Chinese
versions, are available on the websites of the Company at
www.crcement.com and the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk

("Electronic Form”).

Shareholders may at any time choose to receive the Corporate
Communications in printed form or to receive notifications of their

availability in Electronic Form by email instead.

Shareholders who have chosen or are deemed to have consented
to receiving the Corporate Communications in Electronic Form or
by email notifications but for any reason would like to receive a
printed copy will be provided so free of charge upon request by

notice in writing.

Shareholders may at any time send their request to receive this
annual report or other Corporate Communications in printed form,
and/or to change their choice of the means of receipt of future
Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share
registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, by post to Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or by email

to CR1313.ecom@computershare.com.hk.
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